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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN WK DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

The global economy during the year under review was characterized by
uncertainty, stemming from factors such as inflation in the United States,
rising global interest rates, credit contraction in China and geopolitical
tensions. These challenges had a widespread impact on businesses
worldwide, leading to cautious spending and investment activities.

China’s continued credit contraction is adding pressure to the real
economy. The combination of bank and non-bank financing, which are
often referred to as “total social financing,” contracted 11% in the first
quarter of 2024 over the same period of 2023 despite a generous
provision of central-bank liquidity to financial markets. According to the
People’'s Bank of China, the broad M2 measure of money supply grew at
a reasonably rapid 8.3% over the twelve months ended in March 2024.
Yet lending to businesses and households has continued to decline
implicating potential risk of stagnation. The shortening in liquidity
translated to extension of account repayment schedule from some of our
customers despite their willingness to pay. Accordingly, the Group has
exercised caution in expanding conventional media placement business
to contain the risk and continue to diversify to different client base while
adopting multiple business models.

Despite these challenges, the media industry presented opportunities. In
Hong Kong, advertising budgets remained conservative, while mainland
China experienced moderate yet selective growth amidst tighter
regulatory measures. To adapt to this dynamic environment, the
Company pursued expansion into new areas such as large-scale cultural
events e.g. music concerts and adopted focused sector approach in the
automotive industry where there presented policy preference and
consumer spending appetite. This strategic focus allowed us to connect
with audiences and customers in new ways.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company continued to
advance our dry grinding and dry beneficiation (the "DGDB")
technologies. We deepened our collaborations with technology partners
and key players in the iron ore and steel industries, thereby accelerating
the development of our DGDB business. This strategic focus has yielded
revenue from DGDB-related activities, marking a pivotal milestone in our
journey to establish a leading position in this sector.

For the year under review, the Company continued its strategic
restructuring initiatives. Notably, the Company has completed a
successful fund-raising activity through the issuance of convertible bonds
under a specific mandate, raising approximately HK$23.1 million in net
proceeds. This strategic move has strengthened our financial position and
provided us with greater resilience in navigating the current economic
environment. We remain committed to prudent financial management
and will continue to explore opportunities to optimize our capital
structure and allocate resources strategically to support our long-term
growth and value creation for our Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's revenue from operation
was approximately HK$55,294,000, as compared to HK$53,598,000 in
the same period last year. The gross profit of the Company increased to
HK$9,438,000, compared to HK$6,938,000 for the same period of last
year. There was an increase in gross profit due to providing value-added
services and successful negotiation of supplier discounts. The Company
recorded loss of approximately HK$33,704,000 for the period, as
compared to a loss of approximately HK$30,058,000 for the
corresponding period of last year mainly caused by the impairment of
expected credit loss.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR DM (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Multi-media Technologies and Convergence Media Business

The multi-media technologies and convergence media business recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$49,696,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing a slight decrease of 7.3% as compared to the
previous year (2023: approximately HK$53,598,000). The Company has
continued to build upon its expertise in convergence media, providing
comprehensive client services that bridge brand building to online sales
conversion. Our team leverages a strategic combination of social media
and e-commerce platforms to deliver impactful online marketing and
sales solutions.
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Automobile brand promotion

7T R B HE R

In the latter half of the financial year 2024 ("FY2024"), we further
enhanced our live streaming capabilities in China by strengthening our
cooperation with some of the most renowned consumer food and
beverage brands in China. Leveraging our live streaming station in the
nation, we provided both online and offline sales channels for the brand,
facilitating effective conversion of marketing efforts to actual product
sales.
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KOL marketing promotions remained a key revenue
driver. During the period, we strengthened our
collaborations with several leading automobile
brands such as Volkswagen and Lotus New Energy
Vehicles. Through partnerships with top automotive
influencers, we successfully promoted automobile
brands’ new models and special offers, effectively
translating influencer endorsements into sales.
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Provide online and offline sales channels for
renowned beverage brands in China
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Multi-media Technologies and Convergence Media Business (continued)
Following our capital injection into KeMeng (Changzhou) Culture &
Media Limited (“KeMeng"”) in the previous fiscal year, our professional
team of music KOLs continued to bring in stable recurring revenue.
During the year under review, we intensified our partnerships with local
Chinese governments and organizations, to participate in and produce
larger-scale cultural events and concerts. These performances not only
enhanced our reputation and presence, but also provided valuable
opportunities for potential business growth.
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Our outdoor advertising business maintained stable revenue this year. We
offered billboard and LED display solutions to corporate clients across
various sectors. In addition to traditional print ads, we also offered digital
and convergence media services by integrating clients’ advertisements
with multi-media content on exterior displays.

Looking ahead, we aim to capitalize on the ongoing industry
transformation towards online advertising by capturing more
opportunities. We will continue optimizing our influencer network, live
streaming capabilities and content production. With our competitive
strengths in convergence media, social marketing and cultural influence,
we are well-positioned to achieve strong performance in the coming
fiscal year. We will also explore converging online sales and offline sales
and distribution on consumer food and health beverages products
leveraging on our expertise in online markets and e-commerce.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR DM (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Dry Grinding and Dry Beneficiation Business

The DGDB business has gradually transitioned from the investment phase
to generating revenue. The Group ventured into titanium dioxide
distribution in China and recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$5,598,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. This lays a foundation
work for deployment of DGDB technologies and processing business for
various iron ores in the coming future. While research and development
efforts remain important to further enhance our product solutions for
industrial applications, we recorded research and development costs of
approximately HK$3,084,000 this year as the business revenue stream
has begun. We aim to grow this revenue by executing our
commercialization strategy focused on industrial applications and forging
partnerships within the global resources sector.

The policy environment over the past year has become increasingly
supportive of advanced technology solutions for low-carbon emission and
low energy consumption processing such as our DGDB technologies.
Following the 20th Party Congress, China has reiterated its mid-century
carbon neutrality and energy consumption targets, strengthening
ambition and discipline across heavy emission sectors. Globally, policies
like the European Union’s Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism are also
expanding in scope and timeline. More countries are implementing or
planning similar border carbon measures, growing compliance pressures
on exporting industries. These developments broaden the relevant market
for emission-reducing beneficiation technologies. With climate policies
intensifying amidst the clean energy transition, our DGDB solution is
well-positioned to benefit from supportive policy tailwinds both within
China and internationally.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Dry Grinding and Dry Beneficiation Business (continued)

The Group has actively promoted the DGDB business, building on the
success of last year's pilot testing on hematite and limonite ores. We
have further expanded the application of DGDB technologies to process
additional ore varieties such as titaniferous iron ore and talc ore.
Benefiting from favorable national policies, we have received increasing
interests from local governments and state-owned enterprises in our
technologies. They have provided strong support in areas such as
cooperation opportunities, project site selection, iron ore sourcing and
procurement, supply chain financing and assistance with subsidy
applications.

The Group has also widened its beneficiation technology application to
include tailings recycling. Through our DGDB technologies, tailings can
be further recycled and technically processed to produce raw materials
for the commercial concretes and cements manufacturing. Tailings and
tailings derivative products processing, along with the sales of the
processed manufacturing material, have become a key downstream
segment within the DGDB business value chain. The Group is
collaborating closely with various commercial concrete producers and
state-owned enterprises to optimize their raw material sourcing through
the implementation of our DGDB technologies. This demonstrates our
commitment to national policies of promoting environmental protection
and waste reduction while generating a stable revenue stream for the
Company. During the year under review, the Group ventured into
titanium dioxide distribution in China, laying the groundwork for future
deployment of DGDB technologies and processing business for various
iron ores. This does not only allow us to resolve the environmental issues
of beneficiation tailings but also expand revenue streams while advancing
our beneficiation operations to fully utilize recycling potential for
processed tailings. We expect further business potentials in the technical
processing and recycling of tailings.

Looking ahead, as national policies continue to support the
environmental benefits of our technologies, we are well-positioned to
generate diversified cash flow for the Group. The milestones reached this
year bring us significantly closer to our goal of establishing DGDB
technologies as a core component of sustainable development in the iron
ore processing and materials industries.

Other Operations - Investment, Securities Trading and Tourism
and Hospitality Business

The Group has been closely monitoring the global economy and will
position itself to pursue and capture suitable business opportunities in its
operations and investments in the region as and when they arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR DM (&)

POTENTIAL RISKS OF THE GROUP
The following risks were identified as the potential risks of the Group
during the year under review:

Change of government policies

Changes in government policies and regulations could impact the
Group's operations and profitability. The Group needs to monitor and
adapt to new policies in Hong Kong, China and other markets where it
operates. For example, restrictions on advertising or content could impact
the Group's revenue streams from its convergence media business; and
changes in environmental policies could impact the demand for the
Group’s DGDB technologies and services.

Economic volatility in the region and the PRC

The Group’s business is particularly sensitive to reductions in discretionary
consumer and corporate spending as a result of downturns in the
economy. Changes in discretionary consumer spending could reduce
corporate demand for the multi-media technologies and convergence
media business, thus imposing additional limits on pricing and harming
the business operations of the Company. The actual or perceived
economy performance could adversely impact the multi-media
technologies and convergence media business.

Continued geopolitical tensions and a potential slowdown in the Chinese
economy could negatively impact the demand for the Group's products
and services if the trade war escalates or global commodity prices
decline.

Cash flow risk due to long collection periods and untimely
payments from customers

Prolonged collection cycle and delayed payments from some customers
may increase the Group's operating costs and cash flow management
difficulties.

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract and retain high
calibre personnel

Loss of key individuals could result in an adverse impact on the Group's
operation and profitability. The risk of the loss of key personnel is
mitigated by regular reviews of human resource management system,
remuneration packages and succession planning within the management
team.

Cyber and information security risk

Frequency of cyber-attacks like sophisticated phishing campaigns and
ransomware have continuously increased in recent years. The potential
threat of cyber-attacks is increasing. Cyber-attacks may lead to loss of
information, leakage of confidential information, unavailability of systems
and disruption of operation that significant costs may be incurred for
data recovery and system restoration, and/or possible claims. The Group
manages this risk by implementing security measures such as firewall,
antispam and anti-virus protection.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

CORPORATE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Taking
environmental protection as an example, the development of our
environmentally-friendly DGDB technologies will have a positive impact
on both energy consumption and carbon emission to the entire steel
industry in the PRC.

An environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report (“ESG Report”)
of the Group will be published separately on the Company’s and Stock
Exchange’s website to report the Company’s ESG policies and its
compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide as
contained in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
March 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
BUSINESS PARTNERS

The Group recognises its employees, customers and business partners are
the keys to maintain the sustainable development of the Group. The
Group is committed to building a close and intimate relationship with its
employees, providing quality services and products to its customers, and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

Employees are regarded as one of the vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group encourages employees to participate in external
seminars and lectures to keep abreast of changes and to enhance their
knowledge on areas of industrial, legal and compliance. The Group also
encourages continuous professional development training for the
Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, which
include seminars on updating regulatory requirement and development,
and corporate governance practices.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and business partners
and has ongoing communication with them through various channels
such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR DM (&)

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Placement of New Shares under General Mandate

On 7 May 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which the Company has agreed to offer placing shares up to
16,803,334 at the placing price of HK$1.03 per placing share to not less
than six placees (the “Placing”). On 28 May 2024, the Company and the
Placing Agent entered into a supplemental agreement to the Placing
Agreement and agreed to extend the completion date to within four
business days after 11 June 2024 and the placing price is adjusted from
HK$1.03 to HK$1.07. On 11 June 2024, the Company and the Placing
Agent entered into a second supplemental agreement to the Placing
Agreement and agreed to extend the completion date to within four
business days after 2 July 2024. For details of the Placing, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 7 May 2024, 28 May 2024 and 12
June 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS MODEL AND BUSINESS STRATEGY

Diversification is our core business strategy. The Group is committed to
achieving long-term sustainable growth of its businesses in preserving
and enhancing shareholder value. The Group is committed to seeking
attractive investment opportunities that strengthen and expand its
business scope. The Group has maintained a prudent and disciplined
financial management to ensure its sustainability.

PROSPECTS

The global economic landscape in FY2024 remains uncertain, with factors
such as credit contraction, rising interest rates, and geopolitical tensions
impacting business confidence. Amidst these challenges, the market is
expecting China to continue its structural reform and monetary easing
policies while transforming towards higher quality and consumer
consumption driven growth model.

Hence, one area of potential growth is the convergence media market,
particularly e-commerce live streaming services. As consumer spending
rebounds and digital platforms become increasingly popular, this sector
is expected to thrive. However, it is important to note that with the
increasing opportunities, there is also a rise in competition. We will need
to differentiate ourselves and provide unique value propositions. We will
explore more opportunities on KOL marketing promotions for leading
automobile brands, and implement strategies to integrate online and
offline sales and distribution for consumer food and health beverages
products. Leveraging our expertise in online markets and e-commerce,
we aim to capitalize on these trends and expand our convergence media
business.

The Group’s commitment to environmentally sustainable solutions aligns
well with China’s ambitious “double carbon” goals and higher quality
growth model. Our DGDB business has already begun generating revenue
from DGDB-related activities, demonstrating their market viability. With
successful pilot projects and proven effectiveness, we are well-positioned
for continued growth. As China’s iron and steel industry adapts towards
lower emissions production methods, our DGDB technologies are
expected to play a significant role in this transformation. We are
confident that the DGDB business will start to continue to generate
meaningful profits and cash flow, contributing to the Group’s overall
success.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to explore strategic investments
and collaboration opportunities to enhance technological capabilities,
diversify clients portfolio, expand market reach, and optimize cost
management. Through these initiatives, we are confident in driving
operational improvements and generate long-term value for our
shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWE DM (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
HK$55,294,000 (2023: HK$53,598,000), representing an increase of
approximately 3.2% compared with last year. The revenue of multi-media
technologies and convergence media business was HK$49,696,000
(2023: HK$53,598,000), which has decreased by 7.3%. The decrease in
revenue was primarily due to the economic downturn, the customers
have tightened their advertising budget in FY2024. The loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the year amounted to approximately
HK$30,775,000 (2023: HK$24,273,000). As at 31 March 2024, the
contract liabilities decreased which was due to the completion of
contracts relating to the existing convergence media business. The total
assets and net liabilities of the Group were approximately
HK$68,290,000 and HK$374,730,000 (2023: HK$63,619,000 and
HK$341,101,000) respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
HK$1,697,000 (2023: HK$7,363,000), and the Group had total
borrowings including liability component of convertible bonds of
HK$246,295,000 (2023: HK$231,901,000), of which borrowings of
11.1% was in HK$ and 88.9% was in Renminbi and of which borrowings
within one year was HK$212,004,000 (2023: HK$221,474,000),
accounting for 86.1% (2023: 95.5%) of the total borrowings. The
gearing ratio, being the ratio of the sum of total borrowings to total
deficit, was 65.7% as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 68.0%). The liquidity
ratio, being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities, was 14.1%
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 12.1%). The improved liquidity ratio was
due to effective debt restructuring initiatives, including placing and
negotiating debt settlements on favourable terms. The debt restructuring
initiatives also resulted in a reduction in finance costs to HK$10,338,000
(2023: HK$10,956,000).

The Group's cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in RMB
and the Group's borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB. As at 31
March 2024, the Group’s borrowings with fixed interest rates accounted
for approximately 37.5% (2023: 26.0%) of total borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Impairment Loss under Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Model, Net of
Reversal

Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal primarily represented
the net impairment losses on trade and other receivables in respect of
impairment assessment in accordance with HKFRS 9 as at 31 March
2024. In assessing the ECL of the Group's trade and other receivables, a
credit rating analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing
the past-due status, ageing information, available press information and
credit loss experience over the past years of the grouped debtors and the
forward-looking information to estimate the probability of default of the
Group's receivables as at 31 March 2024. The Group has also engaged
an independent professional valuer for assessing the allowance for ECL
on trade and other receivables. During the year, the Group recognized
provision for ECL on trade and other receivables of approximately
HK$10,291,000 (2023: HK$128,000).

Included in the impairment loss for other receivables, prepayments and
deposits, HK$ 1,275,000 (2023: HK$943,000) represented the impairment
loss on the amounts due from a licensor (the “Licensor”) in aggregate of
gross balances of HK$15,063,000 (2023: HK$17,684,000) at the end of
the reporting period. No settlement was received by the Group during
the reporting period because the litigation against the Licensor is still in
progress. In the opinion of the Directors, there was no detrimental event
known by the Group that indicates the amounts due from the Licensor
were credit impaired. The Group adopts a consistent approach in
estimating the expected credit loss of these amounts due from the
Licensor as other receivables with additional consideration of the
lengthened expected collection period due to the litigation.

The Group recognised the impairment loss under expected credit loss for
account receivables of HK$9,577,000 under the assessment performed
by an independent professional valuer which is mainly contributed by a
major customer at the end of the reporting period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, the Group did not pledge any
assets to secure the borrowings granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWE DM (&)

USE OF PROCEEDS

For the details of use of proceeds, please refer to the information
disclosed in the paragraph headed "Equity-linked Agreements” in this
annual report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Details of capital commitments are included in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of litigations and contingent liabilities are included in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, as
at 31 March 2024, there was no other material litigation expected to
result in a significant adverse effect on the financial position of the
Group, either collectively or individually. Management of the Company
believes that adequate provisions have been made in respect of such
litigations.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange
forward contracts to hedge against exchange rates fluctuations during
the year under review. Foreign exchange risk arising from the normal
course of operations is considered to be minimal and the management
will closely monitor the fluctuation in the currency and take appropriate
actions when condition arises.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 59 employees (2023: 89).
During the year ended 31 March 2024, staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments but excluding share-based payments) amounted to
HK$9,711,000 (2023: HK$9,297,000). Remuneration packages are
generally structured by reference to market terms and individual merits.
Salaries are reviewed periodically based on performance appraisal and
other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans maintained by the Group
include medical insurance, hospitalisation scheme, mandatory provident
fund, share option scheme and share award scheme. Employees in the
PRC are remunerated according to the prevailing market conditions in
the locations of their employments.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, as authorised by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Auditor expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the independent
auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Independent Auditor’s
Report”). As stated in the paragraph headed “BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION" in the Independent Auditor’'s Report, the basis for the
auditor to express a disclaimer of opinion was the existence of material
uncertainties relating to going concern. Additional information in relation
to the disclaimer of opinion regarding the material uncertainties relating
to going concern is provided in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENRGREEAEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bin, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director on 7
July 2023. Mr. Wang is also the Chairman of the Board. He obtained his
undergraduate degree in human resource management from Shenzhen
University in the PRC in January 2024, and completed the advanced
management programme provided by China Europe International
Business School in the PRC in March 2019. Mr. Wang has over 10 years'
corporate management experience including strategic planning and
business development in the commercial concrete industry, and he has
also engaged in various business relating to the commercial concrete
industry including the production research and sales of commercial
concrete, commercial concrete admixtures and associated chemicals such
as polyether monomers in the PRC and Southeast Asia. Mr. Wang is also
involved in the PRC real estate development and construction materials
business.

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Wang is interested in 10,335,917 underlying
Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director on 5
September 2016. Mr. Zhang is also the Vice Chairman of the Board. He
graduated from Zhejiang University in 1994 with a major in Finance. Mr.
Zhang has over 16 years of investment experience in the technology field,
with the scope of investment spanning across various regions including
Canada, the United States of America, Singapore, the Mainland China
and Hong Kong. He is in particular familiar with the investment and
operations of telecommunications and communications industries. Mr.
Zhang has good relations with the telecommunications operators and has
accumulated extensive local and overseas network in the industry. Mr.
Zhang is currently the chairman of a private company in the Mainland
China which was founded by Mr. Zhang in 2002. Under his leadership,
the company has now developed into an enterprise with large investment
scale and wide investment geographical range in real estates, biological
medicine, new energy and media, etc. It has a number of projects
including a large-scale urban complex with a gross area of over a million
square meters in Shanghai, Hangzhou and Shenyang.

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Zhang is interested in 2,154,275 Shares and
372,156 share options (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Chu Wei Ning, aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director on
8 July 2015. Ms. Chu is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
an authorised representative of the Company and a director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. She is currently responsible for the strategic
investment and business development of the Company. Ms. Chu
obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in May 1994 and a master degree of Business
Administration from the University of Texas at Austin with Honors in May
1998. She has been a veteran investment banker and venture capital
investment professional with over 16 years of experience. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. Chu has been a founding member and the managing
director of a private investment fund which focus on investments in
telecommunications, media, and technology. Previously, she also held
various capacities in Bank of China International, Bear Stearns Asia
Limited and Chase Manhattan Bank (which was subsequently acquired by
JP Morgan). She is currently an independent non-executive director of
Bosa Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8140), a listed company
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2024, Ms. Chu is interested in 300,000 Shares and
372,156 share options (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

Ms. Lam Sze Man, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director and
a company secretary on 3 October 2019 and 1 March 2024 respectively.
Ms. Lam is a director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Lam
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. She is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has around 15 years of
working experience in accounting.

As at 31 March 2024, Ms. Lam is interested in 5,000 Shares and 186,078
share options (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and does not
have any relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EERSREBEAEERE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis, aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 23 August 2018. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. He has over 15 years of
experience in capital investment, assurance and consultancy services
industry. Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce, majoring
in Accounting and Finance from Deakin University (Melbourne, Australia)
in 2000. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia. He is holding the
position of director in a local consultancy firm. He is also currently a
director of New Territories General Chamber of Commerce; a director,
vice president and committee member of Care of Rehabilitated Offenders
Association. He is also currently an independent non-executive director
of Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited (Stock code: 306), which is listed
on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of
e-Kong Group Limited (now known as Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings
Limited) (Stock code: 524) from June 2015 to May 2017, China Best
Group Holding Limited (Stock code: 370) from September 2014 to
October 2016, Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Sumpo Food Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 1089) from January 2015 to
July 2015 and SingAsia Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8293) from
February 2018 to March 2020, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Chan does not have any interest in the Shares
and underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael, aged 72, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 August 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, and a
member of the Remuneration Committee. He has over 35 years of
experience in external audit, IT audit, training, accounting and finance,
company secretarial and corporate administration, MIS management,
internal audit, information security, risk management and compliance.
Also, he is the chief executive of C&C Advisory Services Limited. Mr.
Chan is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
fellow member and specialist in Information Technology of CPA Australia.
He was admitted as a certified information systems auditor with the
Information Systems Audit and Control Association in 1985. Mr. Chan
was an adjunct professor in the School of Accounting and Finance of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2009 to 2014. Mr. Chan worked
at CMG Life Assurance Limited (formerly known as Jardine CMG Life
Assurance Limited) from 1991 to 1996 and his last position was general
manager, compliance and corporate affairs. He was employed by Dao
Heng Bank Limited in 1996 as the group auditor (which was subsequently
acquired by DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited) and he ceased working for
the bank in 2004 with his last position as managing director and head of
compliance, Hong Kong and Greater China. Mr. Chan was also the group
financial controller of Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited from 2004 to 2005,
the director of quality assurance of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in 2005 and the deputy general manager of the
compliance department of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China,
Limited from 2006 to 2009. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive
director of Sterling Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1825), which is
listed on the Stock Exchange, from September 2018 to August 2022.
Also, Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive director of Lansen
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 503), which is listed on the
Stock Exchange, from April 2010 to December 2023. Mr. Chan graduated
with a higher diploma in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1976 and
was awarded the postgraduate diploma in business administration from
the University of Surrey in March 1998.

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Chan is interested in 250 Shares (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors cnd Senior Management (continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Feng Man, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 December 2019. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee. Mr.
Engineering from the Shanghai Institute of Railway Sciences, Shanghai in

Feng obtained a Bachelor degree in Civil

1989, a Master degree in Geotechnical Engineering from China Academy
of Railway Sciences, Beijing in 1992 and a Master degree in Geotechnical
Engineering from the University of Saskatchewan, Canada in 1999. He is
currently a Registered Professional Engineer in Canada. He has experience
over a wide range of resource types (oil sands, iron, gold, uranium,
copper, tin, etc.), with focus on iron mine development in the last 10
years and project experiences in Canada, China, Africa, South America,
Mongolia, Australia, etc.. In addition, he has 25 years of mine
infrastructure engineering and engineering management experience. He

is currently the general manager of PeiSi Engineering Co. Ltd..

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Feng does not have any interest in the Shares
and underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Han, aged 47, was appointed as the head of PRC media
operations of the Group in 2019. Mr. Chen graduated from the Shanghai
University, majoring in Microelectronics, Department of Physics. He has
over 20 years of management experience in private investment industry,
and participated in placing, mergers and acquisition activities of listed
companies in Hong Kong and the PRC. His management experiences
included large commercial complexes and recreational complex projects,
such as the famous American FMCG, ARM & HAMMER. Mr. Chen is one
of the founders of the W. EDGM e-sports club.

Mr. He Hao Yu, aged 37, is responsible for the development and
management of the Group’s multi-media technologies and convergence
media business. He has over 10 years’ working experience in media sales
management, and deep understanding of online and offline integrated
media marketing. His experience involves many multinational brand
customers, including HSBC, Ping An Bank, China Merchants Bank, SAIC
Volkswagen, BYD, Yonghe Hair Transplant, Feihe, etc., and he has

received unanimous praise.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Shi Yong Bin, aged 57, is the chief engineer of the Group. He has
extensive experience in research and development of construction
materials and design of beneficiation plant. Mr. Shi is engaged in the
research and development of the DGDB technologies using the magnetic
theory. He builds up his reputation as a technology inventor in this regard
by obtaining a series of national invention patents.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Shi was the design and research office
director, the deputy director and the general manager of the new
technology promotion center of Xinjiang Building Materials Research
Institute* ( ¥7 38 # M #f 3£ F7 ), the chief engineer of Xinjiang Hejing
Special Cement Plant* (3738 M &% 457 KB B ) , the chairman of Qiewei
Jintuo Cement Co., Ltd.* (A X & B /KJEHE R E{L A7) and Bazhou
Xixigao Fine Ash Co., Ltd.* (B MMM =AM ERXKBREERAF), the
chief engineer and deputy general manager of Hami Heshengyuan
Mining Co., Ltd.* (M Z & B IRBEEE R & £ 2 7), and the chief
engineer and general manager of Hami Taiyuan Mining Co., Ltd.* (5 &

FRBEEERATF).

Mr. Zhang Chun Tao, aged 59, is responsible for the development and
management of the Group's iron ore dry grinding and dry beneficiation
business. He is the chairman of the Group’s subsidiary, Shanghai Baoying
Mining Limited* ( =8 8 & & % B R 2 &), and the chief executive
officer of the Group’s subsidiary, Liaoning Baoying Mining Technology
Limited* (EEERBEERMERAF]).

Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in business management along with
well establishment in different industries including mining, cement,
agriculture and fruit juice. Mr. Zhang served as the factory director of
Xinjiang Manas County Jade Mine* (%758 3% 4 Hr 8 £ A ), in relation
to arts and crafts. He was also appointed as the chairman of the labour
union and deputy mine manager. In addition, he worked as the general
manager of Xinjiang Manas Livestock Products Company* (37 i 35 4% Hf
BES# AT . Mr. Zhang also worked in Xinjiang Tunhe Co., Ltd.* (37
52 T On R 0 B R A Al ), as deputy branch factory director, general
manager, administrative department head of the head office and
assistant of general manager respectively. He was the President of Hami
Heshengyuan Mining Co. Ltd.* G B E & B REXBREEAF).
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

The Board hereby presents its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in multi-media technologies and
convergence media business, dry grinding and dry beneficiation business,
and other operations — investment, securities trading and tourism and
hospitality business.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely future
developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section set out on pages 4 to 17
of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Report of the

Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 69
to 70 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, and consolidated assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
225 of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year ended
31 March 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2024, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2023: Nil).

BORROWINGS
Details of the borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out
in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the year under review.

During the year under review, the Company has put in place appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors’ liabilities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs capped at HK$1,500 per month to the MPF
scheme, in which the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a
certain percentage of the payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had no forfeited contribution
available to reduce its contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in
future years.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEIT®RE (A)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 30
September 2021. The following is a summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or
reward to the Eligible Persons for their contributions to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions,
the Board may at its absolute discretion grant options to any Eligible
Employee or director (who is not an Eligible Employee) of the Group or
consultant, agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the Group who or
which may participate in the Share Option Scheme.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an option
and minimum period (if any) for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Such offer shall be open for acceptance on a day specified in the letter of
grant which shall be no longer than 30 days from the date of the letter
of grant. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme during such period as may be determined by the
Board (which shall not be more than ten years commencing on the date
on which the share option is granted and accepted). Under the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme, the Board has the discretion to set a
minimum period for which a share option has to be held before it may be
exercised.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of share options
The share options shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
and taken effect when the duplicate letter of grant comprising
acceptance of the share options is duly signed by the Eligible Person and
returned to the Company together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of grant of the share options.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of
Shares in issue from time to time (the “Overriding Limit").
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report (continued)

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding
Limit, the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the
refreshment.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes to any Eligible Person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue, unless a Shareholders’
approval has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors. Where share
options are proposed to be granted to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
and the grant would result in the aggregate of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant of the relevant share options
to (i) represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of issued
Shares for the time being; and (i) have an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at each date of the grant of the share options,
in excess of HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant shall be subject to the
issue of a circular to the Shareholders and the approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting with the connected persons abstaining
from voting in favour.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE (A)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price determined by the Directors shall be at least the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares on the date of offer;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the Shares.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination by the Company in general meeting or the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on its date of adoption. The Share Option
Scheme will expire on 29 September 2031 and the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is about 7 years and 3 months as at the date of
this annual report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Movement of share options during the year under review

During the year under review, no share options was granted, exercised,
cancelled and lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

Movement of share options during the year ended 31 March 2024:

Report of the Directors (continued)
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Number of share options
BREYA
Weighted
average
closing price
of the shares
Cancelled/ immediately
As at Granted Exercised lapsed As at Exercise before the
31 March during during during 31 March Date of price per respective
Category of participant 2023 the year the year the year 2024 grant share Exercisable period  exercise date
BHR
2EEE
B ®A
R=8==f R R-BoNE R WK ZIET
SEAER ZB=1-H ERRH ERfTE  HB/%% ZAZ1-8 REAH THEE BE W&
(HKS)
(B
Directors
Ez
Zhang Yi 372,156 - - - 372,156 9122021 339 9/12/2021-8/12/2026  N/ATiEA
KK
Chu Wei Ning 372,156 - - - 372,156 9122021 339 9/12/2021-8/12/2026  N/ATEA
nEHE
Lam Sze Man 186,078 - - - 186,078 9122021 339 9/12/2021-8/12/2026  N/ATiEA
M
Employees 2,009,643 - - - 2,009,643 9/12/2021 339 9/12/2021-8/12/2026  NIATEA
Es
Consultants 781,528 - - - 781,528 9122021 339 9/12/2021-8/12/2026  NATEA
B
Total 3,721,561 - - - 3,721,561
@t

Notes: The exercise price and number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme reflects the
impact of the Capital Reorganisation effective on 20 June 2023.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board approved and adopted the Share Award Scheme on 15
January 2018. The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise the contributions by certain eligible employees of any member
of the Group, and to provide them with incentives in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii)
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.
Details of the Share Award Scheme are also disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year under review, no share award was granted, vested or
forfeited under the Share Award Scheme. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company had 1,550 unvested Shares awarded under the Share Award
Scheme.

Subject to the Scheme Rules, the Board shall determine the vesting
criteria and conditions or periods for an Award to be vested. As at 31
March 2024, due to the resignation of a selected employee on 16 July
2018, there were 15,500 unvested awarded shares (before the capital
reorganization becoming effective on 20 June 2023) awarded under the
Share Award Scheme. Awarded shares that are not vested and/or are
forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme are
held by the Trustee to be applied towards future Awards in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

As at 31 March 2024, since the scheme mandate of the Company has
not been refreshed, no awarded shares are available for issue under the
Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Issue of 1-Year Convertible Bonds under Specific Mandate and the
Disposal

On 15 July 2022, convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 were issued by the Company to Yulong Infotech Inc. (the
"Subscriber”) pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 21 April
2022 (as amended by the supplemental subscription agreement dated 14
June 2022) and entered between the Company, the Subscriber and
Yulong Computer Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* (the
“SM 1-Year Convertible Bonds"”). On 17 July 2023, 11,428,571
conversion shares (after the Capital Reorganisation) were allotted and
issued, representing approximately 13.60% of the total number of issued
shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion shares,
upon maturity of the SM 1-Year Convertible Bonds. For the details of the
SM 1-Year Convertible Bonds and the disposal, please refer to the
information disclosed on pages 32 and 33 in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds under General Mandate

On 1 August 2022, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with each of Ms. Lei Yu Fei* (the “First Subscriber”), Ms. Geng Juan*
(the "Second Subscriber”), Better Choice Group Limited (the “Third
Subscriber”) and Mr. Ye Xin Lin* (the “Fourth Subscriber”)
(collectively, the “Subscribers”), respectively, pursuant to which the
Company contemplates to issue and the First Subscriber is desirous of
subscribing convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$5,000,000
(the “First Convertible Bonds"), the Second Subscriber is desirous of
subscribing convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$3,000,000
(the "Second Convertible Bonds”), the Third Subscriber is desirous of
subscribing convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000
(the “Third Convertible Bonds"”), and the Fourth Subscriber is desirous
of subscribing convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$2,000,000 (the “Fourth Convertible Bonds") (collectively, the “GM
Convertible Bonds"”). The GM Convertible Bonds are all at 4% coupon
rate with 3-year maturity. In the case of the conversion rights having
been exercised in full at the adjusted conversion price of HK$3.00 per
conversion share (after the Capital Reorganisation) pursuant to the
subscription agreements, a maximum of 3,999,998 conversion shares
(after the Capital Reorganisation) will be allotted and issued by the
Company under general mandate. The aggregate nominal value of
3,999,998 conversion shares (after the Capital Reorganisation) will be
HK$39,999.98. The market price was HK$0.20 per share (before the
Capital Reorganisation) on the date of the subscription agreements. On
29 August 2022, the GM Convertible Bonds were issued by the Company
to the Subscribers pursuant to the subscription agreements. The gross
proceeds from the subscriptions of the GM Convertible Bonds is
HK$12,000,000, while the net proceeds from the subscriptions is
approximately HK$11,945,000 (after deducting the professional fees and
other related costs and expenses incurred in the subscriptions). The net
issue price for each conversion share is approximately HK$2.99 (after the
Capital Reorganisation). As at 31 March 2024, the net proceeds from the
subscriptions of the GM Convertible Bonds have been fully utilised as
intended, namely, for general working capital of the Group, including (i)
approximately HK$3.5 million for the multi-media technologies and
convergence media business; (ii) approximately HK$6 million for initiating
and preparation of pilot machinery of the DGDB business; and (iii)
approximately HK$2.445 million for the overhead expenses of the Group.

For the details of the GM Convertible Bonds, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 1 August 2022, 17 August 2022
and 30 August 2022. As at 31 March 2024 and as at the date of this
report, none of the GM Convertible Bonds has been converted.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds under Specific Mandate

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with Hong Fu (HF) Holdings Group Limited (AT 4&(HF) iR E B AR A 7))
("Hong Fu") (as subscriber), pursuant to which the Company
contemplates to issue and Hong Fu is desirous of subscribing convertible
bonds in the principal amount of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,256,000), at an interest rate of 2% per annum and
maturity which falls on the third anniversary of the first issue date (the
“SM Convertible Bonds"). In the case of the conversion rights having
been exercised in full at the adjusted conversion price of HK$2.25 per
conversion share (after the Capital Reorganisation) pursuant to the
subscription agreement, a total number of 10,335,917 conversion shares
(after the Capital Reorganisation) will be allotted and issued by the
Company under specific mandate, representing approximately 12.46% of
the total number of issued shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the conversion shares as at the date of issue of the SM Convertible
Bonds. The aggregate nominal value of 10,335,917 conversion shares
(after the Capital Reorganisation) will be HK$103,359.17. The market
price was HK$0.08 per share (before the Capital Reorganisation) on the
date of the subscription agreement. The Company’s shareholders
approved the subscription agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, including the issue of the SM Convertible Bonds and the
allotment and issue of the conversion shares at the special general
meeting held on 16 June 2023. On 30 June 2023, the SM Convertible
Bonds were issued by the Company to Hong Fu pursuant to the
subscription agreement. The gross proceeds from the subscription of the
SM Convertible Bonds is RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,256,000), while the net proceeds from the subscription is
approximately RMB19,895,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,134,000) (after deducting the professional fees and other related
costs and expenses incurred in the subscription). The net issue price for
each conversion share is approximately HK$2.24 (after the Capital
Reorganisation). The Group intends to apply the net proceeds from the
subscription for general working capital of the Group, including but not
limited to (i) approximately RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,986,000) for the development of the Group's businesses
(including approximately RMB7,000,000 for the DGDB business and
approximately RMB3,000,000 for the multi-media technologies and
convergence media business), and (ii) approximately RMB9,895,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,148,000) for overhead and general
expenses of the Group. As at the date of this report, the net proceeds
from the subscription of the SM Convertible Bonds have been fully
utilised as intended. The Company and Hong Fu will establish a long-
term strategic business cooperation relationship. Hong Fu will also
support the business development of the DGDB business of the Company
through cooperation with various iron ores or steel mills players.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds under Specific Mandate (continued)

For the details of the SM Convertible Bonds, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 29 March 2023, 16 June 2023, 30
June 2023, and the Company's circular dated 23 May 2023. As at 31
March 2024 and as at the date of this report, none of the SM Convertible
Bonds has been converted.

Placement of New Shares under General Mandate

On 7 May 2024, the Company and the placing agent entered into the
placing agreement (“the Placing Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent,
on a best effort basis, of up to 16,803,334 Placing Shares (“the Placing
Shares”) to not less than six placees who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners shall be independent third parties at a price of HK$1.030 per
placing share. As additional time is required for the placing agent to
procure investors to subscribe for the Placing Shares, on 28 May 2024,
the Company and the placing agent, after arm’s length negotiation,
entered into a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
to the Placing Agreement, whereby the parties agreed to extend the
completion date to within four Business Days after 11 June 2024.
Furthermore, the Placing Price is adjusted from HK$1.030 to HK$1.070
(the "Adjusted Placing Price”). As additional time is required for the
fulfillment of the conditions, including the granting of the listing of and
permission to deal in all the Placing Shares by the Stock Exchange, on 11
June 2024, the Company and the placing agent, after arm’s length
negotiation, entered into a second supplemental agreement (the “Second
Supplemental Agreement”) to the Placing Agreement (as amended and
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), whereby the parties
agreed to extend the completion date to within four Business Days after
2 July 2024.

On 25 June 2024, the Company received the granting of the listing
approval for all the 13,418,000 allotted placing shares by the Stock
Exchange, all the conditions precedent in the Placing Agreement have
been fulfilled. For details of the placing shares under the general
mandate, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 7 May
2024, 28 May 2024 and 11 June 2024 respectively.

Save for the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
agreements above, no other equity-linked agreements were entered by
the Group or existed during the year under review and as at the date of
this report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHE (E)

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was the
Company, its holding companies, its fellow subsidiaries or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Bin (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Yi (Vice Chairman)

Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lam Sze Man

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

Mr. Feng Man

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming
annual general meeting have an unexpired service contract, which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT
IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Other than those disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Company’s business to which the subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or parent company of the Company was a party and in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year under
review or at any time during the year under review.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 18 to 23 of this annual report.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:

A. Long

position in Shares
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of issued
Number of underlying share capital
Shares held Shares held of the Company
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 3) (Note 3) (Note 4)
LR YN
FEEHE ERITRE
FEERAHE RBEE BREL
EEns 28 §:3:3 (FzE3) (F5E3) (HizE4)
Wang Bin Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 10,335,917 12.302%
EW X:c/f.*g/\(w&”
Zhang Yi Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 2,153,475 2.563%
%E@E XI/X.*E/\(MTEEZ)
Beneficial owner 800 0.001%
ERBEAA
Sub-total 2,154,275 2.564%
gt
Chu Wei Ning Beneficial owner 300,000 0.357%
mE= ERHEBAA
Lam Sze Man Beneficial owner 5,000 0.006%
ST ERHEBAA
Chan Kee Huen, Michael Beneficial owner 250 0.0003%
B iE ERHEBAA
Notes: Bt &F -

(1

)

These underlying Shares may be issued upon the exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds in the
principal amount of RMB20,000,000 by the Company to Hong
Fu pursuant to the Subscription agreement dated 29 March
2023. Hong Fu is ultimately owned by Mr. Wang Bin as to
85.05%.

These Shares are held by One Faith Investments Limited, which is
beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yi.

The number of Shares held and the number of underlying shares
held reflect the impact of the Capital Reorganisation effective on
20 June 2023.

Based on the number of issued Shares of 84,016,673 as at 31
March 2024.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (continued)

EERBETHRAEZER(E)

Share Options

Name of Directors

Date of grant

Exercise price

B. BEBR#E

Exercisable period

Number of share
options granted

PR B
EEHE R H# TEE AITEAE KRE#HE
Zhang Yi 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 per Share 9 December 2021 to 8 December 2026 372,156
(both days inclusive)
IR ik —T-—fF F3.398 T ZE -+ ANBEZZTZRF
+=-AhA TZANR(BREERMA)
Chu Wei Ning 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 per Share 9 December 2021 to 8 December 2026 372,156
(both days inclusive)
R —T - —F HFR3.398 T CE—F+ZANBEZZTZRF
+ZARA +ZANR(B %Efﬁﬁlﬂ)
Lam Sze Man 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 per Share 9 December 2021 to 8 December 2026 186,078

R —EC-—F FRR3.39% T
+=AANA
Notes: The exercise price and number of Shares to be issued upon

exercise of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme reflects the impact of the Capital Reorganisation
effective on 20 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the following
parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long position in Shares and underlying Shares

Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE (&)
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PIE336GRTE  ARRATHFEZECHMAE
THAL(LFEZTHARFAZSITHRAE)ER
D RAERDFHERENERLARTT

RBROREBERO ZFAE

Approximate

percentage of
underlying issued share capital

Number of

Shares held of the Company
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest (Note 2) (Note 3)
R N
FriFEEE EETRAE
il S §E| BHAESE
BRREE EEME (fF7E2) (P 5E3)
Wang Bin Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 10,335,917 12.30%
Fi ZEEEERE (D)
Notes: B R -
(1) These underlying Shares may be issued upon the exercise of the (1) ZEHEEROGARARBBREBEARA-ZT_=

conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds in the principal
amount of RMB20,000,000 by the Company to Hong Fu pursuant to
the Subscription agreement dated 29 March 2023. Hong Fu is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wang Bin, an executive Director, as to
85.05%.

(2)  The number of underlying Shares held reflects the impact of the Capital
Reorganisation effective on 20 June 2023.

(3) Based on the number of issued Shares of 84,016,673 as at 31 March
2024.

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors are aware of, as at 31
March 2024, there was no other person, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, who had any interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.

F=ZA-+NHE aﬁwﬁﬁfﬁi]%mﬂmﬁéﬁ$$%§
A AR #20,000,0007C /) 7] # 8% & 5 A1 BT A A9
BREETERET - ARBRTESINE
A B 4B 85.05% ©

(2) FRHBEHEBRODBERR-_Z-_=FA_+
HRAZEEAERNTE -

B EBER-_E-_ME=ZF=1+-HBz2D2%HTKH
% H 84,016,673zt HE

BREMBBEBRLIN BEFEMAN R_ZT_MF
ZRA=t+—H BREZTXAQRAESTHAEIN
MEEMATERGKABBEBROPHEESREE
R ERPEIBKRBATETFEFENELMFH
EfEmAR -

EEAEN
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE (A)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue from the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 66.9% of the total revenue and
revenue from the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 44.8%. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 69.0% of the total purchases for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 49.2%.

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates or any
Shareholders, to the best knowledge of the Directors, holding more than
5% of the Company’s total issued share capital, had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the year
under review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Particulars of transactions with related parties of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. These transactions did not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital was held
by the public.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and discussed the auditing, internal control and
financial reporting process including the review of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders
and investors of the Shares are recommended to consult their
professional advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation
implications (including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding,
disposing of or dealing in the Shares. It is emphasised that none of the
Company or its Directors or officers will accept any responsibility for any
tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of Shares resulting from their
subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such Shares.
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AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 24 April 2023. Mazars was
appointed by the Board with the recommendation from the Audit
Committee as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 24 April
2023 to fill the causal vacancy following the resignation of Asian

Alliance.

The Board and the Audit Committee were of the view that the change of
auditor would enable the Company to carry out more effective cost
control and will cope with its future business development which is in the
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no other change in the auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 have been audited by Mazars who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution for re-appointment of Mazars as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to
the Shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and professional advisors
for their support to the Company over the past year and sincerely thank
our staff for their ongoing dedication and contribution made in the past
year.

On behalf of the Board

Chu Wei Ning
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERRS

Good corporate governance has been recognising as vital to the Group’s
success and sustainable development. The Company commits itself to a
high standard of corporate governance and has devoted considerable
efforts in identifying and formulating corporate practices appropriate to
the Company's needs.

For the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, the Company has
put corporate governance practices in place to meet the code provision
(the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in the CG Code, that are considered
to be relevant to the Group, and has complied with all of the Code
Provisions for the time being in force throughout the year under review
and up to the date of this report.

The Group will periodically review its corporate governance practices to
ensure that it continues to comply with the CG Code and disclosure in
the CG Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of business and affairs of the Group in the best interests of
the Shareholders.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised a total of seven
Directors, with four executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Bin, Mr. Zhang
Yi, Ms. Chu Wei Ning and Ms. Lam Sze Man, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis, Mr. Chan
Kee Huen, Michael and Mr. Feng Man. A list containing the names of the
Directors and their roles and functions is published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

There were four Board meetings and two general meetings held during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and Directors’ attendance at the meetings
are as follows:

Name of Directors

EXERME (&)

BExsg (&)
HE-_Z_NEF=A=1T—HLFE XAQAYE
BIOMREEEEARMAREAE EFHF
o P > 3 UM

Number of Number of
Board meetings
attended/held

general meetings
attended/held

HE R HE BT
BEEpng EZEESR LY BEAXEXRH
Executive Directors: BITES:
Mr. Wang Bin (Chairman) EW R E(EE) 3/3 11
Mr. Zhang Yi (Vice Chairman) RIK (B EE) 3/4 2/2
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) — BT % &2 + (7T B A ) 4/4 2/2
Ms. Lam Sze Man MEFH L L 4/4 212
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHTES:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis BR 75 M % A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael PR 5018 5t &£ 3/4 2/2
Mr. Feng Man 5 R 5t A 4/4 2/2

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the Group's overall
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s business performance,
preparing and approving the Group's financial statements,
recommending the Directors’ appointment or re-appointment to
Shareholders, considering and approving the Group's material contracts
and transactions (in particular those may involve conflict of interests) as
well as other significant policies and financial matters. The Board gives
clear directions as to the powers delegated to the management for the
day-to-day operation, management and administration functions of the
Group. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions being carried out by the Group’s management
and the Board has full support from the Group’s management to
discharge its responsibilities. The Board would review the delegation
arrangements periodically in order to ensure its effectiveness and
efficiently.

Throughout the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
that at least three independent non-executive directors included and at
least one of them possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise and they represent
at least one-third of the Board respectively.

All independent non-executive Directors are financially independent from
the Group. The Company has confirmed with all independent non-
executive Directors as to their independence and received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of them for the year under
review, having regard to the factors as set out in the Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEER®SE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships between the members
of the Board.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature of
offices held in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments in a timely manner and will provide updates to
the Company on any subsequent changes.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 18 to 22 of
this annual report.

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs
(a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during the year
under review and up to the date of this annual report are set out below:

Name of Directors Details of Change

Esg2(®)
MEEMAM  EFSEKBZHEAEIMF - X5
REREMBERNLBRERE -

ZRESDERAARRABEERSENHE

4K AT T TS B TR M A B A BB AR
TR EEARHE AR RERTEHR -

BREEZERANAFHREIBEF2NA

B EMRAE1351B (DK RIE EMRBNE
1351 FR@EEBRQBEREFTFERECES
EHMERNBEFEREEATRAGHEH B R
RO

EEnE BBHE

Mr. Wang Bin Appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 29 November 2023

TWkE BLZITAEESEFRF B_Z-_=F+—A=-t+LBEBEX

Mr. Zhang Yi Re-designated from the Chairman to the Vice Chairman of the Board with effect from
29 November 2023

WK S A& HEFEIRATAESRREEIR B Z-_=F+ - A+ LHRBREX

The Board have ensured that all the members of the Board can give
sufficient time and attention to the business of the Group and should not
accept the appointment if they cannot.

Every Director was appointed for an initial term of three years, while all
of them are subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual
general meetings as specified in the Bye-laws.

The Board noted that if an independent non-executive director has served
more than nine years, his further appointment should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders. The Company would
make disclosure of the length of tenure of each existing independent
non-executive directors on a named basis and appoint a new independent
non-executive director at the forthcoming annual general meeting in
accordance with the Code Provision B.2.4 of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company understands that the independence of the Board is a key
to its sound corporate governance. To ensure that independent views
and opinions are available to the Board, the majority of members from all
Board committees are independent non-executive Directors. In assessing
the suitability of a candidate to the Board, the Nomination Committee
will review the candidate’s biographies (including his/her qualifications
and available time) and take into account the composition of the Board,
the professional experience and skills of Directors, the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee and the Board
examine annually whether each independent non-executive Directors
meet the guidelines for the assessment of independence set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules or any circumstance that could materially
interfere with the exercise of his independent judgment, and ensure
receipt of an annual confirmation of independence letter from each
independent non-executive Directors. To assist Directors in properly
performing their duties, all Directors may seek advice from the company
secretary of the Company or from independent professional advisers at
the Company’s expenses. Independent non-executive Directors only
receive fixed fee. The Board will review the governance framework and
mechanism on a regular basis to ensure their effectiveness.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Wang Bin was appointed as the chairman of the Board on 29
November 2023, Mr. Zhang Yi was re-designated from the chairman to
the vice chairman of the Board on 29 November 2023 and Ms. Chu Wei
Ning was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 27
June 2016.

The chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. The chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information, with the support of the company secretary and the senior
management, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable,
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. In
addition, the chairman is responsible for the agenda for each board
meeting and he may delegate it to a designated director or the company
secretary.

The chairman encourages the Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs, taking the lead to act in the best
interests of the Company. The chairman also promotes a culture to
facilitate effective contributions, encourages the Directors to express
dissenting views and concerns and allows sufficient discussion of issues
before decisions are made.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEER®SE (F)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (continued)

The chief executive officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. The chief executive
officer is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and
operations and is also responsible for developing strategic plans, and
formulating and reviewing the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board's approval.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All independent non-executive Directors were appointed for an initial
term of three years, while all of them are subject to retirement by
rotation at the Company’s annual general meetings as specified in the
Bye-laws. The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent judgment
to the Board. Through active participation at Board meetings, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions to
the development of the Company’s strategies.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established relevant Board committees to assist it in
discharging its responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 1999. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consisted of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (as Chairman),
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis and Mr. Feng Man.

The Audit Committee members possess appropriate professional
qualifications, business or accounting and related financial management
expertise and experience to provide relevant advice and
recommendations to the Company. The Audit Committee is mainly
responsible for oversight of the financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control systems of the Company, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and reviewing and monitoring
the independence and objectivity of the external auditor. Details of the
duties and powers of the Audit Committee are set out in its written
terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include: (i) developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; (ii) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
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requirements; (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of AESFRESTALZ ’|%Z%&E§ﬁ¥“§xé$&¢?ﬂ2?&&% o

conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the Directors and

employees; and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG

Code and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.

There were three Audit Committee meetings held during the year ended HE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE BE%ZE

31 March 2024 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as follows: BERRTZRgE KELHESRZBEROAT
Number of

meetings

Name of members attended/held
HE BT

MEH R BRARH™

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) PRECIE X E(FE) 3/3

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis Bk 77 Bl 5t A4 3/3

Mr. Feng Man W 3/3

During the year under review, the work performed by the Audit REEFE BEZZESETZ2IERENEHN

Committee included (i) reviewing the audited annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and the unaudited interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2023 of the Group; (ii) reviewing the
independence and objectivity of the external auditor; (iii) reviewing the
internal control review reports, and the compliance and corporate
governance issues of the Group; and (iv) discussing with the external
auditor the sufficiency of the internal control of the Group. There was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the
selection and appointment of the external auditor during the year under
review.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 July 2006. As at the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consisted of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Fong Kong,
Francis (as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEER®SE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
remuneration proposals made by the management, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and structure of
the Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management. Details of the duties and powers of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review
the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of
individual executive Director and senior management, and make

EsZEE(H)
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recommendations to the Board. The Board will have final authority to EHTHEZEESRICHEBEER ZRIRRTER# -
approve the recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee.
There was one Remuneration Committee meeting held during the year HE-_Z_NEF=A=1+T—HLFE FTHMZE
ended 31 March 2024 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as 2% é-‘éﬁ—//\ e KNEHEERZBERDOT
follow:
Number of
meeting
Name of members attended/held
HE BT
REHH BRXH™
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis (Chairman) Bk 75 W 5 (£ ) 1”1

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael BR 5C 8 5t 4
During the year under review, the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on the Directors’ fees and remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management.

The remuneration packages of the Directors for the year ended 31 March
2024 have been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board by taking into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, duty and responsibility,
market conditions and desirability of performance-based remuneration.
Details of the emoluments of all Directors are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 March 2024 are as follows:

ERERBHRE (&)

EsZEE(H)

FHEES(H)

REBECETRZTAMEXENS SREEBASE
RBE-_Z_MF=ZA=1t-RLFEZFHF
RENMT

Number of
employee
EEBA"
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t & 1,500,000 7% 7T 2
Total T 3
Nomination Committee RAZE®
The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012. As at the REAZEENR_ZT——-F="A=Z+tHKIZ R

date of this report, the Nomination Committee consisted of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen,
Michael (as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for the annual review
of the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of candidates for directorship, appointment or re-
appointment and succession of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. Details of the
duties and powers of the Nomination Committee are set out in its written
terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

There were two Nomination Committee meetings held during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and members’ attendance at the meeting are as
follows:

AHEAH REZECHMBBYIFNTES
BRECIE 58 £ (X TF) K BRJ7 M) 58 AR ALK -

REZEGIZAEEFRIETTZRE A
BREAR(BERE AHALER) ABBREE
ANB BEZIREHNZERBEIREFSRLD
HEER URIBRBIYFNATEFTZBELIE-
RELZREZRIBERENFE %UEA,\E.EH‘HE%E
ARARR R ZMEHEE

BE_FT-_MF=ZA=+—HALFE RELXE
EERTMAGH KEHFESERZBERMT

Number of

meeting

Name of members attended/held
HE BT

REHH BRBR™
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) PRECIE ST (F /) 2/2
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis FR 73 Ml 5% A 212

0
= |‘
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERKRSE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

The Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business. In identifying and selecting
suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee would
consider the candidate’s character, qualifications, experience,
independence and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board. In evaluating
and recommending retiring Directors to the Board for re-appointment,
the Nomination Committee would also consider the overall contribution
and service of the retiring Directors to the Company, including but not
limited to the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its
committees and general meetings of the Company where applicable, in
addition to the level of participation in and performance on the Board
and/or its committees.

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee included (i) reviewing the Board diversity, including structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board; (ii) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board; (iii) reviewing the annual
confirmation of independence submitted by the independent non-
executive Directors and assessing their independence; and (vi) making
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged Ms. Huen Lai Chun, an external service provider
as its Company Secretary since 2 September 2015. With effect from 1
March 2024, Ms. Lam Sze Man, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company. She is also an executive Director of the Group.
During the year, the Company Secretary of the Company has compiled
with the professional training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Company has adopted a code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less
exacting than the required standard as set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry, all current Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year under review, the Group has complied with Principle D.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is responsible
for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while
the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are described in the sections below:

Risk Assessment System

The Group has adopted a risk management system which manages the
risks associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

o Identification: Understand business objectives, identify risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives, and the ownership of
risks.

o Evaluation: Evaluate the identified risks based on the likelihood of

the occurrence and impact level of the identified risks.

J Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework are

shown as follow:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis carrying out internal control across the
Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEER®SE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group's objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside information
and enable a consistent practice of timely, accurate and complete
disclosure of material information of the Group, the Group has adopted
policies and procedures which set out guidelines and procedures as well
as measures to handle and disseminate inside information. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include:

J The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on

behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Internal Control Advisor

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Advisor to carry out the
internal audit functions by performing independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Internal Control Advisor is independent of the
Group's daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management
and internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operational effectiveness to identify any irregularities and risks,
develops action plans and makes recommendations to address the
identified risks, and reports to the Audit Committee on any key findings
and progress of the internal audit process. The Audit Committee in turn
reports to the Board on any material issues and makes recommendations
to the Board.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management (including
environmental, social and governance risks) and internal control systems
of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is also
responsible for reviewing the internal control review reports, and
approving policies and procedures designed by the management. The
Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems and procedures
for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 by way of discussions with
the management of the Group, the members of the Audit Committee
and the Internal Control Advisor.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted by the Internal Control
Advisor, some deficiencies in the design and implementation of
operational controls were identified and recommendations were
proposed for improvement for the year under review. The Company has
put in place the recommended measures to improve those operational
controls.

The Board, through its review and the review made by the Internal
Control Advisor and Audit Committee, concluded that, the risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective and
no significant control failings or weaknesses was identified during the
year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERKRSE (F)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 was audited by Mazars. During the year under review, the
remuneration payable to Mazars for their statutory audit services
amounted to HK$1,400,000 and there was no remuneration payable to
Mazars for their non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare consolidated
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent
to its operations and relevant to the consolidated financial statements,
have made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable,
and have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. The responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
those of the auditor to the Shareholders are set out on pages 67 to 68 of
this annual report.

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group. The Directors are aware of the reported loss of
approximately HK$33,704,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024, as
well as the Group’s net current liabilities of approximately
HK$350,442,000 and net liabilities of approximately HK$374,730,000 as
at 31 March 2024. As at the same date, the Group’s borrowings and
liability component of convertible bonds amounted to approximately
HK$246,295,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$1,697,000 only. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern
As stated in the Independent Auditor’s Report, the Auditor was unable to
obtain sufficient audit evidence regarding the use of going concern
assumption in the preparation of the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements (the “Audit Issue”). The Auditor was of the view that, the
execution of the plans and measures of the Group is still in progress.
Uncertainty exists as to whether the Group will be able to achieve its
plans and measures and to continue as a going concern.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern
(continued)

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis as the Directors had given careful consideration to the
impact of the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group and
were satisfied that:

During the past years, the Group has demonstrated its capabilities
to raise funds despite difficult market conditions. The Management
is actively seeking opportunities for fund-raising, including but not
limited to, placing and rights issue, depending on the prevailing
market conditions and the development of the Group’s core
businesses;

ii. The Group will continuously take measures to tighten cost control
over various costs to attain profit and operating cash inflows and
implement various strategies such as diversifying the application of
our DGDB technologies in other more profitable and larger scale
industries, in particular, the mining industry to enhance the
Group's revenue; and

iii.  The Group will continue to negotiate with its creditors for
extension of its debts when fall due and approach various financial
institutions to explore further possibility of debt or equity financing
to lower its gearing ratio and finance costs and to improve its
capital structure.

The management of the Company (the “Management”) had used their
best endeavours to provide information to the Auditor including (i) a cash
flow forecast covering a period up to 30 September 2025 on the basis
that the Group’'s aforementioned plans and measures would be
successful; (ii) its fund-raising planning progress; (iii) its discussion
progress with major creditors in relation to loan capitalisation; (iv)
negotiation progress on settlement of litigation; (v) effectiveness of cost
control; and (vi) the latest operation situation of the Group such as
established business collaborations in regard to the convergence media
business and the dry grinding and dry beneficiation ("DGDB") business
to demonstrate that the Group would have sufficient working capital to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve
months from 31 March 2024.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Management's view and
assessment and based on the information provided to the Auditor and
the past performance of the Directors addressing the going concern
issue, the Audit Committee agreed to the Management’'s position
concerning this Audit Issue.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEER®SE (F)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern
(continued)

The Auditor was of the view that the outcome of the action plan are
subject to multiple uncertainties. In respect of fund-raising plan/loan
capitalisation plan, apart from the placing of new shares under general
mandate (the “Placing”), the plans in relation to large-scale fund-raising
exercise plans have not yet been finalised and no definitive documents in
relation to debt or equity financing or loan capitalisation have been
provided. In respect of the future cashflow generated from the DGDB
business, although there has been approximately HK$5.6 million revenue
generated from distribution of titanium dioxide for the year ended 31
March 2024, no new definitive business cooperation agreements signed
with potential customers have been provided to the Auditor to ascertain
the cash inflow. Therefore, it was unable for them to ascertain whether
the assumptions made by the Directors in preparing the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis were appropriate.

The Management has explained the situation of the Group to the Auditor
from time to time. In light of the Company’s financial position and
uncertainties of the economic environment which may affect the appetite
of financial institutions for fund-raising activities and the consumption
demand of our customers, the Management understands the view of the
Auditor.

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the
“Action Plan”)

Since the publication of the annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Company has conducted the following
measures to address the going concern issue including but not limited to:

(i) Fund-raising activities

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with a subscriber. The total principal amount of the
convertible bonds issued under specific mandate is RMB20,000,000
(the “SM Convertible Bonds"”). The SM Convertible Bonds is at
2% coupon rate with 3-year maturity. A maximum of 10,335,917
conversion Shares will be allotted and issued by the Company
under specific mandate with conversion price of HK$2.25 per
conversion share pursuant to the subscription agreement upon full
conversion of the SM Convertible Bonds.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern
(continued)
Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the
“Action Plan”) (continued)
(i) Fund-raising activities (continued)
The issue of SM Convertible Bonds has been completed on 30 June
2023. The net proceeds from the subscriptions is approximately
HK$23.134 million which was applied as to:

1. approximately HK$11.986 million for the multi-media
technologies and convergence media business and DGDB
business; and

2. approximately HK$11.148 million for initiating and
preparation of pilot machinery of the iron ore DGDB
business.

On 7 May 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent (the “Placing Agent”). Upon the completion
of the Placing, an aggregate of 13,418,000 placing shares at the
placing price of HK$1.070 per placing share will be allotted and
issued under general mandate to not less than six placees. The net
proceeds from the placing will be approximately HK$13.5 million
which shall be applied as to:

1. approximately HK$9.3 million for the settlement of the
outstanding liabilities of the Group;

2. approximately HK$2.7 million for the development of the
business of the Group; and

3. approximately HK$1.5 million as general working capital of
the Group.
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GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the
“Action Plan”) (continued)
(i) Discussion with major creditors

1.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the convertible
bonds to Yulong Computer Telecommunication Scientific
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. has been converted to the ordinary
shares of the Company upon maturity in accordance with
the terms and conditions set out in the subscription
agreement and the supplemental subscription agreement
dated 21 April 2022 and 14 June 2022 respectively.

There has been significant progress in discussion with a
major creditor of converting the overdue third-party loan
with principal and interest payables amounting to
approximately HK$148 million to a long-term convertible
bond for the year under review. Last year, the Company
expected that both parties would be able to enter into the
relevant agreements during Q4 2023 or Q1 2024. During the
period, the Company tried its best efforts to negotiate with
the creditor to get more favourable terms to the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. It takes slightly longer than
expected to reach an agreement between each other and
complete the necessary approval process. Therefore, the plan
had not been executed for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Most of the terms have been substantially finalised and
agreed by both parties. The execution of the relevant
documents is undergoing internal approval procedure,
whereas the counter party is going through legal and
governmental approval process. Therefore, the Company
expects that the proposed conversion plan could be executed
and completed in Q3 2024. This will improve the financial
position of the Company by reducing the current liabilities
position of the Company.

(i)  Actively seeking opportunities for debt or equity financing

The Group had obtained various short-term loans from

independent third parties to fulfil the funding needs of the Group.

The Company will further seek debt or equity financing as and

when opportunities arise.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent

Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the

“Action Plan”) (continued)

(iv)  Extension of loan repayment period
The Group had successfully reached an agreement with certain
lenders to extend the loans in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$8.5 million and the loans will be subject to renewal semi-
annually and annually upon the approval from the lenders.

The amount of approximately HK$8.5 million consists of two loans.

(@)  Loan from a third party with amount of HK$5 million which
was matured on 17 October 2023 has been extended to 2
August 2024.

(b)  An employee with amount of HK$3.5 million which was
matured on 1 December 2023 has been extended to 1
December 2024.

(v)  Enforcing cost-saving measures
From time to time, the Company has eliminated any unnecessary
or redundant tasks in order to reduce administrative cost. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the administrative cost dropped by
18% as compared to the same period ended 31 March 2023.
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GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the
“Action Plan”) (continued)
(vi)  Seeking further business opportunities in relation to its operation

(a)

Convergence media business

The Group timely reviews its resources to strategically utilize
them in its core business segments. The Group saw a digital
revolution in the media industry and in response to the post-
pandemic and volatile economy, the Group has put more
focus on and allocated more resources to its convergence
media and e-commerce business rather than its traditional
multi-media business.

The Group also identified the business sectors that are more
promising such as automobile and fast-moving consumer
products such as healthy food and drinks. The diversification
of its convergence media business could enhance the
revenue of the Group in the coming financial year.

DGDB business

The Group has actively promoted the DGDB business,
building on the success of last year's pilot testing on
hematite and limonite ores. Benefiting from favorable
national policies, the Group received increasing interests
from local governments and state-owned enterprises in our
technologies. The Group has also widened its beneficiation
technology application to include tailings recycling. Tailings
and tailings derivative products processing, along with the
sales of the processed manufacturing material, have become
a key downstream segment within the DGDB business value
chain. During the year, the Group ventured into titanium
dioxide distribution in China, laying the groundwork for
future deployment of DGDB technologies and processing
business for various iron ores.

DGDB business has commenced generating revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2024. It is expected that the DGDB
business could improve the Group's profitability and bring in
positive cashflow in coming years.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Actions to be taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue

The recovery of the global economies is fraught with uncertainties. The

investors are adopting a more conservative approach when selecting their

investment options. Moreover, the Company’s financing options are

limited due to the impact of rising interest rates. The Management has

used their best endeavour to deliver their commitments on resolving the

going concern issue. Since FY2019, the total liabilities of the Company

decreased from approximately HK$626,336,000 to approximately
HK$443,020,000 as of 31 March 2024, representing a decrease of
29.3%. The Company is still discussing with financial institutions or
potential investors on the large-scale fund-raising plan to resolve the
Audit issue. After reviewing and evaluating the Action Plan, the Company
has revised the Action Plan to address the Audit Issue, and the
Management will continue to execute the Action Plan to address the
disclaimer of opinion. Some of the revised strategies are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Planning for a large-scale fund-raising exercise

Upon the completion of the Placing, the Company will use the
proceeds from the Placing to repay outstanding liabilities of
approximately HK$9.3 million, this will help reduce the amount of
current liabilities of the Company. The Company has been in the
process of contemplating a larger scale financing plan and may be
by way of various financing means, including but not limited to
rights issue, placing or subscription of shares and/or convertible
bonds. The Company also intends to apply the proceeds for the
repayment of trade and other payables and other borrowings and
also for further expansion of the current business segments of the
Group. As at the date hereof, the Company is in negotiation but
has not finalised any large-scale fund-raising plans (including the
amount of fund-raising and the fund-raising method) with any
financial institutions/investors. The success of the fund raising is
subject to the market sentiment and appetite of financial investors.
The Company will use its best endeavour to finalise the fund-
raising plans as soon as possible depending the improvement of
the market sentiment. It is expected that the Company will start
the large-scale fund-raising exercise during Q4 2024 or 1H 2025.

Discussion on loan restructuring

The Company has concluded a discussion with a creditor of
converting a substantial independent third-party loan with principal
and interest payable amounting to approximately HK$148 million
to be a long-term convertible bond. The execution of the relevant
documents is undergoing internal approval procedure; whereas the
counter party is going through legal and governmental approval
process. The Company expects that the conversion plan could be
executed and completed in Q3 2024. This will extend the payment
schedule and improve the financial position of the Company by
reducing the current liabilities position of the Company.
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GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Actions to be taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue

(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Extension of loan repayment period and repayment of loans
From time to time, the Company will review its borrowings and
loans schedule and evaluate the needs to extend the repayment
period subject to the Group’s financial position and future cash
flow.

The Company is discussing with other lenders to extend the
repayment period of loans. The creditors with loan amount of
approximately HK$6,912,000 and HK$5,349,000 have preliminary
agreed to extend the repayment period of their loans to 3 years
from the year ended 31 March 2024 respectively. The Company
expects that the loan extension agreements can be executed during
Q3 2024 to Q4 2024. The Company will also settle its borrowings
with total amount of approximately HK$11,000,000 by the
proceeds from current fund raising activities.

Exploring different business opportunities in relation to its
operation

Details are included in the Business Review of the Management
Discussion and Analysis section.

The Management will continue to implement the revised Action
Plan to enhance the financial performance and improve the cash
flow of the Group. In addition, the Group will seek potential
opportunities to bring synergies to the Group and increase its
revenue stream.

Based on the above revised Action Plan, the Company expects that
the current liabilities would be reduced significantly and the
financial position would further improve for the year ending 31
March 2025. The Management has communicated with the
Auditor in regard to the above revised Action Plan. The Directors
have shown their capability to implement the above revised Action
Plan and the positive results of such plan. The Auditor concurred
with the Management that if the above actions or measures can be
executed successfully, resulting in significant improvement in
financial position, the Auditor is of the view that the disclaimer of
opinion can be removed for the year ending 31 March 2025.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted its Board Diversity Policy since August 2013
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees board diversity as an essential element in achieving a
sustainable and balanced development. In reviewing Board composition,
the Nomination Committee will consider balancing of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board members’ appointments will be based on merit, having
due regard to the overall effective function of the Board as a whole.

The Nomination Committee will review the relevant measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and the Board Diversity
Policy, and make recommendations on any required changes to the Board
for consideration on an annual basis.

For the year under review, the Board has achieved the measurable
objectives set for achieving diversity on the Board, and reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
considered the Board Diversity Policy as effective.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general meeting
Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-
law 58, the Shareholder(s) holding as at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
with the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the said date.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact
details (including name, address, telephone number and email address)
to the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at Suites 3706—
3708, 37/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at general meetings
of the Company.

Procedures for putting proposals at a general meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
general meetings of the Company. Proposals shall be directed in writing
with contact details (including name, address, telephone number and
email address) to the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at
Suites 3706-3708, 37/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are
available on the website of the Company.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals are
appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for approval at
the next general meeting of the Company to be convened by the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company communicates with its Shareholders and investors through
various channels including publication of interim and annual reports,
announcements, circulars, press releases and other corporate
communications and publications available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The Company
encourages their participation through general meetings where they
meet and exchange views with the Board, and exercise their right to vote
at general meetings.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (continued)

To promote the communication between the Company and its
Shareholders, the Company has established its Shareholders
Communication Policy which will be reviewed on an annual basis to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory
and other requirements.

The Shareholders Communication Policy aims to set out the provisions
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders (both individual and
institutional) and, in appropriate circumstances, the investment
community at large, are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company (including
its financial performance, strategic goal and plans,
developments, governance and risk profile),

material
in order to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in informed manner, and to allow
Shareholders and the investment community to engage actively with the
Company.

For the year under review, the Board has reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy to ensure the best practices for communication
with Shareholders and reviewed the shareholder and investor
engagement and communication activities conducted during the year
under review, and was satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company is published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

To, among others, (i) bring the Bye-laws in alignment with amendments
made to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Bermuda; (ii) allow
general meetings to be held by electronic means or in the form of a
hybrid meeting; and (iii) incorporate certain housekeeping amendments,
the Board proposed to amend and restate the Bye-laws. The proposed
amendments to the Bye-laws and adoption of the amended and restated
Bye-laws were approved at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 September 2022.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no other change to the
constitutional document of the Company during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code on directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board
will be informed and relevant.

All Directors have provided their training records for the year under
review to the Company pursuant to the CG Code. The individual training
record of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2024 is summarised

ESEREEERRE
EEYNETREETUNZTAMEXA21 AEA
MEESHRMENEMM PG ZEI - AR
REREESELHMBARBZER -

FREFCRECETAAARARKFEERD
BEEAZBIRLE - RBEE T _MONF=H
=St+t-BLFEE ZEEMEX ZEHEIL

below: Bt

Type of
Name of Directors trainings
BEEpnG 3 S 5 Bl
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Wang Bin (Chairman) EWERE(FE) A, B
Mr. Zhang Yi (Vice Chairman) RIS E (B EE) A B
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) MEEL L (7TBAEH) A, B
Ms. Lam Sze Man MEFG A L A,
Independent non-executive Directors: BYHTES:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis BR 77 Ml 5t A& A'B
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael PR A0 JE St A& A'B
Mr. Feng Man Vi Bt A, B
A:  Attending seminars/conferences/training sessions and reading materials A HEEHACEES ETHHEBENRLED

relating to corporate governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities,
and updates on rules, laws and/or regulations relating to listed
companies

B: Reading newspapers/journals/articles and in-house briefings relating to
the economy, general business, and/or the Company’s business
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
(continued)

Every newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive and
tailored induction on his/her first appointment so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and of his/her duties, responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing briefing and
professional development to Directors, whenever necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance with the same by them.

All Directors have been provided with updates by the Group’s
management, giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group's performance, position, recent developments and prospects in
sufficient details to keep them abreast of the Group's affairs and
facilitate them to discharge their duties under the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for directors’ liabilities in respect of potential
legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities of
the Group. Such directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed and
renewed annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no claim has been made against
the Directors.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The aim of the dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to the
Shareholders the funds surplus to the operating needs of the Group. The
distribution of dividend depends upon, among others, the financial
performance, future funding needs of the Company and the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M 1% BUAD e E

forvss
mazars

To the shareholders of
CHINA BAOLI TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69
to 224, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

As stated in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
incurred a loss of approximately HK$33,704,000 for the year ended 31
March 2024 and as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$350,442,000 and the Group had
net liabilities of approximately HK$374,730,000. As at the same date,
the Group’s borrowings and liability component of convertible bonds
amounted to approximately HK$246,295,000 in total, while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$1,697,000 only. The
circumstances and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
operate as going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

As explained in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Directors on
a going concern basis, the validity of the going concern basis dependent
on the assumption that the Group would be successful in obtaining
sufficient future funding. Due to the uncertainty of the Group’s ability to
maintain adequate future cash flows, we were unable to ascertain
whether the assumptions made by the Directors in preparing the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis are proper
and appropriate.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the use of going concern assumption in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Should the going concern assumption
be inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively,
write-down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts and to
provide for further liabilities which may arise.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZEMBE (F)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. However,
because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

This report is made solely to you, as a body in accordance with section 90
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume any responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Wai

Practising Certificate number: P05708
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

=]
s

BE@mR

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
=S FET FET
Revenue LN 7 55,294 53,598
Cost of revenue W A B A (45,856) (46,660)
Gross profit E H 9,438 6,938
Other income, gains and losses, net B A -~ W R EsiE R 9 15,679 9,781
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHR (2,627) (4,823)
Administrative expenses THEA (32,655) (39,911)
Impairment loss on intangible assets mILEEREBERE 21 (1,196) -
Impairment loss under expected credit loss FEHIE EHEERXT 2
model, net of reversal EEE (R ERE) 11 (10,291) (128)
Impairment loss on goodwill Bz REEE 20 (1,688) (47,878)
Gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities SH & & &t & & W 25 - 56,991
Share of loss of associates DIREEE R FEE 22 (26) (19)
Finance costs & A 10 (10,338) (10,956)
Loss before tax BB AT 18 13 (33,704) (30,005)
Income tax expense s fRim 12 - (53)
Loss for the year rEEEBR (33,704) (30,058)
Loss for the year attributable to: UATATEEERFEFEER:
— Owners of the Company . WNGCIEF SN (30,775) (24,273)
— Non-controlling interests —JEE RS 40 (2,929) (5,785)
(33,704) (30,058)
Loss per share: BRER:
Basic and diluted ERKR#E 17 HK$(0.38)i8 t  HK$(0.37)% 7T

o0
l‘
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBRakEMEE KNSR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Loss for the year KEERFIE (33,704) (30,058)
Other comprehensive income Htt2EKA
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to R B P HEEm s HA -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising from translation of M EBIINEBEELEZIELZH
foreign operations 75 4,206
Other comprehensive income for the year, net REFZEMEERARAER)
of income tax 75 4,206
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEXHEEARE (33,629) (25,852)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: DTATEEZEBEBRERE:
— Owners of the Company S WNEIE ¥ =N (30,730) (20,336)
— Non-controlling interests — RS (2,899) (5,516)
(33,629) (25,852)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= B SR O R

At 31 March 2024 R-E-_ME=A=+—H

2024 2023
—ZE-MEF —EBE-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FET

Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BE K&E 18 439 549
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 2,401 5,040
Goodwill ma 20 5,216 6,904
Intangible assets mEEE 21 2,227 3,467
Derivative financial instruments PTESHBITA 29 17 -
Interest in associates REEE RAE 2w 22 269 248
10,569 16,208

Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 Kk EtERIE 23 56,024 40,048
Bank balances and cash RITEBEES 24 1,697 7,363
57.721 47,411
Current liabilities REBEE

Trade and other payables ENE S REMIRIE 25 190,278 161,343
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,712 1,925
Contract liabilities EHEE 27 1,079 3,095
Tax payable FE TR IE 3,090 3,090
Borrowings (=8¢ 28 212,004 221,474
408,163 390,927
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (350,442) (343,516)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABEE (339,873) (327,308)

Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 26 566 3,366
Borrowings BE 28 2,043 -
Liability component of convertible bonds AMBREFAESS 29 32,248 10,427
34,857 13,793
NET LIABILITIES BEFEHE (374,730) (341,101)

TEREINRERERAR

0
E!’4
|
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

mAMBARRR ()

At 31 March 2024 R-—ZE-_ME=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 3 FTERT FET
Capital and reserves EXREHE
Share capital % A 31 840 7,260
Reserves it 1 (361,219) (336,909)
Equity attributable to owners of the CompanyZX A 7] # & A & {6 1 %5 (360,379) (329,649)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 RR 40 (14,351) (11,452)
TOTAL DEFICIT B AR (374,730) (341,101)
These consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 224 were BOOHZEE2AEMNGAVBBRENR T _MF
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June NAZT N\BEZESHERTERE  ThaMN
2024 and signed on its behalf by: TALTREESE:
Director Director
nE=E MEFH
Chu Wei Ning Lam Sze Man
BF )

Y
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE

—=_

mErE

— = —

S
~

m

RS

ME=A=+—HILFE

AREEEAEE
Shares
Convertible held under
Capital bonds Share  Contingent share award Non-
Share Share ~ redemption Special Contributed Other equity option consideration  scheme  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve  reseve suplus reserve reserve  reserve reserve  reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
RERH
Ak #itdl
BERE EHEE  BRE GAARE AREEH HER
kA RAEE BE BHEE SRR EbREE L & iR fE EXGE ZHER N 353 #%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér Tz TR TEr TEx  TEr  TEr  TEx  TER  TEr  TEm T  TEnr  fEn  TEx
(Notea) ~ (Noteb)  (Notec)  (Note 29)
(Wita)  (Wip) (Mo (Wit29)
At 1 April 2022 RZZZZ§MA-8 5883 2,223,505 13878 78,176 1,053,400 55,169 - 5,500 25,800 (16) 2,161 (3818917)  (355,461) (8,446)  (363,907)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - - -3 (8213 (5785 (30,0%8)
Other comprehensive income for the year &% & £ 12 F i3
Items that may be reclassified subsequently ~ Ef AT EF A EEERIHE ¢
to profit or foss:
Exchange differences arising on translation  EHENEREELELEE
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - - 3937 - 3937 269 4,206
Other comprehensive income for the year, X £ E £t 2 H W A (R &5)
net of income tax - - - - - - - - - - 3937 - 3937 269 4,206
Total comprehensive income (loss) FEERANAHE)ER
for the year - - - - - - - - - - 3931 (4273)  (20,336) (5516)  (25,852)
Transactions with owners of the Company 2K A FARBA 2R 5
Issue of shares in respect of share subscription 5t f 2% 7R 1210 5759 - - - - - - - - - - 6,969 - 6,969
Issue of consideration shares BARERR 167 2563 - - - - - - (25800) - - - - - -
Issue of convertible bonds EhUARES - - - - - LY ] - - - - - 54T - 2541
Non-controllng interests acquired from B EHA HRBEHFELRER
business combination - - - - - - - - - - - - - (198) (198)
Disposal of equity interest of a subsidiary ~ H& ~F KX T8 2
without losing control HERDNRE - - - - - B! - - - - - - 13700 16 1536
Contributions from non-controlling interests 3 72t i & 1 & - - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,084 1,084
Total transactions with owners HARNAREALRAAE
of the Company 1317 31,392 - - - 13,702 25477 - (25800) - - - 46,148 2510 48,658
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=F§=R=1-8 7,260 2,254,897 13878 78,176 1,053,400 68,871 25477 5,500 - (16) 6,098 (3843,190) (329,649)  (11452) (341,101)

FEEOREERERAE 202324 FERS

.

=



Non-

A1 Aprl 2023 BoZ-zEmA-A

Loss for the year FEEER

Other comprehensive income FEEEMZERA
for the year

ltems that may be reclassified HEUENFBZEE IR
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on BEENERRELL
translation of foreign operations EXZE

Other comprehensive income AEEEMZERA
for the year, net of income tax (B F &%)

Total comprehensive income (loss) AFE2EUA (E8) 4%
for the year

Transactions with owners ARRAREAZRS
of the Company

Capital reduction (Note 31(a)) RAHE (K E316)

Issue of shares on conversion of RTRRESFABTRG
convertble bonds (Note 31(d)) (F&E310)

Total transactions with owners ~ EAXREAAZRZLE
of the Company

At 31 March 2024 R-B-BE=A=t-A
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Exchange Accumulated controlling
reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
FER
EXff  2itEE Nt [ $:4 3
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
F#x F#n F#n &R T#n
6,098 (3843,190)  (329,649) (11452  (341,101)
2 (30,775) (30,775) (2,929 (33,704)
[ - 45 30 5
45 - 45 30 75
45 (30,775) (30,730) (2,899) (33,629)
6143 (3873965  (360,379)  (14351)  (374,730)




Notes:

(a)

Consolidated Statement of Chonges in Equity (continued)

meRmBER (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HIFE

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal amount of share capital of its subsidiaries
acquired at the date of the group reorganisation.

The contributed surplus of the Group consists of:

) the difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of
the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by the
Company, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation;

ii) the cancellation of an amount of approximately HK$48,000,000
from the share premium account of the Company and the credit
of an amount of approximately HK$610,247,000 of the
Company'’s share capital cancelled in financial year 2001/2002;

iii) the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000 from the
placing of warrants in 2002 that had expired in 2003; and

iv) the amounts of HK$368,434,000 and HK$6,534,000 resulting
from the Company's capital reduction in financial year
2021/2022 and financial year 2023/2024 respectively. Details of
the capital reduction are set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend,
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

(a)

(b)
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AEBEZHARBEN
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

RARDEER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

(0

(d)

The other reserve represented:

(U]

(i)

Capital injection from an investor of approximately
HK$46,962,000 in relation to the disposal of certain equity
interest in a subsidiary not resulting in the Group losing control
over that subsidiary in financial year 2017/2018. On 19 March
2020, the Group and the investor entered into a supplemental
agreement pursuant to which the Group and the investor agreed
to extend the completion of the disposal to not later than 18
March 2021. On 19 March 2021, the Group and the investor
entered into another supplemental agreement pursuant to which
the Group and the investor agreed to further extend the
completion of the disposal to not later than 18 March 2022. As
at 31 March 2024, the disposal had not been completed, the
Group is still negotiating with the investor; and

Transactions with non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$21,909,000 in total for the changes in the Group's
ownership interest in subsidiaries which did not result in the
Group losing control over those subsidiaries in financial years.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company had no

reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2024
and 2023.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nVTAEEvﬁlﬂbE%%

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

Y 1 EE S JE| Sap 5 ek

2024 2023
—EC-E —ET-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 31 FET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETH
Cash used in operations KEEBMARS 36(a) (12,533) (34,595)
Tax paid B IE - (53)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMARLSFER (12,533) (34,648)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E M  BE K& #E (81) (141)
Net cash inflow from acquisition WHEMBRABMEEHRESMAFE
of subsidiaries - 599
Net cash (used in) from REFTH(FA)ABREFSE
investing activities (81) 458
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il & T B
Interest paid ERFE 36(b) (5,716) (1,425)
New borrowings raised HigEE 36(b) 2,736 2,030
Repayment of borrowings BEBE 36(b) (1,440) -
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE 36(b) (2,136) (1,948)
Advance from shareholders and directors, net fi% 5 & & %= #4 J$ 58 36(b) 2,586 226
Net proceeds from issue of convertible bonds % 17 7] 4 J% & % ~ B 18 7% 18 % 58 23,134 11,945
Net proceeds from issue of shares in respect #t %17 R 8 % 170D
of share subscription i8R 5 - 6,969
Contributions from non-controlling interests 3F 4% f% & %5 H & - 1,084
Net cash from financing activities MEZTHMERSFEEHE 19,164 18,881
Net increase (decrease) in cash and BeRESESHEEBEHEM
cash equivalents (R 2)F58 6,550 (15,309)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzReRRE&EHEER
beginning of year 7,363 28,493
Effect on exchange rate changes EXREHH & (12,216) (5,821)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, FX 2 RS R RS L HEER
represented by bank balances and cash UBITHEHERERT 1,697 7,363
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CORPORATION INFORMATION

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Suites 3706-3708, 37/F, Dah
Sing Financial Centre, 248-256 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company collectively referred to as the “Group”) are multi-media
technologies and convergence media business, dry grinding and
dry beneficiation business and other operations — investment,
securities trading and tourism and hospitality business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and relevant to the Group
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

ARER
PEENMKERERRA(ERRF]D IR
BREAMK L2 ERE2ER LA Bk M
EBEBBERXSMARRAR ([T ER
£ o AN Az 5 ¥ B AR Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda  MEBE X EZXE RN BB
A 25 KB R 248-256 57 AT & @b+ 037
1£3706-3708 & °

ARBZEIEXEBREEZR MAHRBAR
BAERARASBEIAEEDZ EZ2EBR
ZHRERMERREBEY LEZBEEBN
MEMEB-—IRE BHFEENMKRENEH
Ev

BAMBRRARNQRR 2D EHEET(E
DER I

ARBREAGEHBREANAEEZERESL
B o

BRHREIERUBREEN(E

BB HREEL]

21 RAESFERHERNESEUBHEE
B2 &3]
RAEE AEECEXRERTIE
AEAMAS(EEEAMAE )R
HE BB RE LR 2T (BRE
AR ZE_=FOA-BRZEMES
MEEHMHEEG AR BRAEES
W) ARRESFHRE:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting EBGEER EEHBERZEE
Policies 1R ZEE]

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting ARG 4R GrHhETZE R
Estimates FE8RZIEE]

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BX G 4R HEBXHEEN
and Liabilities arising from F12WziEs] EBEERAEGEEHW
a Single Transaction IR 3T 7 18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

2.1

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the consolidated
financial statements. Management has reviewed the
disclosure of accounting policy information and considered it
is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of Accounting
Estimates
The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on recognition, give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2. BRI/ REITEBUBREEN(E
BUBHREEM]D(E)

2.1

TEREINRERERAR

REFEBRHERNEBUBHEE

Bl Z 85T ()
BEBETEREIRZIET Bt HR
ZHRE

ZEBITERRARBEHLERNSF]
REM MIFEIBGHHE-

ZEETHGEAMBRERPEMIEAR
BitE WMRBAZINHETER - B8
EeEHGHRKEHNNEE BA
HEET 8-

EBE EREHZIEFT - Bt fhat
ZES
ZEEFTMA AR EY ST HERE
SeftEFEFHMURD -

RMZECTTEHRAUBWMRE
EEMEATZE -

EBEHERFEI12K 255 - HEEF
REELEWEEREBFHNEZH
"

ZEBA RN BEGFERE12RSE
S R2ABMERRRBE  RETE
EAREERKELERERBTMA
HREHERNR S -

RMZECI T e R BWMRE
EEMEAFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 2.2
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

BRHEREIERBUBREEN(E
BUBHREEM]D(E)

CHEMEMERERZHTEBMB R
EEAREBET

AREBEYEREEEMATFEEMHE M
REMZHABTRBHBHRELENRE

yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HK
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current'

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants !

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause !

Supplier Finance
Arrangements '

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback'

Lack of Exchangeability ?

Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture 3

EHI

B G ER HEESHEARY

F1| BT %I ED

HEE G 2R B 75 22 55 1) 3E 7 B

B 2B BE

EERE B IS IRER Y —

FESRZAEET BEAHNES
BREEREER
1R EE B E
Eobagsl

EB G AR HERREZH

FEIRRES

B 7% s & 22 B

FIHR2AEET

EEMBRE ERMEEzHEE

BB 1655 afE

ZAEET

BEGER Bz A M 2

F215% 25T

BEEMBRE & & & B

EHIEI10HEN  ARSHALEDE

BB G 2R ZEMEEDLE

F282EFT  FEE?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025
3 The effective date to be determined

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the results and financial position
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs,
which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations
issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Companies Ordinance (“CO"). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 except for the adoption of the new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group as detailed in Note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
derivative financial instrument which is measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

®
3.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3 REUBBRREVEE(E

statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technigue that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

RFERMES2EEZRETERE
TAEFXZERHEEERMKKE
BEBEXNZER mA®mZERD
ERBEEMSERNAE MG E RN
hat - REFFEERBBEZ A TFER
FEEGERMSE2RELEFERR
ZEENEABEEREEZER K
ZERAVBRRPFAEBER LAHE
ZRFEHREEEEET EEEY
BREENE2WR ARG HEE 2
RBEEAZABRND RERZARKZS
REFZEVHRSENFE16HFHEEA
R2HEHERSZ UWREARXFEELE
WIFAFEZEWIWEL S E
F2RBFET AR FELRTES
FHERIECREERETZEREE)
B o o

BRAVTERGzZe®MI A LRER
HEERATNABE 28 ARBGTE
RFAEZ S E R - S E B E TR
I UERVTERE [ ERMN S
REANRXZER -

s M BREMS - A FEFE
ERAVEFEZGARBAIERRE
ERRATFEFEZGABBRY LERE
ZEBUNBAFEE FE_EXF
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. E-BOABBRERNGE
BAIsi AR &EE KA RNERE
MHESZRECRERE)

. E_EBAHMBAREERE
BEUEZAMBEBLBERELE 2
BABERE-"EBREREZ®E

BRoN) 5 R
. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or . E-ERABRBREELAR
liability. Z A B R E A SR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss of HK$33,704,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and as of that date, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$350,442,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
HK$374,730,000 as at 31 March 2024. As at the same date,
the Group’s borrowings and liability component of
convertible bonds amounted to HK$246,295,000, while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$1,697,000 only.
These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business. Notwithstanding
the above, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors have
given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and are satisfied
that:

(1) Fund-raising activities

The Group has completed the issue of convertible
bonds in the principal amount of RMB20,000,000
(equivalent to HK$23,256,000) on 30 June 2023 and
will continue to seek various fund-raising opportunities
based on market conditions and the development of
its core businesses. The Group will seek advice from
the financial advisors and consultants in conducting
these fund-raising activities.

e B RMEE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3.
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Going concern (continued)
(2) Loan capitalisation
The convertible bonds to Yulong Computer
Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd has
been converted to the ordinary shares of the Company
upon maturity in accordance with the terms and
conditions set out in the subscription agreement and
the supplemental subscription agreement dated 21
April 2022 and 14 June 2022 respectively. The
Company has been actively negotiating with creditors,
including directors and shareholders, for loan
capitalisation and is confident that more creditors will
agree to the loan capitalisation plans in the coming
financial year. Completion of the loan capitalisation
may be subject to, amongst others, the grant of listing
approval of the issue of new shares by the Stock
Exchange and approval by the Shareholders.

(3) Discussion with existing lenders
In order to enhance the capital structure of the
Company, we are in active discussions with the
creditors to refinance and negotiate better payment
terms and longer repayment periods.

(4) Developing business strategies for its
convergence media business segment
To mitigate uncertainties in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong markets, the Group
has been timely reviewing its resources to strategically
utilize them in its core business segments. The Group
has put more focus on and allocated more resources
to its convergence media and e-commerce business
rather than its traditional multi-media business. In
addition, the Group will continue to explore online
and offline sales and distribution on consumer food
and health beverages. This will help further diversify
the revenue base of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Going concern (continued)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Application of dry grinding and dry beneficiation
(the “DGDB”) technologies into iron and steel
industries and also diversifying into other
profitable industries

The Group’'s DGDB business has already started to
generate revenue. The Group has continued
discussions and negotiations with various iron ore or
steel mill players for further collaborations.
Additionally, the Group is also actively exploring to
apply its DGDB technologies in other industries such
as tailings recycling which can produce raw materials
for the commercial concrete and cement
manufacturing industry. Increased investment in the
iron ore DGDB business is expected to improve the
Group's profitability in the future.

Cost control

The Group will maintain cautious control over
administrative costs and capital expenditures to
preserve liquidity. Furthermore, the Group will also
continually assess additional measures to reduce
discretionary spending.

Settlement of outstanding litigations of the
Group

The Group is taking proactive steps to settle its
outstanding litigations. It aims to reach amicable
solutions regarding charges and payment terms for
unresolved claims.

Through fund-raising exercises and continuing the
abovementioned business strategies, the Directors believe
that the Group would be able to meet its financial
obligations and fulfill its operational needs while obtaining

additional financing resources in pursuing other businesses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2

Going concern (continued)

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a
period up to 30 September 2025 on the basis that the
Group's aforementioned plans and measures will be
successfully implemented, and are satisfied that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve
months from 31 March 2024. Accordingly, the Directors
consider that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, since the execution of the above
plans and measures is in progress, uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern would also depend on
its ability to generate adequate cash flows for its operation.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the failure of the Group
to obtain sufficient future funding. Should the Group be
unable to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying
amounts of the assets of the Group to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if fact and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtain
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

e B RMEE (&)

ESUSVE= T SE L2

REMBBRREHREERTESHH
(&)
3.3 FEEHEE

HeEE

TEREINRERERAR

GEMBMEBEAQRA BES 2
ERLEMNBRAAZHMB®RE - & B
WATERE  BIRTARAESE
il 7

. AW E T ITEEN

. RSBy ED 2 £%m e %
CRAERESHELOER: &
. B NEREBEIZEHDR -

WHEEERBRE R LR
A& —ELUEHE:

=R IR
AAEES

EMHEERENRERED -
AR B RSB N B R A
BRBGAEAR ERKEHE QA

ZHIER L ILEAE AR AR E
RERNBARLEZHBRR Z KA
kX REAEEHESER#EES A
t§$E@%£W§Qﬁ%%V“
ETABAERR

BakE@Ea2m B ARE BN
ARBFEAARFERERZ - MHER
AlzzHRANBESBRARFESR
ARFFEmB R BRI ReEHIFE
ERR R HIR AR -

2R 2 B R R A M B
EERNE-ES B S )b
B —H

BEAEEKERARHAETZIRSEH

ZIMBESEERANRAIBEE BfE #
= WA Sﬂiﬁiﬁiulbi\ oA R
LR

R

2023/24 *

O

87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Basis of consolidation (continued) GLEEE(E)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in other
reserve within equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-
generating units) retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3.
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements
of associates used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of losses
of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

|
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92

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFEHWA(E)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The nature of the services provided by the Group is provision
of multi-media and advertising service. Service income of
multi-media and advertising service is recognised over time
as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Sales of titanium dioxide is recognised at a point in time at
which the customer obtains the control of the promised
asset, which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress PERFRI B R WA - THKIEHEF
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation B EE 2
Output method EE%

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation in provision of certain multi-media and advertising
service is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. Time elapsed of the
service period is applied for the output method.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation in provision of certain multi-media and advertising
service is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation. The principal input applied in the
input method is cost incurred throughout the performance
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange for
dissimilar products, the Group recognises all of the
following:

(a)  revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled (therefore, revenue would not be recognised
for the products expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b)  arefund liability/contract liability; and

() an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) for its right to recover products from customers
and are presented as right to returned goods asset.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A
significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than one
year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of offices that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

J the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains one or more additional lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component. The associated non-
lease components are included in the respective lease
components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ® (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Foreign currencies (continued) sh#(48)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payment reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share-
based payment reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payment reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

ma
& (4

33

TEREINRERERAR

MBEBRREHREERTESGH R

&)

FTEEHBEE)
ESEF (&)
B R B < B 1E B 18 T ()

REMEHEERINIBERZEEBERAN
SEREEREZMEAHLEMIRER
BRABERZHFRERRESRE 2
REFE-ARBRE MEREH
AREMEAZEEREEZEME
RERBR R3S - BEEUBR
SRR ERAFHZERBEMNAE
ERCA BRI

U B E Rz 5%
NEREEARNDARERZNRR S
ETREZHERE

e 8 REHBCURSE 2 b A T 1F
HABRREEARD BER 2%
BREAHPRATIAZ ATEFE -

RELAHMEEARSEEARD
REVZNRZRAFELEEZEME
FMGRBIRME) SERAKEFG
AREREBCRATAERE REB
HIMAE RO MEm (ARD B
EW 2R E) RIMELBEE M- 7
SHEHRKR AEEGEREMER
MM SR BGRE 2 BITHRA
HEBZRATAHB ZMa - &5
REMGHBBWAB) ZEEEDRE
RBRERFEBEARREER M
i CA B {9 A B 2 A SR 4 TR R AR B
BN ELARNNREZ B
WS ELBREZOFESH
s A 4R 25 ST 88 o

ERREETREN BERUENA
EMZNRBFERIACHELERS
BOEE - SERERERR HER
RN BB ADARETE  BIBE
RUABRDAERFEEER ZBEALE
BMERFER-

2023/24 FEWE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

|

4

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ® (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Employee benefits (continued) ES%EF (&)

Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Share options granted to non-employees
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the

goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the
counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the goods
or services received are recognised as expenses (unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Share award

The Group also grants shares of the Company to employees
under its share award scheme, under which the awarded
shares are either newly issued or are purchased from the
open market. The net consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as
“Shares held under share award scheme reserve” and
deducted from equity.

For the shares granted under the share award scheme, the
fair value of shares granted to employees is recognised as
share-based payment expenses with a corresponding increase
in share-based payment reserve within equity. The fair value
is based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on
grant date plus any directly attributable incremental costs.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the shares, the total
fair value of the shares is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the shares will vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share award (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares
that vest with corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees
upon vesting, the related acquisition cost of the awarded
shares vested are credited to the “Shares held under share
award scheme reserve”, and the grant date fair value of the
awarded shares vested are debited to the share-based
payment reserve. The difference between the related
weighted average acquisition cost and the grant date fair
value of the awarded shares vested is transferred to
accumulated losses directly.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ® (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Taxation (continued) B (&

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences is not recognised. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of
the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax
authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment is tested on an annual basis and whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on other assets, other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external source of information that the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives, interest
in associates and interest in subsidiaries at company level to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of an individual asset is estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

5

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ® (&)
(continued)
3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets, other than goodwill
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3.
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3.
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. REVBEREREERTIESITHR
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Financial instruments (continued) @I AE)
Financial assets (continued) 2@ EE (B

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the "other income, gains and losses,
net” line item.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include derivative financial instruments.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
(iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Financial instruments (continued) 2/ TAE)
Financial assets (continued) 2@ EE (B
Impairment of financial assets (continued) eREEREBEE)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes
in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES R(E)
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Financial instruments (continued) 2/ TAE)
Financial assets (continued) 2 EE(E)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) eREEREBEE)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Financial instruments (continued) 2/ TAE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) 2 EEERKARE
Equity instruments AT E

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other financial
assets or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment
of distribution and redemption of principal amount
indefinitely are classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

120 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24

BATEREMBERE -—EEEMR
—UEBERRNEETANBREDEZA
W ARBBETZHRATRIZE WA
SHRB(BHRERETHRAR)ER -

KAMTATEEAEREZNR 2R
HtSREENANEETRAKER
EENEERBEEINDIRLED
AeeB)DBRERTA -

BOzARABSBRATREEERR
RERLIR - ERBA - HE &
TRAEARA BB ZEART AR
BEamRkaER B -

EREE
AESREBREIRBHEKIANE
BAZEF R AT EF ABRTE -

BATEG RS SBA R
Mo mE ERIEEARAT T AR
¥ OBZARAGRKASEARATE
CONER

HWETHERL 2REABGEEEN
CREBERWRBEIREBAH TR
AREBINROTHABTAIRIEER
BRATEF AR

© RERHBABER D FE S
B2t BRRAOT B &



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For
financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, the
changes in fair value of the embedded derivatives are
excluded in determining the amount to be presented in
other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’'s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulate losses upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, borrowings and liability component of convertible
bonds are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Financial instruments (continued) 2/ TAE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) 2@EERKAE)
Financial guarantee contracts MBERERN

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are
measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Convertible bond

The component of the convertible bond that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position, net of issue
costs. The corresponding dividends on those shares are
charged as interest expense in profit or loss.

On the issue of the convertible bond, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market rate for a
similar bond that does not have a conversion option; and
this amount is carried as a current liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in the convertible
bond equity reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company, net of issue costs. The value of the conversion
option carried in equity is not changed in subsequent years.
When the conversion option is exercised, the balance of the
convertible bond equity reserve is transferred to share capital
or other appropriate reserve. When the conversion option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance remained
in the convertible bond equity reserve is transferred to
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible bond (continued)

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bond based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised. Transaction costs that relate
to the issue of the convertible bond are allocated to the
liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of proceeds.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform in which the Group applies the practical expedient,
when the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms result
in a substantial modification from original terms taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The
exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. AV BBRRGHREERTIEEITH

STATEMENTS AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FEBHEX(E)
Financial instruments (continued) 2/ TAE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) 2@EERKAE)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (continued)
For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at
the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised
cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that
are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts
are not measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument that are separated from the host contracts are
treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless
those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3.3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the financial position of the Group indicates the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The assessment of
the going concern assumptions involves making judgement by the
management, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The management considers that the Group has ability to continue
as a going concern and the major conditions that may cast
significant doubt about the going concern assumptions are set out
in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill have been allocated, which is the higher of the value-in-
use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

During the year, impairment on goodwill of Convergence Media
CGU of HK$1,688,000 was made. Details of the estimates used to
calculate the recoverable amount are set out in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivable under simplified approach. The provision rates are based
on aging analysis as groupings of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on internal credit
ratings and the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The Group calculates the ECL for the other receivables by assessing
for ECL individually under general approach. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings and taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade and other
receivables are disclosed in Notes 6(b) and 23 to the consolidated
financial statement respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 March 2024, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
on the unused tax losses of HK$275,795,000 (2023:
HK$262,404,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key source of
estimation uncertainty.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security provided by a conservative capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of i) gearing ratio and ii) net debt-to-total
deficit ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines i) gearing ratio as
total borrowings (which include borrowings and liability component
of convertible bonds) to total deficit; and ii) net debt-to-total
deficit ratio (which include trade and other payables, contract
liabilities, lease liabilities, borrowings and liability component of
convertible bonds) less bank balances and cash. Total deficit
comprises all components of equity. The Group’s policy is to keep
that ratio at a reasonable level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_NF=ZA=+—HLFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The net debt-to-total deficit ratios as at 31 March 2024 and 2023

are as follows:

v

EXEBER(E)

R-ZEB-_NER-_Z-_=%F=A=+—H2
BB FEEBMBELLENT -

2024 2023

—E-EF —E-=%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Trade and other payables ERTE 5 Kk E fh AR 18 190,278 161,343
Contract liabilities ERBRE 1,079 3,095

Lease liabilities HEBR 2,278 5,291
Borrowings ==t 214,047 221,474
Liability component of convertible bonds AMBREEFNEELS 32,248 10,427
Total debt BB 439,930 401,630
Less: bank balances and cash W RITEBRER S (1,697) (7,363)
Net debt %% 438,233 394,267
Total deficit IS A A8 FE (374,730) (341,101)
Gearing ratio BEEBELE (65.7%) (68.0%)
Net debt-to-total deficit ratio B 5 RS B AR R L X (117%) (116%)
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to RAFKEEMHEARBESABHINA

either internally or externally imposed capital requirements.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

E®MIA
(@) EmMITIEAESR

2024 2023
e 3 —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
At FVTPL: RATFEGFAER:
— Derivative financial instruments —fTEEmI A 17 -
At amortised cost: b8 Fici g
— Trade and other receivables —RWE S EMRIE 47,391 33,788
— Bank balances — iR 1T 4 & 1,697 7,357
49,088 41,145
49,105 41,145
Financial liabilities o= =R
At amortised cost: bi7g &I iNE
- Trade and other payables ~-ENESREMIEKE 178,977 154,997
— Lease liabilities —-HEaE 2,278 5,291
- Borrowings —f&E 214,047 221,474
— Liability component of convertible bonds —A[ #iX E 5 B E 2L H 32,248 10,427
427,550 392,189

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bank balances, trade and other payables,
lease liabilities, convertible bonds and borrowings. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b) BWBEAMEEESEREE
AEBEzTIZ2eMIARAERKES
REMEE RITHESK BNESR
HmiRE HEAE ATHRRKRESFMNU
REE - ZEemMIAZFERBHE
MEKE EZSeRmITAREZRA
BB R 5 AR (8 % R R R A X mE
B) EERBRERBESRR - HH
R R F R BERER XX e
AEBEEREEEREREEABERAR
A BE (R 88 & B B R0 SR BUE 2 48 it
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ©EMIA(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMERKREEEEREE(E)
(continued)
Market risk % B B
(i) Currency risk (i) B ¥
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the REBITEZREFBRFEAR
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") with most of HAMBE(TFE]DEE RBHR
the transactions denominated and settled in HK$ and SGUBTRAREB(TAREDG
Renminbi (“RMB"). BER#EE -
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency AN B B AT I A ONE SR BUR o
hedging policy. However, the management monitors A BRESERAEY
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging EER TR ETEERERY
significant foreign currency exposure should the need JREE R IMNIE R R
arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency AEBUNE (BB & B E 8
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities e EE U2 EE)FEZE
at the end of reporting period, that are denominated BEEREBAERREHRX
in currencies other than the functional currency of the ZEmENT :
relevant group entities, are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
8 BE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=%F —E-|mE —Z-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET TET
United States Dollar ("USD")  E (£ 7)) 15,640 15,640 1 2
RMB AR 234,076 207,361 37,210 31,446
Sensitivity analysis BREE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency FEBITZEEHETLARE
risk of USD and RMB. Z N EL B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5.0% (2023: 5.0%) increase and decrease in HK$
against USD and RMB. A 5.0% (2023:5.0%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translations at the end of the reporting
period for a 5.0% (2023: 5.0%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss where HK$ strengthens 5.0%
(2023: 5.0%) against USD and RMB. For a 5.0%
(2023: 5.0%) weakening of HK$ against USD and RMB
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the

6. ERWIA(E)
(b) HMHERBREEEERKE(E)

i 4 = B (48)
() EBEEERE)
HRE N (E)

TERHALASEEHAETHET
RAREAEREBES 0% (ZF
ZZ=ZF :50%) ZHEE 5.0%
(ZZ2_Z=ZF:50%) BRI MA
TEEBABERINERRKE
FTRZBRELE TEEERE
HHNEERAgHBE SRS
B2 SUREDMERIEN
INEHEZAGLEEEBIER - 1
R EHRIZE 0% (T - =4 :
5.0%) 2 SNEER B EFHEHE -
TXEHBEBRMABTLELELR
ARBHESON(ZT - =4F:
5.0%) A FL & B 18R 2 o 88
TLRELRARBRESI% (=
TZ=F:50%) AIBEEIE

post-tax loss and the balances below would be HHBEASEmER 2ZE M~
negative. X ZEBREREa -
2024 2023
—E_NE T fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHE FAET
Decrease in loss BB
— USD Impact —EnwE 782 782
— RMB Impact —AREZE 9,843 8,796
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(if)  Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and floating-
rate borrowings, and exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to lease liabilities, fixed-rate
borrowings, fixed-rate placing notes and convertible
bonds. The Group aims at keeping borrowings at
variable rates. The Group manages its interest rate
exposures by assessing the potential impact arising
from any interest rate movements based on interest
rate level and outlook. The management will review
the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating
rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at

6.

¢RMIB(E)

(b)

BEEAREEEERBEGE)

45 m B ()

(i) =
AEBERHEAETZERTE
/? Ty 1ﬁf§zfﬁ%//m§ﬂ$@ ﬁ
THHEHEEERRE EEEE -
EEREEBRRTHRKRES Z
RFENERR - REEN BT
ERFIEEE - AEEBEA
KT R Bl & T ik A ] A X 2
PREEAMNBAETE UERBH
MERR -BERBEREZTELR
FRMEELD  THEREES
BHER -

WIFBAFEFABRRAEZ

FVTPL: TRAENNEHRX
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHKAFEZSRAE 10,338 10,956
Operational risk assessment A B AT

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's exposure
to operational risk is primarily attributable to heavy reliance
on one major customer located in Hong Kong (2023: one
major customer located in the PRC) for the segment of
multi-media technologies and convergence media business.
This major customer accounted for HK$24,760,000 or
44.8% (2023: HK$38,933,000 or 72.6%) of the Group's
total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
Directors will continue closely monitoring the performance
and financial position of this major customer to mitigate any
adverse impact on the Group's financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposure is
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risk associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets and other items under ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment assessment are
summarised as below:

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
Credit sales are made to selected customers with good credit
history. The Group reviews the credit terms of trade
receivables from time to time and allows credit terms to
well-established customers for 30 days. Efforts are made to
maintain strict control over outstanding receivables and
overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

At 31 March 2024, the Group had a concentration of credit
risk as 87.3% (2023: 81.8%) and 94.4% (2023: 98.5%) of
the total gross trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest debtor and the five largest debtors respectively.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s concentration of credit risk
by geographical location as 87.3% (2023: 81.8%) and
12.7% (2023: 18.2%) of the total gross trade receivables
was in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

6.

¢WMIB(E)

(b)

BEEABREEEERBEGE)

Credit risk (continued) =B R (&)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers HEFETEHNELNEKE HIKE
(continued) €))

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables collectively. The trade
receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to aging of
outstanding balances. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that credit terms are made to counterparties with an
appropriate credit history and the management performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its counterparties. The credit
period granted to the customers and the credit quality of
these customers is assessed, which takes into account their
financial position, past experience and other factors. Credit
limits granted to customers are reviewed periodically. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits

For other receivables, prepayments and deposits, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition. The Group have
assessed and concluded that the risk of default rate for the
other instruments are steady based on the Group assessment
of the financial health of the counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMERKREEEEREE(E)

(b)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables and deposits (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. ERWIA(E)

FEmE(E)
WA MERRAR ZE (B)
AEBZAFEERRFRFHERE

comprises the following categories: AT #E R
Internal credit Other financial
rating Description Trade receivables assets
A EETR it EWE SRR HiteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
1K = 2 RHOHUFELARRE BUBE@MABRE 2HEMNEEEE REREPEEREE
-~ EHREERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
but usually settle in full credit-impaired
ERERAE BEHRARERAMREN BREZHEEE 2HRBEEHE 12 AEBEEEE
—TEEBREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
AJ &t NI EBERRIRAEERET - > HEREEEE 2 HEMEEEE
EE R B ¥ 15 B 2R LA K 8 & 1 N —THEEREERE - UTELREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
Eia BBERPEECHREERE > HEBEEEE 2HEHEERE
—HBREERE —HBREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written-off ~ Amount is written-off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
i BRI EB A AR E BN B 48 3R I8 4 8 6 8 R I 1

i 7 S [ 3 % A AT U @ 58 H)

O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ©RWMIA(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMERKREEEEREE(E)

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment:

External Internal

credit credit 12-month or lifetime
Note rating rating ECL

HE A NEARZHELE

Wi REFE  GEFE EFR

1= B 7 Bg K 6l B &7 14
TRAMAEHAETHEMEEESR
A zEREENEERR

Gross carrying amount

REAHE

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-ZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THx FET FER

Financial assets at amortised cost

RE#RAHECEREE
Bank balances 24 AA+ N/A 12m ECL 1,657 7,357
RITEH ~EA NEARHEEER
Trade receivables 23 NA (Note i) Lifetime ECL 35,093 10,013
(Provision matrix)
EWESEE TEA (M 3E) rHEBREERE
(BfEE)
Other receivables, prepayment 23 NA (Note i) 12m ECL 34,323 31,637
and deposits
EREMEKE BRFERES TEA (W axii) NEAESHEEFE
Lifetime ECL - -
(credit-impaired)
rHBBEERE
(LREERE)
34,323 31,637
Notes: M EE
i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified i) HEKRZSHEREEMNS  AEEERE

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines ECL on trade
receivables on a collective basis, grouped by shared credit
risk characteristics and the historical observed default
rates adjusted by forward looking estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes: (continued)

i) (continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers because those customers have common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on a collective basis
by using provision matrix with lifetime ECL.

As at 31 March 2024

6. ERWIA(E)
(b) HMHERBREEEERKE(E)

1= & m B R 5 8 7718 (5
MieE s ()

0 (%)

ERAKEEERBRERN—HD
AEEFBEBANERRER
PETRENG EBRAZEEFPA
BHERORRFE  mELSHnt
REFAENBRBRANVGERIN
FrERMRIE - TRIZEREBRA
THEREEBEEANEBER
RERBELEETHIENEREES
REZEERBNER -

R-EB-_WmE=A=+—H

Trade receivables

EXEZ &S
Days past due
aHxY
Current 1-90 days  91-180 days  181-365 days Over 365 days Total
ki 1290K 9ME180K  181E365% #8365 % @t
Total gross carrying amount FERAETEL
(HK$'000) 2,416 N 8,988 16,708 6,981 35,093
Average loss rate THEERE 348% NATER 12.56% 40.87% 41.10%
Expected credit loss (HK$'000) ~ BHEEEE(TET) 84 - 1,129 6,829 2,869 10,911
As at 31 March 2023 R=Z-Z=ZF=ZA=+—8
Trade receivables
EMESEE
Days past due
jak-ipN
Current 1-90days  91-180days  181-365days  Over 365 days Total
il 1290K  91E180K 181E365K  HBi#365K &zt
Total gross carrying amount REAGE(TET
(HK$'000) 8,316 = 723 = 974 10,013
Average loss rate THER% 398%  NATER 1950%  NATEH 88.50%
Expected credit loss (HK$'000)  BHEEHBE(TEL) 331 - 141 - 862 1,334
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mE B RMEE (&

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Notes: (continued)

i) (continued)

In determining the expected credit loss of the trade
receivables as at 31 March 2024, the Group engages
Flagship Appraisals and Consulting Limited (“Flagship
Appraisals”) to perform the expected credit losses
estimations. The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors, recovery rate and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 March 2024, an additional impairment loss of
HK$9,577,000 (2023: None) on trade receivables is
recognised based on the provision matrix during the year.

The following table shows the movement of loss
allowance that has been recognised for trade receivables
under simplified approach:

¢WMIB(E)
(b) HMHERBREEEERKE(E)

1= & 3 B R 6 8 A7 14 (58)

B

€-))
€-))

ETEKESRER_-_ZT_MN
—A=+—HWMEHEEHER
SEZEHEEEETHENA
R A ([FEME & ET]) #1778 H
EEEBME - M BEXRIRNE
BABRGFHANREBEBEEEM
BHENEREKERMEET  THE
FRNLHBERALE HEIATES
WA ERMEFL AR -ERBET
MBI EER UWRREFETER
ABMHEBEERESBERN -

N
F
EN

RZE-_WNF=A=+—H0 R
REEBEEBIAEINEKE S
BR JE R (B &5 18 9,577,0008 L (=&
Z=F )

TERBTREREBTARER
BIRAHRAZERREEED

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2HEY 2HEY

FEFE EEFE

(Yt |HE (HREE
EERE) ) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-__FMA—H 425 909 1,334
Increase (Decrease) in allowance B OR 2) 47 (47) -
At 31 March 2023 RZZT_=%=RF=+—H 472 862 1,334
Increase in allowance =Rl 7,570 2,007 9,577
At 31 March 2024 R-EBE-_WE=F=+—H 8,042 2,869 10,911
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

6.

¢WMIB(E)
(b) HMHERBREEEERKE(E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 15 B 7 B K 6l B 7 12 (48)
Notes: (continued) st s (88)
i) The following table shows the movement of loss ii) TRETOHEWREMARIE AR

allowance that has been recognised for other receivables,
prepayments and deposits:

FERESERNBEREHRE

12m ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

1218 B & 58 >HEY

FEEE FEFE

(36 #% 35 (HBREE
EERME) W AE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHET
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-__FWMA—H 345 1,294 1,639
Increase (Decrease) in allowance & 1 fn (gl 4>) 1,422 (1,294) 128
At 31 March 2023 R-ZEZ=F=ZA=+—H 1,767 - 1,767
Increase in allowance B 714 - 714
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MFE=HA=+—8H 2,481 - 2,481

In determining the expected credit loss of the other
receivables, prepayments and deposits as at 31 March
2024, the Group engages Flagship Appraisals to perform
the expected credit losses estimations. The expected credit
loss has been taken into account the historical actual
credit loss experience over the past years and available
press information, adjusted for forward-looking factors
that are specific to the debtors and general economic
conditions of the industry in which the counterparties
operate, in estimating the probability of default of these
financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each
case.

REERKEMERE  ANKER
BRer _FT_MFE=A=+—H
WIEHEEBER  AEEZEHE
BEEMSETRBERBERRL -
EHEEBERCSH REEFEN
BEREBREEEBRERRATER
BAR AREBAFEANEER
ERHFHEEMETEN K
KERMEELREE UG ZED
MEAEWEOBRE  DEXBERT
BRMBERX-

0
= |‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes: (continued)

ii)

(continued)

Included in the impairment loss for other receivables,
prepayment and deposits, HK$1,275,000 (2023:
HK$943,000) represented the impairment loss on the
refundable deposits and prepayments due from the
Licensor, as defined in note 23(c)(i) to the consolidated
financial statements in aggregate of gross balances of
HK$15,063,000 (2023: HK$17,684,000) at the end of the
reporting period. No settlement was received by the
Group during the reporting period because the litigation
against the Licensor is still in progress. The details of the
litigation are set out in note 33(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements. In the opinion of the directors, there
was no detrimental event known by the Group that
indicates the amounts due from the Licensor were credit
impaired. The Group adopts a consistent approach in
estimating the expected credit loss of these amounts due
for the Licensor as other receivables with additional
consideration of the lengthened expected collection
period due to the litigation.

As at 31 March 2024, an impairment loss of HK$714,000
on other receivables, prepayments and deposits (2023:
net impairment loss of HK$128,000) is recognised during
the year.
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6. ERWIA(E)
HHEEBREEEERKE(E)

(b)

1= & 3 B R 6 8 A7 14 (58)
MieE s ()

ii)

€-))

BT FE U H fh BRTE - YE S RRIE KR
S HEEENSEE1,275,0008 (=
T = = 4 : 943,000% 7T ) 35 FE W FF
FANTRERS RENKEGE
B REA T B®EME2300) 8
WEEE RREHRNBESRB
15,063,000 (= T = =
17,684,000 7T ) B 1A & ¥ 55 57
ABFRMEETH  AEERR
EHRARKEEMEE - FAFIE
BN A B W& M RE33(G) o E
FERA - REE WA MEEATF
M RPRRETAREBEE LR
EERE - AEBERMN—BHFE
fi 51 5% 5 FE W BT A FRIE /O TR A7
EEEE - W HE A E W MR
18 (3 A B & 74 1T & /9 78 5 K
HEEMEIME) -

RZTEZWMFE=ZA=+—80" H#
FEURARIE - TR I RIZ € R E E
7140008 T (Z T =% BE
[E518IF58128,000/8 70 ) IR F NHER °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
management when the borrowings exceed certain pre-
determined levels of authority. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the
ability to close out market positions. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available and sufficient bank deposits to meet short-
term cash requirements.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had net
current liabilities of HK$350,442,000 as at 31 March 2024.
The liquidity of the Group primarily depends on the future
funding being available and the ability of the Group to meet
its financial obligations as they fall due. Details of which are
set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, certain fixed-rate borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the lenders
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

6. ERWIA(E)

(b)

TEEINRERERAR

BEEABREEEERBEGE)

REBE L EE
AEEETSEEEREARAELRY
MAEEEERE BERSAKZEHRK
EMEBERNENBRZRASFIR
HWEEBAEEEENE TREXK
PRI RIZAKEREER L HAE
E-BEZRDECRBERBERE
HBEAMREeRAEREAR BBFR
RZEAHEERESHERHEES N
ERmEFROEN - AEEE TS
BEFITHPAZEARZEE KR
FEZZEERE XRERMZRTT
TR AENEHREFE -

AEEHGERBDESRAR EEEXR
EBER -_ZT-_NE=-_RA=+—HEHAE
it Bh & & /F %1350,442,00078 T 0 K&
EmrnesEeEZRURRAIER/AR
REGRASEEENHUBETDH
Be) o HFIBEENRE M B RAMES2 -

TR AEEHEMAEZHRT ALY
FR TRIIERAEE A ERAM
ReHFHAREHAEZRBRER
ERERE -REME MHREEX
BRBX2ETESREHAREE
HER MIAWmERANEERTELRE
Mezragt -EbFETEematEe
FHMAERBGEEKXARAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. S@MIAE
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMERKREEEEREE(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mBELRERE(E)
The table below includes both interest and principal cash TEBEMNEEASHE S ME o W F
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the BERERFHFETE A RURS
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end ERRABERRZFERFESE

of the reporting period.

Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total  amount at
interest  or less than undiscounted 31 March

2024 —E-MmE rate 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years  cash flow 2024
ABE R-B-M%F

i EER BeRE ZA=1+-AH

FHNE PR1E 122% 2B5% agm ZERHEE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TR TR

Non-derivative financial FELBER

liabilities
Trade and other payables* ENESRAMEE | NASTER 178,977 - - 178,977 178,977
Borrowings fE&
- fixed rate ~-E8 12.06 58,856 2,043 - 60,899 60,235
- floating rate —%8 9.50 147,744 - - 147,744 147,744
— interest-free -%& N/AFER 6,068 - - 6,068 6,068
Lease liabilities HERR 8.78 1,855 583 - 2,438 2,278
Convertible bonds Bk ES 6.08 10,997 765 21,004 32,766 32,248
404,497 3,391 21,004 428,892 427,550
Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount at
interest o less than undiscounted 31 March
2023 —E-=F rate 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flow 2023
KEE N-EB-=fF
i EZ sk RemE —A=T—H
FHHE PRE 1227 2E5F BE ZREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn FiEn FiEn THT
Non-derivative financial FiTELRHERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables* ENESREEE" N/A i 154,997 - - 154,997 154,997
Borrowings BE
- fixed rate -EE 12.47 60,708 - - 60,708 60,338
- floating rate -¥8 9.50 153,757 - - 153,757 153,757
— interest-free -85 N/A N 7,379 - - 7,379 7,379
Lease liabilities HEBE 4.75 2,188 2,667 909 5,764 5,291
Convertible bonds Bk ES 10.59 1,143 10,260 - 11,403 10,427
380,172 12,927 909 394,008 392,189
* Excluded accrued staff costs @ TEEEE B ITKRA

.
b
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. S@MIAE
() Fair value measurements of financial instruments () £MIBEZAFHEFE
(i)  Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair (i) BREZREULNFEIAENEZ
value on a recurring basis ERAE

AT RIREEEENRATE
AEHRARZEYBRRAR
BEATENEEREE LMK
BRMBREENFI13R[2F
B EBIMAENRFEERD
ZEER R ARAFEFES
ERHEERTEBEANRE

The following presents the assets and liabilities
measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair
value in these financial statements on a recurring basis
across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy
defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with
the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety
based on the lowest level input that is significant to

the entire measurement.

KBy AN BB 5 4R

2024 —E-NEF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—B e - F=B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THERT TR TR
Assets measured at fair value BAVEHENEE
Financial assets at FVPL BRATEFABRNEREE
Derivative component of RRESTED S
convertible bonds - - 17 17
2023 —E-=F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ F-B ey @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL
Assets measured at fair value BROTEFENEE

Financial assets at FVPL
Derivative component of
convertible bonds

BRATEAARSNEREE
R EFT R

TEREINRERERAR

o0
E"
{
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

(continued)

(i)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. £RWMIAE)
() Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 SMIAZAFEFEE
Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair () BEZEELUAFHEHTENE
value on a recurring basis (continued) EREE(E
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no HE_Z_WHF=ZA=+—H
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value IFEE E—EBRHE_EQATE
measurements. The details of the movements of the ECHTEER - BEARE=
derivative component of convertible bonds categorised BAFEEROITBRRESIT
as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are set out in EBONEHFBHNEGE M
Note 29(c) to the consolidated financial statements. B ME M FE29(c) °
In estimating the fair value of the derivative REFTTBEREFTEDHH
component of convertible bonds, the Group engages ATFER  AEBEZEBIE?
independent qualified professional valuers to perform BEEMEMETHE EFH
the valuation. The Directors work closely with the BUSERBEEEMEYAE
independent qualified professional valuers to establish BUBHENBEEHERNRE
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the AR -
model.
Fair value of derivative component of convertible AAMBRESFTEDBIHRAFEE
bonds is measured by using the Binomial Model. The FTRH-EAELNGE —EHAR
key inputs used in the Binomial Model are as follows: AFRAMBERE ASENT :
At issue date on At
30 June 31 March
2023 2024
R-—8=-=
NA=+H R-ZE-MF
BITAW =Z=A=+-—H
Stock price iR (& HK$0.85 & J© HK$0.60 & T
Expected Volatility T8 B 18 78.09% 87.42%
Risk-free rate R b 2.23% 3.71%
Expected dividend yield TRHIAR B R 0% 0%
Discount rate LR 14.71% 14.37%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
() Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming other factors remain unchanged, if the
discount rate had been 5% higher/lower, the Group's
post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by HK$359,000, as a result of
changes in fair value of the derivative component of
convertible bonds.

Assuming other factors remain unchanged, if the
expected volatility of stock price of ordinary share of
the Company had been 5% higher/lower, the Group's
post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by HK$18,000, as a result of
changes in fair value of the derivative component of
convertible bonds.

Assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in
the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

6. ERWIA(E)
() EWMIBEZAFEEE)

(i)

(ii)

TEREINRERERAR

BEEEELURAFEAENE

ERBEGE
G RE T
BEEMEERBZ T (HA6R
e . -1 =0 T N

EFITERIODFEZE K
SEBE-_T-_MF=ZA=+—
H 1E % /5 /O BR B 1% 85 18 # 38 hn
2 359,000 T °

BREAGAZRITAE WAL
AR ERREREAS
EES5% AR ABRERESFITE
BAOWRFELS AEEEE
TR _HWNE=ZA=F+—-HILF
B8 B B2 B B A 12 R
18,0007 JT °

WHBEEREREELRFE;E
WEEREBME
EEBRANGAMBRKRE
RBHNETHREENESBABENER
EEEEAFERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_NF=ZA=+—HLFE

7. REVENUE
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

For the year ended 31 March 2024

7. WA
(a)

Multi-media
technologies
and convergence

BEFAENKBAZDE

BE_E_MFE=F=+—HItFEE

Dry grinding
and dry
beneficiation

media business business Total
ZHEBRMK
MEEER EERERER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
Types of goods or service E MR E B
Multi-media and advertising service % B2 &% & & R 7% 49,696 - 49,696
Sale of goods HEE® - 5,598 5,598
Total @ 49,696 5,598 55,294
Timing of revenue recognition Ut A & 52 B S
At a point in time RE 2 - 5,598 5,598
Over time & A% 5 49,696 - 49,696
Total et 49,696 5,598 55,294
Type of customer EFER
Corporate NG 49,696 5,598 55,294
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

REVENUE (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

7. WAE)
(a) EFAHNWAZDEE)

HE T -_—F-_HA=+—HIFFE

Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies

and convergence

and dry
beneficiation

media business business Total
E2 S -5
BERES FEGEEY @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAL
Types of goods or service B R
Multi-media and advertising service % B2 &% & & R 7% 53,598 - 53,598
Sale of goods HEE® - - -
Total #at 53,598 - 53,598
Timing of revenue recognition U T B
At a point in time RE 2 - - -
Over time & A% 5 53,598 - 53,598
Total @Et 53,598 - 53,598
Type of customer BRER
Corporate NG 53,598 - 53,598

FEEOREERERAE 202324 FERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE (continued) WA (%)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with customers (b) BEFEAHAZEHNER
Multi-media and advertising service income EREREEZRBERA
Multi-media and advertising service represents provision of ZEEBREERGEER®R-—UAXES
one-stop advertising solution packages under which the BAFTR BURAKFaZEMME
deliverables to customers are published in the public PRENBRBEKR - WATIBERHE T
platform. Revenue is recognised over time as the customer NHER EEEFPRKREEERR
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided EEfMRENNE BHE_T_NF
by the Group. During the year ended 31 March 2024, AT BLEFEREREBEAHNK
invoices are issued according to contractual terms and REAE - MEFTEFPERTIOBEE
certain customers are granted 30 days credit period (2023: H(ZZTZ-=F:30HEEH) - 1
30 days credit period). A contract liability is recognised for BRABAER  AEREHEE-
sales in which revenue has yet been recognised.
Sale of goods HEER
Sale of goods represents trading of titanium dioxide. HEEREBEKANR G BWAREP
Revenue is recognised at a point in time which the customer S P GE A E IR A I B R
obtains the control of the promised asset, which generally ZEHERBERERINTEL R
coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to FREBRNRE - -#HE_ZT N
customers and the title is passed. During the year ended 31 FZRA=+—BLFE EEDRIE
March 2024, invoices are issued according to contractual BRI A -
terms.

() Transaction price allocated to the remaining ()0 PEEEFEABRTEINEEZRS

performance obligation for contracts with customers
All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less. As
permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS 8. R

Information reported to the board of Directors (the “Board”), mEFE(EEgDENETELERKTE(E

being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the DEERKED)ERUIEERIBE R D E

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment RBENECEARBERAMRNHREHEHZER

performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or SRS ER - RIEBUREE 2 7] 25 B

provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM have KEIrERERARERELKE DN ELRS

been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the 28

Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 BEME AEEEAEBVEREEAES

Operating Segments are as follows: FEED BT 22| AT ¢

(@) Multi-media technologies and convergence media business — () ZHBERWEMEHEEXEE-BBTHA
running a mobile and multi-media technologies via different HEBREERABYH RZEBRIM -

media channels.

(b)  Dry grinding and dry beneficiation business — provision of by HEREEGK - IRBHTZEZERMNR
dry grinding and dry beneficiation technologies and trading —aLRE S -

of titanium dioxide.

(a) Segment revenues and results @) Z7BUARESR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AEBRAZRDHE 5 2 WA KR
results by reportable segments: BEAMESNWOT :
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_E-_MF=ZFA=+—HILFE
Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation
media business business Total
ZHB RN K
MEEER EEREER Foy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT FTERT
Revenue L'ON 49,696 5,598 55,294
Segment results DEEE (23,045) (3,718) (26,763)
Unallocated corporate income RAAERAABA 15,034
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBARRAX (14,115)
Share of losses of associates DIREE AR EE (26)
Finance costs & B AR (7,834)
Loss before tax R %1 AT 5 18 (33,704)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
(a) Segment revenues and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. R¥

(a)

2 8 (&)

DEMBARESE)
BE_F_—F-HA=+—HIFE

Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation
media business business Total
E2: S B
MEEEL FEGEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Revenue WA 53,598 - 53,598
Segment results DEBEE (56,097) (11,837) (67,934)
Unallocated corporate income &2 Fe 2 B A 10,540
Unallocated corporate expenses & 72 Bt A 8] F X (20,771)
Gain on extinguishment of HER B8 E R
financial liabilities 56,991
Share of losses of associates DIEBERAEE (19)
Finance costs B & AR (8,812)
Loss before tax Bk B B &5 18 (30,005)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KeEp s S BRBEGEA VB RE

same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note
3.3 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment results
represent the loss from each segment without allocation of
central administration cost, certain other income, gains and
losses, net, share of loss of associates, certain finance costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.
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8.

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8. REHIF(HE)
Segment assets and liabilities (b) SBEERESRE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and LWTAREBEZIZRDHE D 2B
liabilities by reportable segments. ERBEIN-
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZF-_mFE=A=+—H
Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation Inter-segment
media business business elimination Total
ZREEMK
MIERER REZEEYR 2 HWEH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TERT TERT TET TR
ASSETS 5E
Segment assets NEHEE 61,434 4,665 (10,054) 56,045
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRAAEE 12,245
Consolidated total assets LEEERE 68,290
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabilities HE AR 65,095 22,170 (10,054) 77,211
Unallocated corporate liabilities &2 B2 7 & & 365,809
Consolidated total liabilities RAARBEE 443,020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8.
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

A

o

S D (E)

(b) ZHEEREBEE

As at 31 March 2023 RZEFEZ=F=A=4+—H
Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation Inter-segment
media business business elimination Total
SRERT R
BEEER EEREER 2 EEH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FTET FTET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NBEE 55,651 1,259 (8,670) 48,240
Unallocated corporate assets APERFEE 15,379
Consolidated total assets GRAEERE 63,619
LIABILITIES Bf
Segment liabilities AEAE 47,931 11,870 (8,670) 51,131
Unallocated corporate liabilities &7 B2 7 & & 353,589
Consolidated total liabilities SEBEAE 404,720
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MERSBRIRRR D EBHE S BEER
allocating resources between segments: =

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than certain other receivables, certain bank balances
and cash, derivative component of convertible bonds
and certain corporate property, plant and equipment;
and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain other payables and accruals, amounts due
to shareholders and directors, liability component of
convertible bonds, certain borrowings and placing
notes.
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8.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8. REHIF(HE)
(c) Other segment information (0 HttoBEH
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_E-_MF=FA=+—HILFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment results or AENRFEENDMBEERTFAZERE
segment assets:
Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation
media business business Unallocated Total
ZREBEMR
MRS EERRER AP E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
THERT THET TET TR
Reversal of impairment loss on & [l fE U E {1 R TH 2.
other receivables REER 1,109 7 592 1,708
Reversal of impairment losson BB EKE 5 KIE 2
trade receivables REERE 13 - - 13
Impairment loss on EYEMERIE
other receivables AEER (1,636) (222) (564) (2,422)
Impairment loss on EWE HEE 2
trade receivables AEERE (9,590) - - (9,590)
Impairment loss on EREEZREBR
intangible assets (1,196) - - (1,196)
Impairment loss on goodwill BHEZREEE (1,688) - - (1,688)
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% - BE kR ETE
and equipment (126) 9) (31) (166)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {f B EEE M E (1,466) (240) = (1,706)
Addition of property, plant RENE BERZE
and equipment 81 - - 81
Development cost on iron ore dry A 8% {17 B 2 49
grinding and dry beneficiation ~ HEAZEL EEH
business included in BB A A
administrative expenses - (3,084) - (3,084)
Finance costs BEKA (2,504) - (7,834) (10,338)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_NF=ZA=+—HLFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8. ReIW(HE)
(c) Other segment information (continued) (0 HihmpBER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2024 (continued) BE-—ZE-_HNF=ZFA=+—HLFE
(&)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHmMEFrELERRERMERGTE
in the measure of segment results or segment assets: DEKBEI D BEERU B A2 S

Multi-media Dry grinding

technologies and and dry

convergence beneficiation
media business business Unallocated Total

SREBHEMR

MERER FERERER AP B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TR
Share of losses of associates AMEBENAEE - - (26) (26)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8. REHIF(HE)
(c) Other segment information (continued) (0 HihmpBER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE—_F_=—F=—H=1—HIFFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment results or AENRFEENDMBEERTFAZERE

segment assets:

Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation
media business business Unallocated Total
% R K
REEEHR HELEEHR R Fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TER
Reversal of impairment loss on % [l fE U K {1 R 76 2.
other receivables REER 1,294 - - 1,294
Reversal of impairment losson BB EKE 5 KE 2
trade receivables REERE 47 - - 47
Impairment loss on EYEMERIE
other receivables AEER (1,390) @ (25) (1,422)
Impairment loss on EWEHEEZ
trade receivables AEERE (47) - - (47)
Impairment loss on goodwill BHEZAEER (47,878) - - (47,878)
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1%¥ - BE L& ENE
and equipment (84) (8) (31) (123)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets il 1 & & 1 & (1,550) (264) - (1,814)
Amortisation of intangible assets A SR {E IR A AKX 2 £ 7
included in cost of revenue BEEH (11,279) - - (11,279)
Government grants B2 571 - - 571
Addition of property, plant RENE BERR
and equipment 141 - - 141
Addition of intangible assets REEVEE 3,180 - - 3,180
Development cost on iron ore dry ABR/ETHA S OEEL
grinding and dry beneficiation 2 E% % ¥ B H F KA
business included in
administrative expenses - (11,510) - (11,510)
Finance costs BAMKAK (2,144) - (8,812) (10,956)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 8. REHIF(HE)
(c) Other segment information (continued) (0 HihmpBER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2023 (continued) BE_—_F_=—F=—A=+—HIFFE
(%)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHmMEFrELERRERMERGTE
in the measure of segment results or segment assets: DEKBEI D BEERU B A2 S
Multi-media Dry grinding
technologies and and dry
convergence beneficiation
media business business Unallocated Total
ZEERMK
REEEHR RELEER AAHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TET AT TRET
Gain on extinguishment of EReRAGERE
financial liabilities - - 56,991 56,991
Share of losses of associates AEBEDRER - - (19) (19)
(d) Geographical information (d #HEER
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the REBZEBUREBERPE -
PRC.
Information about the Group's revenue from external BEHAARNEERBINDEPL ZWAE R
customers is presented based on the location of customers. DEREPMNEZY -
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
The PRC e 30,534 45,406
Hong Kong BE 24,760 8,192
55,294 53,598

\ 4
b

156 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24



8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
(d)

(e)

3

2 8 (&)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

Geographical information (continued) d) HEEZER(E)
Information about the Group's non-current assets is EHRAEEERBEEZEHTIER
presented based on the geographical locations of the assets. BEMBMEZY -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
The PRC s 6,530 13,055
Hong Kong B A 3,753 3,153
10,283 16,208
Information about major customers (e) BEEHEEXEEFZEH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

NERFEEAEEBLKAERIO%

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are ZEPWAWT :
as follows:

2024 2023
—E_-mF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Customer A! ®ER 24,760 8,192
Customer B! BE 5,760 N/A 7~ 3 A3
Customer C' BEFPR! N/A & A 38,933

! Revenue from multi-media technologies and convergence

media business. The revenue from customer C was less

than 10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31

March 2024.

! REZHEERTEMERELK 2
WA -BHE-_T-_NF=A=+—
HIEFE REFEFRZBAIR
AEBIKA10% ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_NF=ZA=+—HLFE

9.

10.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

9. EHiBWA -BWEREEFHE

2024 2023
—ET__mF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Fair value gain on derivative component of AMRESTETIERS 2
convertible bonds (Note 29(c)) A B Wz (Y 52 29(0)) 1,054 -
Government grants BT B & - 571
Exchange gain, net FE 3 Uy %5 )05 BB 8,105 8,365
Waiver of other payable HibERRIBE# R 5,972 -
Others H A 548 845
15,679 9,781
FINANCE COSTS 10. RER A
2024 2023
—E-_ME —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Interests on: THERZHE
Placing notes at effective interest rates REBRANEFEZCEERE 1,500 1,500
Convertible bond payable at effective REBRFEHE ZEMNATBRRES
interest rates (Note 29(b) and 29(c)) (Bt 7% 29(b) & 29(c)) 1,730 624
Borrowings BE 6,776 8,616
Lease liabilities HEBE 332 216
10,338 10,956
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11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE IR (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

IMPAIRMENT LOSS UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS 11.

MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

FHEFEEERXTZREEBBE IR
BeEE)

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FAET

Reversal of impairment loss on: T RERE/BEZERD -
Trade receivables EWE SRE 13 47
Other receivables FE U K BR 1E 1,708 1,294

Impairment loss on: T3 RIE 2R E S

Trade receivables EKE SRE (9,590) (47)
Other receivables FE U K fh BR IE (2,422) (1,422)
(10,291) (128)

HMEFHEZFBEHAN G M K REME

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 6(b) to the

consolidated financial statements. 6(b) °
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FiBHiExX
2024 2023
—E-WMEF —ETZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
Current tax — the PRC B EA R 18 — R - 53

5 (9 B T 4 1 5 0 SR B R 2 16.5% &t
HomRAEENEE-"T-_MER-F
—Z4ZA=+-BLRAFENBRESS
B A A (B SR BE ) M0 M (R B S B IR
18 -

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit. No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been
made for both years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the Group
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

BERBECEMSHE(TREMSHED R
ERMEBBEAERGH  REWNE Q[ RE
E-TMER-_T-=F£=ZA=+—HIt
MIEFRE 2B ER25% °

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries are 25% for both years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mE B RMEE (&

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12. FiBEBAX(E)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss AEEMEBHAITREAIEERANKRTIA
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as EEEHEROT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —TZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss before tax FR B AT B 1B (33,704) (30,005)
Tax at applicable domestic income tax rate of & FA AN FT 15 T F1 % 16.5%
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZEZ=F 165%)TE BB (5.561) (4,951)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ~ AR 2 HEZ &
purpose 6,022 10,861
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBBMAZHIEEZE
tax purpose (3,098) (9,505)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised AERZBBEREZB BT E 3,302 6,015
Tax effect of share of loss of associates DIEBENREERZRETE 7 5
Utilisation of tax losses previously BARERRIBEE ZFRA
not recognised - (820)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries FHMAZEEZEZHWE AR
operating in other jurisdictions TRBERzZE (672) (1,552)
Income tax expense for the year KEEMBHRAX - 53

\#
b
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13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. BRBAER
2024 2023
—E-NE —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAET
This is stated after charging: KB TYIEE &5
Staff costs 8 TR A
— directors’ emoluments (Note 14) —E =W e (HE14) 4,586 4,410
— salaries and other benefits in kind e RkEMEDA G 5,010 4,770
— retirement benefits scheme contributions —RNTE T 5T &4 3 115 117
9,711 9,297
Auditor’s remuneration % 2ED B & 1,400 1,400
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - B = MR &I E 166 123
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,706 1,814
Development cost on iron ore dry grinding and ABE{E{TE X W& B G
dry beneficiation business included in EEEEBNRAERA
administrative expenses 3,084 11,510
Amortisation of intangible assets included in A BREUR AR AR 2 4 J2 & B #
cost of revenue 29 11,279
Note: Staff costs amounted to HK$9,711,000 (2023: HK$9,297,000) Mzt : 8 T Ak A&9,711,0008 T (T — = F:
have been included in administrative expenses. 9,297,000/ L) B ABRIEITHEA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

14. ESRTHEAZHE
BREEALTRUIRAAGIREZEER
TREHZFEMSWT

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years,

disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the CO, is as

follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-_Z_NME=A=+—-HLEE

Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
HeRHM RIREH
ik BNH S sTEIH R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TERT TET TET TR
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wang Bin (Chairman) IWRE(EE) - 176 - 176
Mr. Zhang Yi (Vice Chairman) RREEELE) 360 = 18 378
Ms. Chu Wei Ning NHELL
(Chief Executive Officer) (7T %) - 2,640 18 2,658
Ms. Lam Sze Man ME L - 636 18 654
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael BRaBELE 240 - - 240
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis B Rl % & 240 - - 240
Mr. Feng Man BwmEE 240 - - 240
1,080 3,452 54 4,586
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14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

PN

e MR HmAR I (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

14. EERTHRAZME (E)

BE-Z-_=Ff=ZHA=+—-HLHFE

Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e REAM RIKEF
we EMF & B @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THI THET

Executive directors UTES

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RIREE(EE) 360 - 18 378

Ms. Chu Wei Ning MEELL

(Chief Executive Officer) (1B #%) - 2,640 18 2,658
Ms. Lam Sze Man WEs Rzt - 636 18 654
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael Wi ERE 240 - - 240

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis B Rl % 240 - - 240

Mr. Feng Man Bk 240 - - 240

1,080 3,276 54 4,410

Notes: P2 -

(@)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their (a) LEXFR#TEZZME AR ETRME
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the EHREBRARARAEEER 2 REM
Company and the Group. XA e

(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown by EXFRBIYFHNTEEZHMEDEE
above were for their services as the Directors. EUEZHFNRERBE M AT -

() There was no arrangement under which a director, the chief ¢ MREBE-_Z-_NFEFER_ZT_=ZF=A
executive or top five highest paid employees waived or agreed to “t+—HBLEFE TEEE THAHR
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2024 IEEESHFEENELXRERELM
and 2023. &z 8-

(d)  Mr. Wang Bin was appointed as Executive director and Chairman d) FWEAEARZZZ=F+—AZ=Z+N1H
on 29 November 2023. BZAERWNTESREE -

(e)  Mr. Zhang Yi was re-designated from Chairman to the Vice () FH"HEEER-_Z-_=ZF+—HA=-+A1H

Chairman on 29 November 2023.

TEREINRERERAR

HEIFAERBIERE -

2023/24 FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

15.

16.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 15. ZIEBEHESR
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year AEEFANRIEESFTEEREMRE(ZST
included two (2023: two) directors, details of whose remuneration ZEF - MABIEE BELHMFREERN
are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements IXGFEMBREAMT14 B =R (2%
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining T=FZZ)WIHARAE S NITHAR
three (2023: three) highest paid employees who are neither a LEARVEERANFEZHFMHBOT
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —TZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries and other benefits in kind FeREMEYN = 3,276 3,419
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RKTE T ET 814 3 90 81
3,366 3,500
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the BN TUTHEZIEFERFEEAH
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as T
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NF T =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/% 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 JT = 1,500,000 7% 7T 2 2
DIVIDENDS 16. BRE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024, nor has any

dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period

(2023: Nil).
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT-_WNF=A=+—HIFE

LOSS PER SHARE 17.
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BRER
RAEBANREEBRERNRBEEERIIR
EIBIEAE

2024 2023
—E-NE —ET-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners HEORETREEEBMAZ
of the Company for the purpose of basic and ZIK NAHEBEABIERFEEE
diluted loss per share (30,775) (24,273)
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=
‘000 ‘000
Sl F &
Number of shares & 17 &1 B
Weighted average number of ordinary shares s+ &S EAR K #HEH1E
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss BT A 2 & @ AR N 35
per share 80,727 65,164

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options because the exercise price of those
options was higher than the average market price for shares.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as the
effect of potential ordinary share, convertible bonds has anti-
dilutive effects during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The number of shares for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 has reflected the effect of share consolidation on 20 June
2023, which is set out in Note 31(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

é&?:_?_ﬂi/}_g::i:ﬂ:ﬂ-—ﬁ
LEESREEBENAEDRREARARE
B RETE ARREBRENTEES
R BT (E -

HREELER TRRESNZEEHE
TECNER-FBC=ZF=ZA=+—HBIL#F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. W% BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor and
improvements vehicles fixtures Total
HEMEHE "E BRREE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FHET FAEL
cosT R A&
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-_-_FMA—H 1,624 676 679 2,979
Additions NE - - 141 141
Additions - business combination & — ¥4 6 - - 943 943
Written off 184 - - (8) (8)
Exchange adjustments BE 3 FE B - - () ()
At 31 March 2023 RZT_=F
—A=+—H 1,624 676 1,753 4,053
Additions nNE - - 81 81
Exchange adjustments BE 3, 38 2 - - (68) (68)
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-MF
=Z=A=+-H 1,624 676 1,766 4,066
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Ritif &
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_FMA—H 1,569 676 617 2,862
Depreciation for the year FAME 3 - 120 123
Additions - business combination K& — %754 #f - - 511 511
Written off 84 - - (8) (8)
Exchange adjustments BE 3 3 B - - 16 16
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
—A=+—H 1,572 676 1,256 3,504
Depreciation for the year FAME 18 - 148 166
Exchange adjustments BE 3 38 B - - (43) (43)
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-QmF
=Z=A=+-—-H 1,590 676 1,361 3,627
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-QmF
=A=+-H 34 - 405 439
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%F
=A=+—H 52 - 497 549

.
b
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 18. V¥ BERREE)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, depreciation expenses of REEZT-_NF=ZA=+—HIEFE
HK$166,000 (2023: HK$123,000) has been included in E M X B 166,000 t( = T = = F:
administrative expenses. 123,000 L) EFFATHRER -
The above items of property, plant and equipment, are depreciated ALY BERZHEEE R THBETAIE
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life as follows: BEHANNNESEATERNE :
Leasehold improvements 2 - 3 years HEMEEE 2E3F
Motor vehicles 4 — 8 years TE AE8EF
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 10 years KR REE 321046
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. ERAEEE
Leased
properties
HEME
HK$'000
FH&T
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WME=A=+—H
Net carrying amounts REFEE 2,401
As at 31 March 2023 RZZEZ=F=A=+—H
Net carrying amounts REFE 5,040

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-_ZT_NE=A=+—-HLEFE

Depreciation charges wEEHR (1,706)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-Z-_=F=-RA=+—HLFE
Depreciation charges mEEA (1,814)

FEEORFERBRAT 2023/24 FEHRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

19.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) CEREEE(E)

2024 2023
—E-NE —F-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases B HATE SRR X 93 153
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML BE 2,136 2,101
Additions to right-of-use assets REGEREEE - 1,154
Termination of lease wIFHE (953) -

The Group leases various office premises for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2 to 4 years (2023: 4 to
5 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
premises. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases of office premises impose a restriction that,
unless the approval is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use
asset can only be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited
from selling or pledging the underlying assets. The Group is
required to keep these properties in a good state of repair and
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the
lease.

The interest on lease liabilities is set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

GOODWILL 200 HE
2024 2023
—ET-_WmF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
cosT e
At 1 April MM B—8 70,430 63,526
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries B Wy B B B8 A B E A - 6,904
At 31 March R=A=+—H 70,430 70,430
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES R REEBSE
At 1 April R A—H 63,526 15,648
Impairment loss recognised for the year FANER 2 REEE 1,688 47,878
At 31 March R=A=+—H 65,214 63,526
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE 5,216 6,904
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Multi-media technologies and convergence BRI RmESES
media business 5,216 6,904

Goodwill arising from the Group’s multi-media technologies and
convergence business represented (i) the acquisition of 100%
equity interests in Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong Kong
Made"”) and Ample Success Limited (“Ample Success”) in June
2019 and the acquisition of 80% equity interest in Shenzhen ZiJun
Media Company Limited (“ZiJun Media”) in July 2020 (collectively
known as the “Train Media Acquisition”) and (ii) the business
combination of 80.12% equity interest of Kemeng (Changzhou)
Culture & Media Limited (“Kemeng”) (7] 2 (F ) XL E1E B R
A A]) in November 2022 (“Kemeng Acquisition”).

Goodwill arose in Train Media Acquisition and Kemeng Acquisition
because the consideration paid for the acquisitions effectively
included amounts in relating to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and assembled
workforce. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets. None of the goodwill arising from
these acquisitions is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

TEREINRERERAR

AREENZEBRNTEREREBEENS
BEGEZTE-NFNARBEESRIEERE)
BRAR(EEREDRENER AR (E
N E100% REREZS  UER T2 F
t ARERYEFHEEEERAR(EFEEE])
80% R IER R (FTE AV B HEKEEE])
PR —ZE-_—F+— AT E(EM)
ML EHE B R A A (A 2])80.12% K iR #
EEEBAM((AT2KREEAE]) -

ENERBUBEELAZREZTAREL
BE ARAUBEEINNREERLE
TEELTR M 0 R AR E - AR RIS B
BREEAGHBDINNEEHENTE - ZFH
HYAEHEDHBER BRARESTEA
BRI E EEMBRBIRE - ZEWE =AM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

20. GOODWILL (continued)

a)

Train Media CGU

Hong Kong Made and Ample Success were the exclusive
agents in connection with the advertising agency services
and related production services for the Guangzhou-Shenzhen
China Railway High-speed Harmony Series trains (* & & 4%
9% " or the "GSCR Hexiehao Trains”) and ZiJun Media was
principally engaged in the agency business of the operation
of train media business at the respective acquisition
completion dates on 6 June 2019 and 13 July 2020
respectively (“Train Media CGU").

The advertising license rights in connection with the GSCR
Hexiehao Trains and Guangzhou-Zhuhai Intercity Railway (the
“GZ Intercity Railway”) were either terminated or expired
during the year ended 31 March 2023. The management
decided to put its resources in building the convergence
media business and expected that no future cash flow would
be generated from Train Media CGU. The recoverable
amount of the Train Media CGU based on the value in use
was assessed to be HK$nil and the respective goodwill of
HK$63,526,000 was fully impaired as at 31 March 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

20. GOODWILL (continued)

b)

Convergence Media CGU

Kemeng is principally engaged in convergence media
business and is one of the live streaming content providers
and operators in the PRC. Goodwill acquired through the
Kemeng Acquisition in November 2022 was allocated to the
Group’s Convergence Media CGU under the business
segment of Multi-media technologies and convergence
media business for impairment testing.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group performed an impairment
review on the Convergence Media CGU which mainly
comprises of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and goodwill with carrying amounts of HK$370,000
(2023: HK$491,000), HK$nil (2023: HK$4,128,000) and
HK$5,216,000 (2023: HK$6,904,000) respectively.

In determining the recoverable amount of the Convergence
Media CGU as at 31 March 2024, the Group engages the
Flagship Appraisals to perform the valuation. The recoverable
amount has been determined based on the value in use
approach, which uses a cash flow projection based on a
financial forecast approved by management covering a
5-year period. The average annual growth rate based on
management’s estimation is 52% (2023: 14%). The discount
rate applied to cash flow projection is 13% (2023: 20%) and
cash flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated using a
steady 2% (2023: 2%) per annum growth rate. The long-
term growth rate used does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the business in which the
Convergence Media CGU operates. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin
of 37% (2023: 27%) in average, which is determined based
on Convergence Media CGU's performance and
management'’s expectations for the market development.

The management determined the budgeted sales and gross
margins based on past performance, expectation for the
market development and planned business strategy. The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the Convergence Media CGU.

e B RMEE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R B AR MY A

(&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

20.

GOODWILL (continued)

b)

Convergence Media CGU (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, based on the result of the assessment,
the management determined that the recoverable amount of
the Convergence Media CGU based on value in use approach
is HK$5,586,000 and impairment of goodwill of
HK$1,688,000 is recognised during the year. As at 31 March
2023, based on the result of the assessment, management
of the Group determined that the carrying amount of the
assets being allocated to the Convergence Media CGU was
lower than their recoverable amount. Therefore, no
impairment loss was recognised against the carrying amount
of goodwill, right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to the discount rate and annual growth rate,
representing the key inputs to the determination to the
recoverable amount.

If the discount rate was changed from 13% to 18%, while
other parameters remain constant, the impairment loss on
goodwill would increase by HK$3,132,000. If the annual
growth rate was decreased by 5%, while other parameters
remain constant, the impairment loss on goodwill would
increase by HK$2,408,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. EREE

Motor vehicle Advertising

Software licences license rights Total
BH REMR BESATE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTHET FTET THET
(Note a)
BT
CoSsT B
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FWA—H - - 305,157 305,157
Additions NE - 3,180 - 3,180
Additions - business combination WE-¥Badk 303 - - 303
Written off i 38 - - (305,157) (305,157)
Exchange adjustments B 550 & 17 - - 17
At 31 March 2023 RZFE-_=%=A=+—*H 320 3,180 - 3,500
Exchange adjustments R (16) - - (16)
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=ZA=+—-AH 304 3,180 - 3,484
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION RABERBESRR
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 April 2022 RZZE-__FMA—H - - 293,140 293,140
Charge for the year FAZH 13 - 11,266 11,279
Additions - business combination NE-XBEN 20 - - 20
Written off 54 - - (305,157) (305,157)
Exchange adjustments Atk - - 751 751
At 31 March 2023 R-ZFE-=%=A=+—*H 33 - - 33
Charge for the year FAZH 29 - - 29
Impairment loss recognised for the year 4 (A 52 3l B /&5 18 - 1,196 - 1,196
Exchange adjustments L M - - )
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-mE=ZA=+-A 61 1,196 - 1,257
NET CARRYING AMOUNT EAFE
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mME=A=+-8 243 1,984 - 2,227
At 31 March 2023 RZE-Z=%=A=+—*H 287 3,180 - 3,467

o0
l‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

e

21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a)

The motor vehicle licences represent two Mainland licence
plates held by two subsidiaries which were acquired in the
year ended 31 March 2023. These Mainland licence plates
have indefinite useful lives and are measured at cost and test
for impairment annually.

In determining the recoverable amount of the motor vehicle
licence for impairment testing, the Group engages Flagship
Appraisals to perform the valuation. The recoverable amount
has been determined based on the fair value less cost of
disposal which is based on sales prices of comparable
transactions in the market. The higher the sales price of a
comparable transaction in the market, the higher the fair
value of the licence.

As at 31 March 2024, based on the result of the assessment,
the management determined that the recoverable amount of
the motor vehicle licences is HK$1,984,000 and impairment
loss of HK$ 1,196,000 is recognised during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 22. RBE LR 2ER

2024 2023
—ET-_WmF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Unlisted share — at cost LMD - RKAREE 523 476
Share of post-acquisition loss and other AMERBEBEEERAMEZESIE

comprehensive loss (254) (228)
269 248

Details of each of the Group's associates at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
Principal place of

Proportion of ownership

A

BEPRR AEESHEBEQR ZFEN

Proportion of voting rights

Name of entities operation interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
ERALHE/ rREfERE rEEFRE
ERER TEEERY BRER LA RREZILA FTEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
SECmE  -Z-o=F ZRI@E CBR-=F
Shanghai YunYun Culture & Media Limited* ~ The PRC - 48% - 48%  Deregistered
("YunYun") (Note (a))
TREELERERAAIZED(MitE) +E HEEm
Shanghai Chun Mian Di Fu International The PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Not yet commenced business
Trade Limited* (“Shanghai Chun Mian")
(Note (b))
TREGERARESERAA e Rk
(TEEme (M b)
Shenzhen Tongyisheng Trading Co., Limited*  The PRC 40% - 40% - Not yet commenced business

(“SZ Tongyisheng") (Note (c))
RNBZREZARARD(RYIBRE]) HE
(Bt (0)

All of the above associates are accounted for
method in the consolidated financial statements.

using the equity

TEREINRERERAR

HARRER

LB E A RRAEREREGS M B ®
SN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

22. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

YunYun was deregistered during the year.

On 10 June 2021, Shanghai Yunta New Media technology
Limited* (/8 ZHE T HE R BR 2R F)), an indirect partially-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Qing Jing Cultural
Development Company Limited* (It RIEEX{LERER A A,
an independent third party, and Chun Mian Network Technology
Co., Limited* (4 #4848 B (_E)§)A R A A, an independent
third party, entered into a business cooperation arrangement in
relation to the formation of Shanghai Chun Mian. Shanghai
Chun Mian has not yet commenced business at 31 March 2024.

The Group has 40% ownership interest and voting rights in
Shanghai Chun Mian. By considering that the Group has no
sufficiently dominant voting rights to direct the relevant activities
of Shanghai Chun Mian unilaterally, the Directors conclude that
the Group only has significant influence over Shanghai Chun
Mian and therefore it is classified as an associate of the Group.

On 25 December 2023, Shenzhen Yunyi Media Co., Limited* (&
IN=ZEBEHEARAF), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and two independent third parties entered into a
business cooperation agreement in relation to the formation of
SZ Tongyisheng. SZ Tongyisheng has not yet commenced
business at 31 March 2024.

The Group has 40% ownership interest and voting rights in SZ
Tongyisheng. By considering that the Group has no sufficiently
dominant voting rights to direct the relevant activities of SZ
Tongyisheng unilaterally, the Directors conclude that the Group
only has significant influence over SZ Tongyisheng and therefore
it is classified as an associate of the Group.

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BEWESZRHEMERE

2024 2023
—E-mE —F-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 ERIB 35,093 10,013
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBBERE (10,911) (1,334)
Trade receivables EWE 5 R1E 24,182 8,679
Bills receivables EWERRE - 1,499

Trade and bills receivables, net (Notes a & b)  FEUWE 5 Bk 18 % JE W = 5 % 58

(fistakb) 24,182 10,178
Other receivables and deposits (Note ¢) FEUE BRI Mk & (M 7Ec) 24,726 24,505
Prepayments (Note d) T8+ R E (M sk d) 9,597 7,132
34,323 31,637
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (2,481) (1,767)
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits, net FEUH MR 1B « B FHIB R IZ & F 8 31,842 29,870
Trade and other receivables, net JEW B 5 I B A BRTH 7 5E 56,024 40,048
Notes: B 5
(@)  The credit term granted to the Group's trade debtors generally (@ RBTEEEZESEBANEEH-—RAE
ranged from 0 to 30 days (2023: 0 to 30 days). 0E30R(ZZE-_=F:0F830K)°
(b)  The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables by HUTREREZEHEGFHBAERB
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the HEE)2YZ2EKRE 5 REREKZIE
invoice date, which approximates the respective revenue (BHREEBEREG) KRS
recognition dates:
2024 2023
ZE-@mEF —TZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
0 to 30 days 0E30K 2,332 7,986
31 to 90 days 31 REI0KR - 1,499
91 to 180 days 91 XE 180K 7,859 581
181 to 365 days 181 XE365X 9,878 -
Over 365 days 365K LA I 4,113 112
24,182 10,178
OO
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. AREBVEWZEHREFFTMEES - u
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(c) Mainly included in other receivables and deposits are:

i) the refundable deposits of RMB9,800,000 (equivalent to
HK$10,612,000) (2023: RMB9,800,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,902,000)) paid to a licensor (the “Licensor”) in
order to secure the advertising agency services and related
production services for the GSCR Hexiehao Trains and GZ
Intercity Railway. As at 31 March 2024, allowance for
credit losses of HK$879,000 (2023: HK$635,000) has
been provided;

ii) the amounts due from third parties and employees of
HK$3,872,000 and HK$2,773,000 (2023: HK$4,249,000
and HK$3,726,000) respectively. As at 31 March 2024,
allowance for credit losses of HK$252,000 and
HK$175,000 (2023: HK$223,000 and HK$202,000) have
been provided respectively; and

iii) the amount due from a former shareholder of a subsidiary
of HK1,273,000 (2023: HK$1,273,000). As at 31 March
2024, allowance for credit losses of HK$89,000 (2023:
HK$67,000) has been provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(d)

(e)

Mainly included in prepayments are:

iii)

the prepayment for the advertising license rights on the
GSCR Hexiehao Trains of RMB4,451,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,820,000) (2023: RMB4,451,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,782,000)) paid to the Licensor. As at 31 March
2024, allowance for credit loss of HK$396,000 (2023:
HK$308,000) has been provided;

the payment in advance for the future cost of sale for
multi-media and advertising service of RMB311,000
(equivalent to HK$338,000) (2023: RMB391,000
(equivalent to HK$446,000)); and

the prepayment for purchase of titanium dioxide of
RMB2,163,000 (equivalent to HK$2,342,000) (2023: Nil).
As at 31 March 2024, allowance for credit loss of
HK$162,000 (2023: HK$nil) has been provided.

Included in trade and other receivables are the following

amounts denominated in currencies other than the group

entities’ functional currencies:

23. EWESREMEKRE(E)

s (88

(d)

ENRETIEBE

ii)

iii)

i

EE 5
BUEE

HEREMBERINE 2 BERHFT
RABFTFAINZEMTRBEAR
¥ 4,451,0007T ( 48 & 74,820,000
BT)I(ZEBE=ZF: ARK
4,451,0007T ( #8 & 75,782,000/
L)) c M—TE-_NFE=ZA=1+—8 -
B 5t 1= B &5 18 51 12 8 5 396,000 74
JL(=Z = =% :308,000/% L) :

BRAKRZEEBRESESRBHEE
AN AR #311,000t( 8 & R
338,000 L) (ZEZ=F: AR
#391,0007T( 42 & 7 446,000/
7)) &

BERKAPHBEIRARSE
2,163,0007T (AHE 742,342,000 7T)
(ZZZ=F:8) - RZT_WF
ZA=+—8 BnzEEBTE
BEH162,0008 T(ZE_=F: %
BT °

REMERRESETIAEEER
BIASN Y BB SHE R BROR ¢

2024 2023
—E-_MF —EZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET Fi#& T

RMB AR 35,666 31,446

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for trade and other receivables is included in note 6(b)
to the consolidated financial statements.

FHAEEMERNEERBRARERE S
REMBRAEEERENERBRES B
FMIEE6(D) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24, BRITEBRRERES
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from RITHBIEMBSFEMNEONEZ2E(ZE
0.1% t0 0.2% (2023: from 0.001% to 0.62%) per annum. =% 0001 E=062FE)5F B -
Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts RITHERLASBETINEEREEIHEE
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’ functional BEANEE RELAZ S8
currencies:
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FET
RMB AR 1,544 6,983
usb ET 1 2
Included in the bank balances and cash are the following amounts RITHEB KRR BETIIZINEE IR TR
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations and not RETAIERLR &5 :

freely transferable:

2024 2023

—EZMEF —T-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET F&T

Bank balances in PRC banks R RITHRIT A 82 1,544 6,983
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss FEAEEMEGRNEERR RRITERE

allowance for bank balances is included in note 6(b) to the BREENENSNGEAVEREME6(0) -

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ENHESREMKE
2024 2023
—E_-MEF —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Trade payables (Note a) JERTE 5 BR1E (M5t a) 31,896 10,117
Other payables and accruals FE A E h BR I8 M JE AT 5K IA 22,746 20,265
Accrued staff costs JEET B TR 11,301 6,346
Amounts due to shareholders and FERTAR R R & E 5K IE (M 5Eb)
directors (Note b) 81,878 79,292
Amounts due to employees (Note b) & E B )18 (M 5t b) 11,885 2,344
Due to a former director FE AT E £ R I1E - 2,378
Receipt in advance for subscription of REIMRES 2 TEWHIE (o
convertible bonds (Note ¢) - 11,406
Deposit received (Note d) 2 Wiz & (M sEd) 15,640 15,640
Interest payable on other borrowings HiEBERIBITEBEMNFE
and bank borrowings 3,901 2,350
Interest payable on convertible loan AR E KRR - 2,015
Interest payable on convertible bonds A 2 B% & 5 FE < F) E\ (Bt 7% 29(b))
(Note 29(b)) 527 186
Interest payable on placing notes (Note 28(a))  fic & Z2 #% /& 14 7 8. (P 5% 28(a)) 10,504 9,004
158,382 151,226
190,278 161,343
Notes: M 3E -
(a)  The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented (@ MUTAEREBEZAHZI2ENESE
based on the invoice date: HZRE DT
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHIT
Up to 30 days 30K M LA 2,527 7,718
31 to 90 days 31E90K 210 54
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180K 7,526 4
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 15,053 73
Over 365 days 365K A 6,580 2,268
31,896 10,117
The average credit period granted by the trade creditors is 30 to EZBERABRTHIEHEEHN F30E
45 days (2023: 30 to 45 days). ASK(ZE =% :30F45XK)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

25.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The amounts due to employees, shareholders and directors are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amount represented the receipt in advance received from a
subscriber during the year ended 31 March 2023 for the
subscription of convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of RMB20,000,000 issued on 30 June 2023. Details of
the convertible bonds are set out in Note 29(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, USD2,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$15,640,000) (2023: USD2,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$15,640,000)) was received from a former employee of the
Group (the “Former Employee”) as a deposit (the “Deposit”) for
the Proposed Disposal (as defined below).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group and the
Former Employee entered into a sale and purchase agreement
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to sell and the
Former Employee conditionally agreed to acquire 10% equity
interest in Yota at a consideration of USD3,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$23,460,000) (the “Proposed Disposal”).

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Former
Employee shall provide or shall procure all necessary assistance
to the Group in obtaining financing on terms favorable to the
Group for the purpose of paying the royalty fee required to be
paid under the intellectual property license agreement.

On 16 March 2020, the Group and the Former Employee entered
into a supplemental agreement pursuant to which the Group
and the Former Employee agreed to refund the Deposit to the
Former Employee not later than 30 September 2021. Up to the
date of these consolidated financial statements, the Deposit is
not yet refunded to the Former Employee.
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25.

BNESRHEMEREGE)

CEX
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ENES BREREENT
REREERMEE -

RIS AR AR

ZeHERBE-_Z_=F=-A=1+—
BLEFERRRBARBR_Z=_=F
RNRAZTERMBETRRBLERARRK

20,000, ooo;EE’JT?ﬁH%ﬁ%E’J%Eﬁ%ko

EHRTHRBRESFEIARRAVBRE
M ¥ 29(c)
RZTZZMNF=A=+—H KAEBEH

— % pifR B([A{E B J) W EX2,000,0003%
TL(HE 15,640,000 TT) (- T — =4 :
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 25. BENEZRAMEKREE)
Notes: (continued) Mo aE - (48)
(e)  Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts ) ENESMEMEBESETIINERE
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’ B ESUINEE BN &8

functional currencies:

2024 2023
“EMEF —T=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
usb E 15,640 15,640
RMB AR 47,377 46,248
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26, HEEE
2024 2023
ey 3 —T=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Lease liabilities payable: ER TR zHERE:
Within one year —F A 1,712 1,925
Over one year but within two years —FHERMER 566 2,304
Over two years but within five years MEBERAFRA - 1,062
2,278 5,291
Less: Amount due for settlement withinone & : ABBEBE NAIRR —F R
year shown under current liabilities B ERSEE 2 B (1,712) (1,925)
Amount due for settlement more than one year JER B AEE NI RR — F 14
shown under non-current liabilities BB HE 2 RIA 566 3,366
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities ranged HEAEMEANEESEENEA467%2
from 4.67% to 10.36% (2023: 4.67% to 7.33%). 10.36% (ZE =% 1 4.67% % 7.33%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. BHERE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Current mE
Multi-media and advertising service ZHEERESRS 1,079 3,095
Contract liabilities that are not expected to be settled within the EARAEERNEPREERB 2 HERE &
Group's normal operating cycle, are classified as current and non- HTERAEB 2 ERKEEBERNEE A
current liabilities based on the Group's earliest obligation to render HNEEIERRBRIERBEE-
services to the customers.
Contract liabilities arise when the Group receives a deposit before WMASEEREETSRGE 2ATWEIZS &
the commencement of the production activity. According to the CEEE K\Tﬁfﬁ CIBIBEHEEF 2 & AR R
contractual payment terms with customers, the Group typically FoAEBE R ENZERBERN T RS
receives a deposit ranging from 10% to 80% (2023: 10% to 80%) B10%ZE80%( - F = = F:10%280%)
of the service fee on acceptance of the engagement. Z2iEE -
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and FAN - BEMBRELER ‘J%155FW¥)5/\%’J
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities MNEHNaBEEH(TRER—FEANRK
from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year mERE L2285 RET
are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 1 April REA—H 3,095 39,343
Recognised as revenue wRABMA (3,095) (36,484)
Receipt of advances or recognition W ER T8 1+ 5% ok 1 32 FE WK BR 5K
of receivables 1,079 236
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,079 3,095
At 31 March 2024, all of the contract liabilities are expected to be RZEZWNF=ZA=+—H FEEHERE
settled after no more than 12 months after the reporting period TR RERETBERNREARNEE(Z
(2023: Nil). To=ZF )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

28. BORROWINGS 28. fHE
2024 2023
—T-_WmF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Current B #5
Placing notes — unsecured (Note a) B EE—mEA (M sa) 30,000 30,000
Other Borrowings — unsecured Hi e —mEim
— Loans from third parties (Note b) - REE=ZFHER(MED) 163,762 169,562
— Loans from employees (Note c) - RERENER T 18,242 21,912
212,004 221,474
Non-current E 300
Bank borrowings — guaranteed (Note d) HRITEE-FBERPIE 2,043 -
214,047 221,474
Notes: P 3 -
(@) On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing (@) RZE—Z=ZFNA=Z+H KA #HE—

agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to
place, through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, the
placing notes up to an aggregate amount of HK$300,000,000 to
be issued by the Company in the denomination of HK$2,000,000
each (the “Placing Notes"”) to independent third parties. Pursuant
to the Placing Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest at
5.0% per annum and are to be redeemed on the seventh
anniversary from the respective issue dates of the Placing Notes.
The Company may early redeem the Placing Notes in whole at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount together with
accrued interest after the third anniversary date from the
respective issue dates of the Placing Notes. On 15 August 2014,
the Company and the Placing Agent renewed the placing period
and agreed to place the notes in the remaining principal amount
of up to HK$280,000,000. Details of the placing and the renewal
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 20 August
2013 and 15 August 2014 respectively.

TEREINRERERAR

FRERE(TREREDFIREHER
EHEl Bt ARFAREEBRREE
RERBHEERERARAB FETE
¥ i %300,000,0008 T & & 7 @ &
2,000,000 T2 BEEZHR([BRERE])
FTREUE=ZH - BEREHFE EEE
BIRFFERSOEFBE  WHRBEETHE
EERCETHHBENAELRAFERD -
ARBAREENEEREZETHH
BAE=ZBEFHBEAEEN LA HE
A FE 5+ I 2 2 FE B {2 42 A1 & 208 B il &
ZE-RZZE-—MFENA+AB AR
RERERBEEREN YTRERE
#RT A& 585 %280,000,0008 L2 ZHk °
FHREFERELZESTHEZFHE 95l
BRARARBSMA-_Z—=FN A=+
ARZE—WOFNA+EHZAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R B AR MY A

(&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

28. BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company issued
placing notes to two placees with aggregate principal amount of
HK$20,000,000. During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Company issued placing notes to another placee with aggregate
principal amount of HK$10,000,000. The placing notes carried
at amortised cost and the effective interest rate ranged from
5.9% to 6.9% per annum. The unpaid interest payables on the
placing notes of HK$10,504,000 (2023: HK$9,004,000) have
been recognised in other payables in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As detailed in Note 33(i) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had not repaid the interest on placing notes on their
respective due dates during the year ended 31 March 2019. One
creditor purportedly a beneficial owner of the Placing Notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 had taken legal
action against the Company to recover the alleged debt amount.

Included in the unsecured borrowings from third parties are:

i) RMB138,022,000 (equivalent to HK$147,744,000) (2023:
RMB134,804,000 (equivalent to HK$153,757,000)) which
was mature on 27 March 2019 (2023: 27 March 2019)
and carries interest rate of the People’s Bank of China
Benchmark Rate. The Group is currently negotiating with
the lender for settlement arrangement;

i) HK$5,000,000 (2023: HK$5,000,000) which will be
mature on 2 August 2024 (2023: 17 April 2023) and
carries fixed interest rate of 14% (2023: 14%) per annum;

iii) HK$4,700,000 (2023:HK$4,734,000) which was mature
on 20 June 2023 (2023: 20 June 2023) and carries fixed
interest rate of 16% (2023: 16%) per annum; and

iv) HK$6,318,000 (2023: HK$6,071,000) which was mature
between 3 November 2023 and 7 January 2024 (2023:
between 3 May 2023 to 6 May 2023) and carries fixed
interest rates of 6% to 12% (2023: 6% to 12%) per
annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT-_WNF=A=+—HIFE

28. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(d)

(e)

Included in the unsecured borrowings from employees are:

i) RMB6,383,000 (equivalent to HK$6,912,000) (2023:
RMB6,383,000 (equivalent to HK$7,355,000)) which was
mature on 31 March 2021 and carries fixed interest rate
of 5% (2023: 5%) per annum;

i) HK$719,000 (2023: HK$1,600,000) which is repayable on
demand and interest-free;

iii) HK$5,349,000 (2023: HK$5,349,000) which was mature
on 31 October 2023 (2023: 9 November 2022) and
interest-free;

iv) HK$1,762,000 (2023: HK$4,108,000) which was mature
on 7 January 2024 (2023: 7 January 2024) and carries
fixed interest rate of 18% (2023:18%) per annum; and

V) HK$3,500,000 (2023: HK$3,500,000) which will be
mature on 1 December 2024 (2023: 1 December 2023)
and carries fixed interest rate of 18% (2023: 18%) per
annum.

The bank borrowings of RMB1,887,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,043,000) which will be mature between 10 July 2025 and
10 July 2026 and carries fixed interest rates between 6.84% and
10.08% per annum. At 31 March 2024, a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company has issued personal guarantees in
favour of the banks to secure bank borrowings granted to the
Company up to the extent of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$16,244,000).

Included in borrowings are the following amounts denominated

28. fBE (&)

CEX

(0

(e)

(&)
REEEMEERIEERE

i) AR #6,383,0007T (#HE 76,912,000

/%m)(qu_i © AR %56,383,000

T (FE R 7,355,00008 7)) B R =

TZ-_—FZA=+—HIH ki

EEFFESE(ZT =4 5E)
e

ii) 719,000% t( = & =
1,600,000 7T) r BBk & EE
=

i) 5,349,000 w( = T = = F:
5,349,000 T)ER =T = =F+
A=z+-B(Z2-=%:_-%

ZZE+—-ANB)EEREER

v) 1,762,000 (= T = =
4,108,000/ 7T) N Z T Z W& —
BtB(ZZE-_=%: T _-_N&F
—AtER)EH EEEFFEIS
E(ZZ-_=F:18E)st 8 &

v) 3,500,000 t( = T =
3500000/%70;1%50:%;@
+ H—H( -

£ R = 18F<:
B

B 17 EE AR 1,887,000 18 & R
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BE_Z-_XFtA+BHMEEH &
EEFHAE6SAEEI10.08FEF L R
T-_NME=ZA=+—H ARAAHTFTH
BARMN—BEFEARTHABEAER -
LERADNAEREZESZ ARK
15,000,000 7T (18 & 72 16,244,000 7T) #9
RITIEE -

EEEENTASEERDEEE U
i

in currencies other than the group entities’ functional currencies: MEBTENS R
2024 2023
—E-_MEF —EF-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
C
RMB AR 186,700 191,112 u
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

29.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a)

Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 under Specific Mandate (the “2022 SM
Convertible Bonds")

On 15 July 2022 (the “2022 SM Convertible Bonds Issue
Date”), the Company completed the issue of the 2022 SM
Convertible Bonds to Yulong Computer Telecommunication
Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Limited* (FEar E#BEREOR
B MW 2AF]) (“Yulong Shenzhen”) in aggregate principal
amount of HK$40,000,000 at zero coupon rate. The 2022
SM Convertible Bonds are convertible into a maximum of
11,428,571 ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$3.5
per share (after adjustments of share consolidation on 20
June 2023). The conversion rights are exercisable from the
2022 SM Convertible Bonds Issue Date and end on the date
which is 30 days prior to the maturity date which falls on the
first anniversary of the 2022 SM Convertible Bonds Issue
Date (i.e. 14 July 2023), both days inclusive. Upon the
maturity, all principal amount or remaining outstanding
principal amount, whichever is appropriate, which have not
been converted shall be validly and fully redeemed by the
Company by allotting the conversion shares of the exactly
the same value as the remaining principal amount of the
2022 SM Convertible Bonds at the conversion price. No
amount shall be payable by the Company to the bondholder
for the redemption of the outstanding principal amount.

Upon the maturity on 14 July 2023, the equity component
of the 2022 SM Convertible Bonds have been converted into
the Company's ordinary shares. The respective balance of
the equity component of the 2022 SM Convertible Bonds in
convertible bonds equity reserve is transferred to share
capital of HK$114,000 and share premium of
HK$23,507,000 accordingly. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss upon the conversion.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. AERES(E)
(a) Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of @ BRERIBEZRTAS LR
HK$40,000,000 under Specific Mandate (the “2022 SM 40,000,000 T AT BRREH(=Z
Convertible Bonds”) (continued) ToERBIEENBRRES]DE)
The movement of the equity component of the 2022 SM T FRRIEETRRESNR
Convertible Bonds is set out below: B EEHmT
HK$'000
FET

At the 2022 SM Convertible Bonds Issue Date and RIEBEZ —FRHEEATRRESET
at 31 March 2023 HEHERA-ZZE-_=F=A=+—H 23,621
Conversion into ordinary shares ERALBR (23,621)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZNFEF=A=+—H -

(b) Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of b) BRE-BREEZFTEAELLE

HK$12,000,000 under General Mandate (the “GM 12,000,000 T AT BRBRESH ([ — K
Convertible Bonds”) RETRRES]
On 29 August 2022 (the “GM Convertible Bonds Issue RZBZZFNRZ+TABU KK
Date”), the Company completed the issue of GM Convertible EABRBRESZRTHEB]D  ARAE
Bonds to four subscribers in aggregate principal amount of PR F DY A R T B AT — AR IR R AT R R
HK$12,000,000 with a coupon interest rate of 4% per E%  AN4$ 4% 4512,000,0008 7L« &
annum and the interest shall be payable by the Company BRAE  RAAFKE —REEITRR
once every six months from the GM Convertible Bonds Issue BEHBEITEHBE  FRAEAZSFE
Date with last payment of interest to be made on the BE—BHFNERBE —MEEATBRRE
maturity date which fall on the third anniversary of the GM FRTHHRE=RAFZAMNEEEE R (A
Convertible Bonds Issue Date (i.e. 28 August 2025). The GM ZEZRFNAZFTNABR)ZA RS
Convertible Bonds are convertible into a maximum of To=FRAZTHRMEHHRE
3,999,998 ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$3.0 —MEREARRESHZARER3.0
per share after adjustments of share consolidation on 20 BT ERE - #1005 3,999,998 % &
June 2023. The conversion rights are exercisable from the AR M AERMR ERETE —
date of 6 months after the GM Convertible Bonds Issue Date BRETHRKRESFETHBREZEA
and expiring on the earlier of the fifth business day before ERRZIHPANEREZEEZRXR
the maturity date or the date on which the Company has AREEONEHBACHEEAUREER
redeemed the entire principal amount, both days inclusive. E)BEERMRIITE -

FEEORFERERAT 2023/24 FERE
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. WEKRES(E)

(b)

Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of
HK$12,000,000 under General Mandate (the “GM

(b)

BRE-REEZTLHAHRE
12,000,000 8 T 9 TR EH ([ — K

Convertible Bonds”) (continued) RETBRRES])(E)
At initial recognition, the GM Convertible Bonds were RUVIEHERE  —REETBRRKRES

separated into a liability component and an equity
component representing the conversion options of the
bondholders. The fair value of the liability component at the
GM Convertible Bonds Issue Date was calculated using
market interest rate of 10.05% per annum for instruments
without conversion option of comparable credit status which
was referenced to a valuation performed by Flagship
Appraisals, an independent qualified professional valuer. The
residual amount, representing the value of the equity
component, had been included in the convertible bonds
equity reserve within equity.

The liability component was amortised over the term of the
GM Convertible Bonds with the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate of the liability component of the
GM Convertible Bonds on initial recognition, which excluded
the impact of deferred day-one gain, is 10.59% per annum
and is subsequent carried at amortised cost.

During the year, none of the GM Convertible Bonds have
been converted into the Company’s ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of (b)
HK$12,000,000 under General Mandate (the “GM

Convertible Bonds") (continued)

The GM Convertible Bonds recognised at the end of the

29. WBRRES(E)

RE -—RKRBEEBTEAEHAE
12,000,000 8 T 9 TR EH ([ — K

BETRRES)DE)

RmERRERN R EATRRE

reporting period are calculated as follows: FIEATHREFE -
Liability Component =Rig: ) HK$'000
FET
Nominal value of GM Convertible Bonds —REETBRRESEE 12,000
Equity component at the GM Convertible Bonds R—REERRESFETEHN
Issue Date 2B (1,856)
Day-one gain, net of issue costs attributable to BERHlE MBREEDBEMND
liability component BITRRAR (55)
Fair value of liability component at the GM R—BEREASRRESEITEH
Convertible Bonds Issue Date BEBHIHAFE 10,089
Accrued effective interest EETEBRF B 624
Accrued coupon interest transferred to interest EAZREBEZTEMNFR
payable (186)
Interest paid 25 F & (100)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=ZA=+—HXK
—EZ=FMA—H 10,427
Accrued effective interest EAERR A 1,143
Accrued coupon interest transferred to interest B ZEEEBERMTE
payable (340)
Interest paid 2 FLE (140)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_WNF=A=+—H 11,090
Equity Component IR R D HK$'000
FET
Equity component at the GM Convertible Bonds R—REERRESFETEHN
Issue Date % # &8 5 1,854
Day-one gain, net of issue costs attributable to BHEE  MBRRES EEH
equity component TR 2
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 R-_ZE-_ZF=ZA=+—8xK
—E-_NME=ZA=+—H 1,856

TEREINRERERAR
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. WBRRES(E)

(c)

Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of
RMB20,000,000 under Specific Mandate (the “2023 SM
Convertible Bonds")

On 30 June 2023 (the “2023 SM Convertible Bonds Issue
Date”), the Company completed the issue of the 2023 SM

(c)

REBIRERTEASBEARY
20,000,000t BN AT B EH( ==
—EERBETRBRES]

RZEBEZ=ZFXNA=Z+RH(=ZE==
FHRAIRETRRESRZETABR]

Convertible Bonds to Hong Fu (HF) Holdings Group Limited R X A) T K 1) AL 48 ( HF) TREEFR
("Hong Fu”) (4L & (HF) = & & B B BR 2 &) in aggregate AEl(BDBET S _=FHAK
principal amount of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to BEAHRRES A2BHEAEARE
HK$23,256,000) with a coupon interest rate of 2% per 20,000,000 7t ( M & 723,256,000%
annum. The 2023 SM Convertible Bonds will mature on the L) FREXAR2E T _=F4
date falling upon the third anniversary of the 2023 SM FRERREFER_ZE_ZFF

Convertible Bonds Issue Date or if such date is not a business
day, then on the next business day which immediately
follows. The coupon interest is accrued on a day-to-day basis
on the principal amount of the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds
outstanding and shall only be payable by the Company on
the maturity date or the latest date (which the Company
redeemed or the bondholder converted the principal amount
of the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds or the remaining principal
amount of the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds (whichever is
appropriate)).

MEREABRREFZTER=ZBFZ
- MZBELFEEER AE
ZEEEZN T -BAEXAANH -RE
RABITEN T = FRFRIEEN
BEEFNASERZARA  LEH
ARABREHA K& ABMANARA
BOSESBEAER_T_=-FF
MEREABRESASER T _=
F 1 B #AE A R BRE 75 R 8 AR 28R (A
HEERME)) M -

The conversion rights are exercisable on the date which falls BREAAR ZE_=FFRIEENR
on 6 months after the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds Issue BREFFITAMHERERE B E 3

Date and expiring on the maturity date, both days inclusive.
In the case of the conversion rights having been exercised in
full at the initial conversion price of HK$2.25, the 2023 SM
Convertible Bonds are convertible into a total number of
10,335,917 conversion shares subject to adjustments.

At initial recognition, the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds were
separated into a liability component and a derivative
component representing the conversion options of the
bondholder and early redemption right of the Company
because the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds are not settled by
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own share. Any excess of

HAL(BEEEMA)A FIT7# - £
MR S BRIRE2.258 T EEIT
FEHBERT —EZ=FFREE
BmkkESFRE %R RE 10,335,917
B (AT ¥ 98 28 ) ey R AR B A ©

RN K —T_=FRFRER
AHREESFOREBENS RITAETA
Moy URREFBAEANBHRER
BEARBDNEFBELOE RESZ
E_ZFRHIEREARBRESTIEE
BUABEEEMNRESREMEERR
B EHENARRBERODBOTNE

the proceeds over the fair value amount initially recognised cHTISHNERBYKEBERARITAET
as the derivative component is recognised as the liability ,\ﬁB RN ?Tﬁ%%ﬁﬁ’\ﬂﬂﬂ Eiaok
component. Direct related costs relating to the issue of the REABRH Y WMET_T_=F%

2023 SM Convertible Bonds are allocated to the liability and

)”7' R B R R B R R

derivative components in proportion to the allocation of ARBERAFENDELISEER
their fair values. The portion of the direct related costs (P54 miI/\ 7> o B MK AR
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as HEEHRI AN NEERAEE
part of the liability component, and the portion relating to BEE s - MmELTE T R HAE I
the derivative component is recognised immediately in profit RN ET AE R o

or loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(c)

Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of
RMB20,000,000 under Specific Mandate (the “2023 SM
Convertible Bonds") (continued)

As at the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds Issue Date, the fair
value of the liability component was calculated using market
interest rate of 14.7% per annum for instruments without
conversion option of comparable credit status and the fair
value of derivative component was measured by using the
Binomial Model, which is referenced to a valuation
performed by an independent qualified professional valuer.
A day-one gain of which represented the difference between
the nominal value and the fair value of the 2023 SM
Convertible Bonds at the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds Issue
Date, is not recognised in profit or loss immediately but
deferred. The carrying value of the liability component of the
2023 SM Convertible Bonds is net of the day-one gain and
direct related costs. The deferred day-one gain in the liability
component of HK$5,891,000 were amortised over the term
of the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds and included in “Interest
on convertible bonds” in profit or loss.

The liability component is amortised over the term of the
2023 SM Convertible Bonds with the effective interest
method. The effective interest rate of the liability component
of the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds on initial recognition,
which excluded the impact of deferred day-one gain, is
14.7% per annum and is subsequently carried at amortised
cost. The derivative component is subsequently remeasured
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss.

During the year, none of the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds
have been converted into the Company’s ordinary shares.

29. WBRRES(E)

(c)

TEEINRERERAR

BERIBERTEASABARYE
20,000,000t W AR KR BEH(T ==

CEERRRETRARES]E)
R-ZT - ZFRHRIRE AR E S

THE aEX>NAFEEEEMR
MABEREEEHRZEENTA 2
MHSEMNERI4TEFE MTAETE
HomAFEFA-—EABRE;E -
K2EZBUEEAREXEGEMETD
HE-B_Z_—FHRRETBRRK
BEER T _=FHRZEATRRE
FROTBHOEHEEATEZENE
FMNEARZTTASRNEmEERR
BHER TR ET®
BREFBEBO>NEEENGREB K
mREEHBENEA - BEHOELES
HUr#5,891,0008 LER =S =_=F
FRREITBREFHARRNEN I
PIABHBO AT RRES ] -
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P& 1B % HAPR P9 LA B B8 FI) SRR B 8 o R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. AERES(E)

(c) Convertible bonds in aggregate principal amount of (0 RERIBRERTEASBEARY
RMB20,000,000 under Specific Mandate (the “2023 SM 20,000,000t W AT B EH(T = F
Convertible Bonds”) (continued) “EERBIEETBRRES]DE)
The 2023 SM Convertible Bonds recognised at the end of RMERRERN = FFHIE
the reporting period are calculated as follows: BERAIRIRESFTIRATAREE
Liability Component =Rt HK$'000

FET
Fair value at the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds RIEZ=FHERATRRES
Issue Date ETHHOATE 16,328
Day-one gain, net of issue costs attributable to BERHlE MBREEDBHEMND
liability component BEITRRAR 5,769
Accrued effective interest EET BB B 587
Exchange adjustments ME 3, 78 2 (1,526)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NF=F=+—H 21,158
Derivative Component TEITERS HK$'000
FET
Fair value at the 2023 SM Convertible Bonds RIEBEZ=ZFHHIEREATRRKRES
Issue Date BITHHO A TE 1,037
Changes in fair value (Note 9) AT EEH (T (1,054)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZEB-mE=ZA=+—H (17)
30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. EEBIE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses of REEHR - NREE A HE R KRR 2 B

HK$275,795,000 (2023: HK$262,404,000) available for offset 7% 5 8 /275,795,000 (=T = = £ ¢

against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised 262,404,000 7o) © # 8 B TR TR A R s

due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. AR MBEROIELCEHIEEE -

Included in unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2024 were losses RZEZWEF=ZA=+—H XPABBEE

of HK$17,058,000 (2023: HK$12,624,000) that would expire in 188 4E B 817,058,000 (=T = = F :

five years and the remaining balance may be carried forward 12,624,000 7T) - RIRBIT BB EN - Hi§
indefinitely under the current tax legislation. RAFABERF T AR MIBREAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT-_WNF=A=+—HIFE

SHARE CAPITAL 31, B&X
Par value Number of
per share shares Amount
ERERAEE RHEE okl
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
BT F % FAET
Ordinary shares: R il
Authorised: VETE
At 1 April 2023 NRZZE-=FN )E] —H 0.01 65,000,000 650,000
Share consolidation (Note a(i)) B & B (B sE adi) N/A 7R 3 (58,500,000) -
Share subdivision (Note a(i) & (iii)) A% 17 ¥ 40 (Ff &E a(ii) K (iii)) N/A T3 A 58,500,000 -
At 31 March 2024 R-EBE-_NME=A=+—H 0.01 65,000,000 650,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAE
At 1 April 2022 RN-ZE-__FMWMAH—H 0.01 588,234 5,883
Issue of consideration shares BEITRERD (M D)
(Note b) 0.01 16,667 167
Issue of shares in respect of share Bt A& 15 R 1T D
subscription (Note ¢) (B 3EC) 0.01 120,980 1,210
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 0.01 725,881 7,260
Share consolidation (Note a(i)) f& 15 & OF (M 3k ad) N/A A~ 38 (653,293) -
Capital reduction (Note a(ii) & (iii)) A% 2 B 38 (B & adii) R (iii)) N/A T 38 A - (6,534)
Issue of shares in respect of AR ES LB ETRG
conversion of convertible bonds (FsEd)
(Note d) 0.01 11,429 114
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NMF=HA=+—H 0.01 84,017 840

o0
I‘
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

31.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 23 May 2023

and pursuant to a special resolution passed at the Company’s
special general meeting held on 16 June 2023 (the “SGM"), the

capital reorganisation (the “Capital Reorganisation”) which

comprises the share consolidation, capital reduction and share

subdivision are disclosed in detail as below:

0)

(if)

(iii)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the SGM, a
share consolidation on the basis that every ten existing
issued and unissued ordinary shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one consolidated share of a par value of
HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company (the
“Consolidated Share 2023") with effective from 20 June
2023 (the “Share Consolidation 2023");

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the SGM, the
Company's issued share capital has been reduced by
cancelling any fraction of Consolidated Share 2023 in the
issued share capital of the Company arising from the
Share Consolidation 2023 and the par value of all issued
Consolidated Share 2023 be reduced from HK$0.1 each
to HK$0.01 each (the “New Shares”) by cancelling the
paid-up capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.09
on each of the Consolidated Share 2023 in issue (the
“Capital Reduction”). The credit arising from the Capital
Reduction of HK$6,534,000 was transferred to the
contributed surplus account of the Company; and

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the SGM, every
authorised but unissued Consolidated Share 2023 in the
share capital of the Company be sub-divided into ten new
shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Share

Subdivision”).
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT-_WNF=A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

On 29 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued 16,666,667
ordinary shares with the aggregated nominal value of
HK$167,000 to the vendors as a settlement of the consideration
in respect of the acquisition of Hong Kong Made and Ample
Success in June 2019 pursuant to the agreement and
supplementary agreement dated 29 March 2019 and 14 August
2020 respectively.

On 1 November 2022, the Company entered into 5 subscription
agreements with 5 subscribers, pursuant to which the Company
contemplates to allot and issue 120,980,170 ordinary shares at a
price of HK$0.0576 per share (the “Share Subscription”). On 11
November 2022, the Company completed the Share Subscription
and the net proceeds from the Share Subscription amounted to
HK$6,969,000 were used for (i) settlement of the outstanding
liabilities of the Group in the amount of HK$3,000,000; and (ii)
general working capital of the Group in amount of
HK$3,969,000. Details of the Share Subscription were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 1 November 2022 and
11 November 2022 respectively.

On 17 July 2023, the Company allotted and issued 11,428,571
ordinary shares upon maturity of the convertible bonds in
aggregate principal amount of HK$40,000,000 under Specific
Mandate pursuant to the subscription agreement and
supplementary subscription agreement dated 21 April 2022 and
14 June 2022 respectively.

All the shares which were issued during the year ended 31 March

2024 rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

31. BRAR(4
B 5E -

(b)

(d)

o (0%
d e B

O

TEREINRERERAR

&)
i)

i \nnﬂﬁ

(

RZEZZFtAZ+NAB  ARAMA
E B8 % ¥ 1716,666,667 % T @ A% -

MEE 167,000 7T - Ao R RIE B H
BRIE-NFZAZ+TNABRZZZZ
FNATHBEOHZERAETHE
RZZE-—NENAKRETBRIERED
HRE

‘m:l/ﬁ

o

RZEZZF+—A—B ARal#EA
ERBAFTUAOREGE  BHAR
7] % B2 % 12 % 47120,980,170 B & 38 A% -
B®RAETR005768 T(IRMHRES
B RZZZZF+—A+—H K
NAFTERRMDRESE - HEREF
#H /56,969,000 7T - E A : (i) 3,000,000
BTRRBEEAEENREEERE &)
3,969,000 T HIEREEN —REEE
oRMARBEEENFE \Zﬁ"ﬂE
MAR-Z__F+— HfE!& —-=
F+—A+—BNAEHREE-
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B AZZS-__FWA=-Z+—HRK
R FRNATHBENRE R ELE
AREHE BEEIEERRNS AT
540,000,000 7T &) 7] #2 AR (& % B H i
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5.0% of relevant payroll costs capped at
HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) per month to the MPF scheme, in
which the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
contribute a certain percentage of relevant payroll cost to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$115,000
(2023: HK$117,000) represents contributions paid or payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specifies in the rules of the plans.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no forfeited
contribution available to reduce its contributions to the retirement
benefit schemes in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 # % —

33. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent. Pursuant to the Placing
Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest at 5.0% per
annum and are to be redeemed on the seventh anniversary
from the respective issue dates of the Placing Notes. One
creditor purportedly a beneficial owner of the Placing Notes
commenced court action against the Company for recovery
of her alleged outstanding debt due by the Company to her
under the Placing Notes. Nevertheless, the note holders of
the Placing Notes have not commenced any court action
against the Company. Such creditor’s alleged debt amount
includes the principal of HK$10 million and outstanding
interest of HK$1.26 million.

On 16 March 2020, the Placing Agent was added by such
creditor as the second defendant in the Amended Writ of
Summons and Amended Statement of Claim. On 4
December 2020, the Company filed and served a Writ of
Summons and Statement of Claim against the Placing Agent.
A mediation conference was held on 13 September 2021
and the mediation ended without agreement. On 31 January
2022, the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong (the “Court”) granted an order that the aforesaid two
court actions be heard and tried together at the same time
or one after the other as to be directed by the trial judge.
On 20 June 2022, the Company filed and served its Re-
Amended Defence and Counterclaim under one court action
and its Re-Amended Statement of Claim and Writ of
Summons under another court action.

On 8 February 2023, the Court issued an order that the case
management summons conference hearing in the aforesaid
two actions which was held on 11 July 2023 and adjourned
to 18 December 2023. On 27 September 2023, the
Company has taken out applications for expert directions
and adducing supplemental witness statements. On 18
December 2023, the Court issued an order that a case
management conference hearing which was held on 18 April
2024. On 18 April 2024, the Court issued an order that the
Creditor to set the case down within 42 days for a 12-day
trial. Applications to set down for trial were filed and served
on 13 May 2024 and 28 May 2024 respectively.
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33. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 33. FiRARBAREE(E)

(i) InJuly 2019, Hong Kong Made and Ample Success had (i) ZEE-NFLA FEEERENE
entered into an agreement with a licensor (the “Licensor”) BHRATEFADIZLBZE  LEE
to obtain the advertising license rights for the period from 1 —E-NEFE+LtA—BEZZT-_FX
July 2019 to 30 June 2022 in connection with the R=1+THHERREMER KT 5=
Guangzhou-Shenzhen China Railway High-speed Harmony ([EREFE SRS E ] E’J%%%E@fg
Series trains (the “GSCR Hexiehao Trains”) (the “2019 ([ZZE-—NFEREEFTEBZ] -
Advertising License Rights Agreement”) and were the &R %?fﬂ*“?fﬂi%%ﬁﬁﬂ&i&&
exclusive agents in connection with the advertising agency HERERBEOBRRE . — T = —
services and related production services for GSCR Hexiehao FRA AEBEFITAZEITS —H
Trains. In June 2021, the Group had entered into another mE EESRARNBRA-ZT
agreement with the Licensor to extend the term of the I tEtA-HEREZZ-ZRER
Advertising License Rights for the period from 1 July 2022 to R=+R(ZZE=Z—FEEFTERD
30 June 2025 (the “2021 Advertising License Rights EADI

Agreement”).

In September 2022, the Group was in dispute with the MRZZBEZZ_FENA REBEBHEETFA
Licensor on certain terms of the 2021 Advertising License R —FEERTEBEOET
Rights Agreement and the Group, as plaintiff, lodged legal BRELEFH AEBUEAREA)
proceedings against the Licensor (the “Defendant”) in ?f%%"?/\(W&i/\J)Eﬁigi—i
Guangzhou Nansha People’s Court, (the “Nansha Court”) in BEETERE A?ﬁd‘\‘l?ﬁﬁ‘}/)luﬁ/\
respect of the breach of the 2021 Advertising License Rights RZER(ELRER]D - LOBER =
Agreement for (i) rescinding the 2021 Advertising License T -FEREFTERE ( VEREB
Rights Agreement; (ii) refund of deposit paid of 8% & AR %5,300, OOOTEHH% S

RMB5,300,000 (equivalent to HK$6,045,000); (iii) refund of 6,045,000 7T.) : (iii) % W &) T A]
over-charged license fees of RMB8,917,000 (equivalent to B AR ?ﬁ§8,917,00075( B E R
HK$10,163,000); and (iv) other damages such as losses, 10,163,0007 7T ) ¢ K (iv) & b 8= (6l
interest and legal fees etc. (the “2022 PRC Court Action”). mEE FEREREBRSE) (=2

ZZFHBUEBRFRL °

In December 2022, the Group lodged legal proceedings RZEBEZZF+_R -AEEREHE
against the Defendant in the Court of First Instance of Hong FER7 Ek@l?*’\/iﬁ(f%f/%?*’\irﬂ
Kong Special Administrative Region (the “CFI of Hong M EAREBIEEFAD ROMBEKR =
Kong") for (i) rescinding the 2019 Advertising License Rights T-NFESHTERE &:%:—
Agreement and the 2021 Advertising License Rights FRERFEBZ  (HVROBENHRK
Agreement; (ii) returns of deposit paid of RMB5,300,000 & ARKS, 300 0007t (#H& 76,045,000
(equivalent to HK$6,045,000); (iii) refund of over-charged BL) i (NEBZRHFTAEARE
license fees of RMB15,533,000 (equivalent to 15,533,000 c( 8 & $17,716,000%
HK$17,716,000); and (iv) other damages such as losses, L) R(v)EmMBEMWINEE - A B
interest and legal fees etc. (the “2022 Hong Kong Court LEREBRSE) ([ ZZE 8% %K
Action”). AL o
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LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(i)

(continued)

On 20 February 2023, the Defendant lodged a counterclaim
against the Group in the Nansha Court (the “Counterclaim”)
but the Counterclaim was subsequently revoked and
approved by the Nansha Court on 13 June 2023. At the
same date, the Nansha Court determined to dismiss the
claim against the Defendant lodged by the Group on the
basis that there is parallel litigation with certain overlapping
issues between the aforesaid claims lodged in the Nansha
Court and in the CFl of Hong Kong.

On 20 June 2023, the Group submitted an amendment on
its Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim to the CFI of
Hong Kong for (i) rescinding the 2019 Advertising License
Rights Agreement; (ii) refund of overcharged license fees of
RMB12,468,000 (equivalent to HK$13,502,000); and (iii)
other damages such as losses, interest and legal fees etc. (the
“2023 Hong Kong Court Action”).

On 13 July 2023, the Group lodged another legal proceeding
against the Defendant in the Nansha Court in relation to the
2021 Advertising License Rights Agreement for (i) rescinding
the 2021 Advertising License Rights Agreement; (ii) refund
of deposit paid of RMB5,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,739,000); (iii) refund of over-charged license fees of
RMB8,917,000 (equivalent to HK$9,656,000); and (iv) other
damages such as losses, interest and legal fees etc. (the
“2023 PRC Court Action”). The Defendant lodged objections
on 26 September 2023 and the Group has lodged statement
of defence and supplemental statement of defence on 12
October 2023 and 24 November 2023 respectively. On 12
December 2023, the Nansha Court determined to dismiss
the 2023 PRC Court Action. The Group lodged an appeal to
Guangzhou Intermediate People’s Court (the “Guangzhou
Court”) on 3 January 2024 (the "Appeal”) and was accepted
by the Guangzhou Court on 6 March 2024.
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33.

34.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) (continued)

Up to the date of these consolidated financial statements,
the CFl of Hong Kong and the Guangzhou Court have not
issued any judgement in relation to the 2023 Hong Kong
Court Action and the Appeal. The Directors of the Company
consider the claims lodged by the Group in respect of the
over-charged license fees and other damages had not been
recognised as contingent assets as it is considered the
outcome of the legal proceedings is uncertain at the end of
the reporting period. Details of impairment assessment of
ECL allowance on deposits and prepayments to the Licensor
are set out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 30 September 2021, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which will expire on 29
September 2031. The primary purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to provide incentives or reward to the eligible persons (the
"Eligible Person”) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts
to promote the interests of, the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions, the Board may at
its discretion offer to any eligible employee, director, consultant,
agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the Group options to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

Such offer shall be made to an Eligible Person by letter and will
remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned on a
day specified in the letter of grant which such date shall be no
longer than 30 days from the date of the letter of grant. The
option(s) shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted and
taken effect when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of
the option(s) is duly signed by the Eligible Person together with a
remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 for each
acceptance of grant of the option(s). Subject to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and all applicable laws, the Board has the
power to determine the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Options may be exercised at a subscription price determined by the
Board (subject to adjustments as provided in the rules of the Share
Option Scheme) and notified to an Eligible Person, which shall be
at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (ii) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer of the options, which
must be a business day (as defined in the Share Option Scheme);
and (iii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of the options.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and other share option scheme(s) shall not exceed 10% of
the number of issued Shares as at the date of shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme (or such number of shares as
will result from a subdivision or a consolidation of the shares from
time to time) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"). Unless approved as
referred to in the paragraph below, no options or options granted
under any other share option scheme(s) may be granted if such
grant will result in the Scheme Mandate Limit being exceeded.

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, provided that:

(@) the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed
10% of the total number of issued shares as at the date of
shareholders’ approval of the refreshment of the Scheme
Mandate Limit;

(b)  Options or options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme or other share option scheme(s) (including
options outstanding, cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with
the relevant scheme rules or exercised) shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit as
refreshed; and

(¢) a circular regarding the proposed refreshment has been
despatched to the shareholders of the Company in a manner
complying with and containing the matters specified in the
relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue from
time to time (the “Overriding Limit”). No options granted under
the Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s) may
be granted if it will result in the Overriding Limit being exceeded.

Subject to the Overriding Limit, the Company may seek separate
approval from the shareholders for granting options which will
result in the Scheme Mandate Limit being exceeded, provided that
the grant is to persons specifically identified by the Company
before the approval is sought.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued) in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) to any Eligible Person in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
unless such grant has been duly approved by ordinary resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the relevant Eligible
Person and his close associates (or his associates if the relevant
Eligible Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is a
prospective grantee of the option). Where options are proposed to
be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates, and the
proposed grant of options would result in the shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share option
scheme(s) (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of the grant of such options to represent in aggregate over
0.1% of the total number of issued shares for the time being and
have an aggregate value (based on the closing price of a share at
each date of the grant of these options) exceeding HK$5,000,000,
the proposed grant shall be subject to:

a) the issue of a circular to the shareholders containing the
details of the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of the options to be granted to each of such person,
which must be fixed before the shareholders’ meeting, and
the date of Board meeting for proposing such further grant
is to be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price (including in particular, a
recommendation from the independent non-executive
directors (excluding the independent non-executive director
who is the prospective grantee of the option) to the
independent shareholders as to voting); and

b) the approval of the shareholders in general meeting in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules at
which all core connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) abstained from voting in favour of the grant (but a
connected person may vote against the resolution at the
general meeting provided that his intention to do so has
been stated in the circular).

The grantee of an option may subscribe for shares during such
period as may be determined by the Board (which shall not be
more than 10 years commencing on the date on which the option
is granted in accordance with the Share Option Scheme). Unless
otherwise determined by the Board and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
At 31 March 2024, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme was 3,721,561 (2023: 3,721,561),
representing 4.43% (2023: 6.33%) of the shares of the Company
in issue at that date.

Details of the share options during the year are as follows:

34. BRFESHE(E)
RZTEZWNF=ZA=+—H EHREER
RESTEIE B M R AT 2 B AR 2 B 15 81
B A3,721561K% (=% = = 43,721,561
B - HRZBEARTE TN Z4.43%
(ZE-=%:633%)°

FABBEFEDOT

Outstanding Granted  Outstanding  Outstanding Granted  Outstanding
Name or category as at During as at as at during as at
of participant Date of grant Exercise price  Exercise period 1 April 2022 FY2023 31March2023 1 April 2023 the year 31 March 2024
R-B-ZE R-BZZF R-BoZE R-E-mE
MA-A MWZE=-= =ZR=1-H mA-H ZR=t-H
SHREARIEN RUAH i@ & HRTE BERY HRTE HRTE ERRL HATE
Directors
Bz
Mr. Zhang Yi 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 9 December 2021 - 372,156 - 372,156 372,156 - 372,156
8 December 2026
RikrE “3--F 339%7 ZEI-ET2ANRE
tZAAA ZEZRETZANR
Ms. Chu Wei Ning 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 9 December 2021 - 372,156 - 372,156 372,156 - 372,156
8 December 2026
NEELL “3--F 33987 ZEI-ET2ANBEE
tZANE “EoRETZANA
Ms. Lam Sze Man 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 9 December 2021 - 186,078 - 186,078 186,078 - 186,078
8 December 2026
LEL S “E--F 3397 ZEZ-ETZANEE
tZAnA ZEIRETZANG
Employees 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 9 December 2021 - 2,009,643 - 2,009,643 2,009,643 - 2,009,643
8 December 2026
g “E--F 339%n ZEZ-5+ZANRE
+ZAAA ZEZRETZANR
Others
Aft
- Consultants 9 December 2021 HK$3.39 9 December 2021 - 781,528 - 781,528 781,528 - 781,528
8 December 2026
- B ZE>-f 339%T ZEI-FTZANRE
tZAnA ZEIRETZANGR
3,721,561 - 3,721,561 3,721,561 - 3,721,561
Exercisable at the end
of the year
RERIFE 3,721,561 3,721,561
Weighted average
exercise prices HK$3.39 HK$3.39
ETHEE 33987 339% 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

All outstanding share options were vested immediately when
granted. None of the options are exercised during the year. The
option outstanding at 31 March 2024 had a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 2.7 years (2023: 3.7 years).

The number of share options and exercise price have been adjusted
to reflect the effect of share consolidation in June 2023. Details of
which are set out in Note 31(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 15 January 2018 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company has
adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), in
which the employees selected by the Board for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Employee”) will be entitled to
participate and pursuant to which awards will be satisfied by (i)
new shares to be allotted and issued to the trustee appointed by
the Company for the purpose of the trust, and initially, Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited (the "Trustee”) under a General
Mandate or Specific Mandate, or (ii) existing shares to be acquired
by the Trustee from the market, the costs of which will be borne
by the Company, and the shares of which will be held on trust by
the Trustee for the Selected Employee before vesting.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain employees and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board in accordance with the scheme rules, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years from the Adoption
Date.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the scheme rules and
the trust deed dated 15 January 2018 entered into between the
Company and the Trustee (the “Trust Deed”). The Trustee shall
hold the funds and properties held under the trust and managed
by the Trustee for the benefit of the employees (other than the
excluded employees) (the “Trust Fund”) in accordance with the
terms of the Trust Deed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

35.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

During the term of the Share Award Scheme, the Board may, from
time to time, at its discretion select any employee (other than any
excluded employee) to be a Selected Employee and grant an award
to such Selected Employee at no consideration in accordance with
the scheme rules. No award shall be granted by the Board to
Selected Employee and no instructions to acquire any shares shall
be given by the Board to the Trustee pursuant to the scheme rules
where dealings in the shares are prohibited under any code or
requirement of the Listing Rules and all applicable laws from time
to time.

Where any grant of awarded shares is proposed to be made to any
Selected Employee who is a director (including an independent
non-executive director), such grant must first be approved by all
the members of the Remuneration Committee, or in the case
where the grant is proposed to be made to any member of the
remuneration committee of the Company, by all of the other
members of the remuneration committee of the Company.

In the event that the grant of an award to any connected person
of the Company constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company
shall comply with the applicable reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

Subject to the scheme rules, the Board shall determine from time
to time such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for an award
to be vested. Prior to the vesting date, any award made hereunder
shall be personal to the Selected Employee to whom it is made and
shall not be assignable and no Selected Employee shall in any way
sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in
favour of any other person over or in relation to the awarded
shares referable to him/her pursuant to such award.

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a Selected
Employee is found to be an excluded employee or is deemed to
cease to be an employee, the relevant award made to such
Selected Employee shall automatically lapse forthwith and the
relevant awarded shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date
but shall remain part of the Trust Fund.
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35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a Selected
Employee dies or retires by agreement with a member of the
Group, all the awarded shares of the relevant Selected Employee
shall be deemed to be vested on the day immediately prior to his/
her death or the day immediately prior to his/her retirement with
the relevant member of the Group.

The Board may at its discretion, with or without further conditions,
grant additional shares or cash award out of the Trust Fund
representing all or part of the income or distributions (including
but not limited to cash income or dividends, cash income or net
proceeds of sale of non-cash and non-scrip distribution, bonus
shares and scrip dividends) declared by the Company or derived
from such awarded shares during the period from the date of
award to the vesting date to a Selected Employee upon the vesting
of any awarded shares. Subject to such discretion of the Board, a
Selected Employee shall not have any interest or rights (including
the right to receive dividends) in the awarded shares prior to the
vesting date.

A Selected Employee shall have no rights in the cash in the Trust
Fund which has not been applied in the acquisition of any shares
(the “Residual Cash”) or shares or such other Trust Fund or
properties held by the Trustee.

No instructions shall be given by a Selected Employee (including
without limitation to voting rights) to the Trustee in respect of the
awarded shares that have not been vested, and such other
properties in the Trust Fund managed by the Trustee. The Trustee
shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any shares held
under the Trust.

The Board shall not make any further grant of awards which will
result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board
under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the
tenth anniversary date of the Adoption Date; and (ii) such date of
early termination as determined by the Board, provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any Selected
Employee under the Share Award Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

35.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)
The following table discloses the details of unvested awarded
shares granted by the Company pursuant to the Share Award

IR 10 Bt & ()
TREBARARERD BB FEELERSE
JB R B A 2 #EIT

Scheme:

Number of awarded
Fair value per shares at 31 March
Grant date awarded share Vesting period 2023 and 2024
R-ZBZ=ZFR
—E-ONEF
ZA=+—-HZ
RHEBH BEREBRG 2D TFE HEAH REROEE
2 February 2018 HK$161 2 February 2018 to 3 April 2018 1,550

—Z-A\F-HAZH 1618 7T - N\F-AZHE-ZT-)N\F

MmA=H

The fair value per awarded share of HK$161 (At grant date:
HK$0.161) and number of awarded shares of 1,550 (At grant date:
1,550,000) as disclosed above have been adjusted to reflect the
effect of share consolidations in August 2018, September 2021
and June 2023. Details of the share consolidation in June 2023 are
set out in Note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the awarded shares that are
not vested in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme are held by the Trustee to be applied towards future
awards in accordance with the provisions of the Share Award
Scheme.

As at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, there were no awarded
shares available for grant under the Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no awarded
shares that may be issued under the Share Award Scheme (2023:
None).

As at the date of this annual report, there were no awarded shares
available for issue under the Share Award Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 36. HBREFREER
(a) Cash used in operations () RETBFAES

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss before tax B 5% B 5 18 (33,704) (30,005)
Finance costs A& KR 10,338 10,956
Depreciation of property, plant M- -BERRBITE
and equipment 166 123
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 1,706 1,814
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 29 11,279
Impairment loss of goodwill AmEREERE 1,688 47,878
Impairment loss under expected credit loss FEHE EEEE R T 2 B EEE -
model, net of reversal Wk EE 10,291 128
Impairment loss of intangible assets mEEEZRMEEIE 1,196 -
Share of losses of associates DInEE R AEE 26 19
Waiver of other payable Hih B RIEER R (5,972) -
Loss on early termination of lease REKIEHEEZEE 100 -
Fair value gain on derivative component of A #EEHTET A H 2 A F
convertible bonds [EL & (1,054) -
Gain on extinguishment of EREBEKLERNKE
financial liabilities - (56,991)
Changes in working capital: EEEBH:
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 Kk E iR (26,267) 822
Trade and other payables ERE S REMERIER 30,941 15,630
Contract liabilities EHEE (2,017) (36,248)
Cash used in operations BRETHMARS (12,533) (34,595)

TEREINRERERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows from financing activities:

Amounts due to
shareholders and

36.

directors  Interest payable
(includedin  (included in trade

HiREREER(B)
(b) MEZFBFMELREBEZIHEK

TRAMAEERELTHMELAR
ZEH(EEReRFRSEY) B
ERSMELRABERRSAEIARNR
BenB88RNAEEzGaRERE
RPNAREEHZEE -

trade and other and other Lease Convertible
payables) payables) Borrowings liabilities bonds Total
Ef ERFIE AR REBE akES 28
RRREZHE GIAENERR
(FFARNERR HibEE)
HbEE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 28) (Note 26) (Note 29)
(¥r3E25) (Fit29) (Bi28) (B 26) (Bi29)
At 1 April 2022 RZE--EWA-A 81,095 8,508 21137 5872 - 316,612
Changes from cash flows: ReREzEs:
Advance from shareholders and RRRESZNFE
directors, net 26 - - - - 26
New borrowings raised MEAMEE - - 2,030 - - 2,030
Issue of convertible bond BuakEs - - - - 10,089 10,089
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREAR - - - (1,948) - (1,948)
Interest paid BHIFIS - (573) (752) - (100) (1,425)
226 (573) 1,278 (1,948) 9,989 8,972
Non-cash change: E3EY SR
Addition of lease liabilities MERERR - - - 1,154 - 1,154
Finance costs recognised BRABENS - 2216 7,900 216 624 10,956
Exchange adjustments EiAE (2,029 - (7,830 B - (9,862)
Others b - 1197 (1,011) - (186) -
(2,029) 3413 (941) 1,367 438 2,48
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%#=f=1-H 79,292 11,348 21,474 5291 10,427 327,832
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36. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

At 1 April 2023 R-E-=&nA-B

Changes from cash flows: ReREzEY:

Advance from shareholders and REREZDIEE
directors, net

New borrowings raised FiEEE

Issue of convertible bond BmakEs

Repayment of lease liabilties ERAERR

Repayment of borrowings ERREE

Interest paid ERFIE

Non-cash change: FEY LR

Finance costs recognised BRARERE

Early termination of lease RERIBE

Exchange adjustments EXBE

Others £

At 31 March 2024

R-E-ME=A=+-H

36. HttBREREBER(E)

(b) BMEFBFELEEEZIHERE

Lease Convertible

liabilities bonds Total

HEER TRRES g

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

&R TER iR
(Note 26) (Note 29)
(H3E26) (GEPE)

5,291 10427 327,832

- - 2,586

- - 2,736

- 22,097 22,097

(2,136) - (2,136)

- - (1,440)

- (140) (5,716)

(2,136) 21,957 18,127

332 1,730 10,338

(853) - (853)

(356) (1,526) (12,268)

- (340) 2,207

(877) (136) (576)

2,278 32,248 345,383

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. BEREE
2024 2023
—T-_mF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contracted for but not provided in the BEIMERNGE M WmEREE -
consolidated financial statements:
Unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries R EB ARz REFEMER 151,573 91,175
Unpaid registered capital for associates REE QR 2 REEMER 541 456
152,114 91,631
38. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 38. BEALTRS

Details of balances with related parties are disclosed in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group comprises all the
Directors, details of their emoluments are disclosed in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of the
Directors is determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individual and market trends.

.
b

214 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24

HEEAT 2 EBRFBREE VB REMN
25 75 o

TEEBEAETMH
AEBTEERABBREE2RES Hile
HBERGEMBHRRMT14KE - E= 2B
THHEHEZEeNEBENALRARTS
BERET -



39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

39. ARAFAEEMBAAHR

TERBINEERRIEUAEEEAXEE
BEAYENARAMBAR BEERR
FHNEMHBARNENGSENBRIIE -

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are RZEBZNER-_E_=F=A=+—H"
as follows: FERNBARFBOT :
Place of
incorporation/
Principal place Paid-up share capital/ Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiaries of operation registered capital interest and voting power held by the Company Principal activities
HRALLY/
HEARER TEERNY HERE/ERER ANAFSRERRERRRELA IZEH
2024 2023
—E-ME ZEICE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ER 3 Ef A%
% % % %
China Baoli Technologies British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100 - 100 - Investment holding
Investment Limited ("BVI")BVI USD1 each
TEENHBEREBRAA EERAES 1EERAEEIZTL REBK
([2BRxEE])/ EER
EBRUES
China Baoli Technologies Hong Kong/Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Development Limited HK$1 each
hEENHEERERAA Bik/ER 10000 ERAE1ET REBR
EAR
Shanghai Yunta New Media The PRC/The PRC RMB3,403,700 paid up - 51 - 51 Multi-media technologies business
Technology Limited** registered capital and
RMB596,300 unpaid
registered capital
LEEENEENRERAA hE/ R E AEH3,403,700 7 SEERNER
EAAMEARARS
596,300 TR SEMER
China Baoli Mining Technologies Limited  Hong Kong/Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of - 90 - 100 Dry grinding and dry beneficiation
(formerly know as pi-GEN Technologies HKD1 each business
Limited)
hEENBERIERAR BE/BE 10000RERAE1ET GELRRE
(B178 pi-GEN Technologies Limited) ZEBRK

TEREINRERERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. ARATEMBLAFE(E)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
Principal place Paid-up share capital/ Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiaries of operation registered capital interest and voting power held by the Company Principal activities
HRAIBY/
HELRER ITEENY BRRE/EMER ARAREERERERRRELA IEEH
2024 2023
= St “B-CF
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ER B& g% i
% % % %
Sino Region Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
HKD1 each
IHERAH BB/BE 1RERAEIELL REBR
LRR
Gamma Ray Technologies BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share of - 51 - 51 Dry grinding and dry beneficiation
Services Limited USD1 each business
B SRERBERAR ABRRES/ 1RERAE 1T GERELE
EBRAEE EER
HK Yousibi Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
HKD1 each
BRENMERAR e 10000 ERAE1ET REBR
LERR
Zhong Cheng Electric Holdings Hong Kong/Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited HKD1 each
FRENERARAT B/ER 10,000k EREE T RARRK
LERR
Fullmoon Global International BVIBVI 1 ordinary share of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Limited USD1 each
ABRREE/ 1RERAEIXTL REBK
EERAES EER
Rosy Wisdom Holding Limited BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
USD1 each
KBRREE/ 1RERAEIXTZ RELRK
AERNES EAR
Creative Time International Limited BVI/BVI 1 ordinary share of - 51 - 51 Inactive
("Creative Time") USD1 each
BARRERAR(BE]) ABRRES/ 1RERAE 1T Exxh
ZERAEE LRk
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. ARATEMBLAFE(E)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
Principal place Paid-up share capital/ Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiaries of operation registered capital interest and voting power held by the Company Principal activities
HRAIBY/
HELRER ITEENY BRRE/EMER ARAREERERERRRELA IEEH
2024 2023
—E-mE a3
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ER B& g% i
% % % %
Hong Kong Made (Media) Hong Kong/Hong Kong 200 ordinary shares of - 100 - 100 Multi-media technologies business
Limited HKD1 each
BER(RR)BRAA BB/BE W0RERAEIETZ SRBRINER
LRR
Ample Success Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of - 100 - 100 Multi-media technologies business
HKD1 each
BYERLA BE/BE 10058REEETL SEBRMER
Zilun Media* The PRC/The PRC RMB2,480,500 paid-up - 60 - 60  Multi-media technologies business
registered capital and
RMB7,519,500 unpaid
registered capital
FHER! hE/HE ARH2480500 7 SRBRZH
EAAMERRARE
7,519,500
Yunte (Shanghai) Culture Media The PRC/The PRC RMB50,000,000 unpaid - 51 - 51 Multi-media technologies business
Company Limited** registered capital
ER(LE)ULBRERAT hE/HE AR H50,000,0007 SRBRNEH
China Baoli Media Technology Hong Kong/Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of - 51 - 51 Multi-media technologies business
Limited HKD1 each
hEENRENRERAA B/ER 1RERAEIETL SRBRINER
LRR
YunYao* The PRC/The PRC RMB11,610,678 paid-up - 100 - 100 Multi-media technologies business
registered capital and
RMB389,322 unpaid
registered capital
2w B/ E ABE 116106787 SRERIRH
EAAMEARARS
893N TAGEMES

TEREINRERERAR
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. ARATEMBLAFE(E)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
Principal place Paid-up share capital/ Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiaries of operation registered capital interest and voting power held by the Company Principal activities
HRAIBY/
HELRER IEEENY BRRE/EMER ARAREERERERRRELA IEEH
2024 2023
—E-mE a3
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
E& B& g% i
% % % %
China Baoli Assets Management Limited ~ BVI/The PRC 100 ordinary shares of - 51 - 51 Investment holding
(" Assets Management”) USD1 each
REENEEERARLA(EEER]) ABRRES/® 00REREEIZTL REBR
LRR
Luxury Elite Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of - 51 - 51 Inactive
HKD1 each
HE4RLA &t/5% 0RSREEI AL f84H
LRR
State Expert Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of 51 - 51 - Dry grinding and dry beneficiation
USD1 each business
BEERERAH ABRSEE/ER  OBREREEIZTZ GRYEER
LRR
Shanghai Baoying Mining Limited** The PRC/The PRC RMB5,000,000 unpaid - 51 - 51 Dry grinding and dry beneficiation
registered capital business
LEERBEERAA" hE/HE AR H5,0000007T GELEER
AEEMER
Liaoning Baoying Mining Technology The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 paid-up - 51 - 51 Dry grinding and dry beneficiation
Limited** registered capital and business
RMB11,000,000 unpaid
registered capital
REERREBMERLA hE/HE AR¥1,000,0007 GREYEER
EAAMEARARS
11,000,000
AEEMER
Chongging Mozhi Cultural Technology ~ The PRC/The PRC RMB991,200 paid-up - 51 - 51 Inactive
Limited* registered capital and
RMB8,800 unpaid
registered capital
EFSMXHRERAA hE/ R E AE¥#991,007 EEXH
EAEMEAR
ARH%88007
AEEMER
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39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. ARATEMBLAFE(E)
COMPANY (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
Principal place Paid-up share capital/ Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiaries of operation registered capital interest and voting power held by the Company Principal activities
HRAIBY/
HEAREE ITEENY HREA/EMES ARRFREERRERREELA E2:3 3
2024 2023
= St “B-CF
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ER B % i
% % % %
Kemeng*¢ The PRC/The PRC RMB2,090,000 paid up - 80 - 80 Multi-media technologies business
registered capital and
RMB58,228 unpaid
registered capital
B hE/ 8 AEH2,090,0007 SEBRIER
EAMEARRARE
58 28 L ASE AR
LERZEMEERAA" The PRC/The PRC RMB5,000,000 unpaid - 4 - 41 Multi-media technologies business
registered capital
LERBERKARAA" hE/hE ARE5,000,0007 SRBRNER
REEMER
KB (EN) XL BRERAA The PRC/The PRC RMB220,000 paid up - M - 41 Multi-media technologies business
registered capital and
RMB4, 780,000 unpaid
registered capital
KB (EM XL BEBRAF hE/ 8 AR¥220,0007 SERRIER
EAGMARRARE
4,780,000
AEENEEMEARAT (Notea)  The PRC/The PRC RMB5,270,000 unpaid up 100 - - - Dry grinding and dry beneficiation
registered capital business
THENEERRERRA (M) HE/9E ARE5,270,000 GEYEER
AEEMER
*  For identification purpose only * R
Note a: These subsidiaries were incorporated during the year ended 31 Wika: ZEMBRANREBEE_T-_MF=A
March 2024, =+ —RUEFEFEMKIL -
+ A wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC. * RAPBEK LI B E D -
. Sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC. " RABEK IR IEEDEE - e
# A wholly domestically owned enterprise established in the PRC. # RABEKIORNEBE D - E_Dl‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

mE B RMEE (&

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_NF=ZA=+—HLFE

40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 40. FERER
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's TXEHINAEEBZSFEERFZERER Z M
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out BRABIZHMBERBEZ - UTHBEREE
below. The summarised financial information below represents BETEBRRRBYHE S5 -

amounts before intra-group eliminations.

(a) Assets Management and its subsidiaries (“Assets () BEEEEREWEBEAR(EEEES
Management Group”) )
2024 2023
—E-NE —ZE-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Current assets RBEE 18,620 15,296
Non-current assets FERBEE 906 618
Current liabilities nBaE (37,357) (34,200)
Equity attributable to owners RAFHEA AELER
of the Company (9.094) (9,326)
Non-controlling interests of Assets EEEESEZIFERER
Management Group (8,737) (8,960)
Revenue ' @N 2,292 1,108
Expenses X (2,689) (2,153)
Loss for the year RFEEERE (397) (1,045)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company /& X & # B A FE(h &8 (202) (533)
Loss attributable to non-controlling BEEHEBE ZIFEREREMN
interests of Assets Management Group B8 (195) (512)
Loss for the year RFEEERE (397) (1,045)
Other comprehensive income attributable to " 2 & # B A (5 2 E KA
owners of the Company 435 666
Other comprehensive income attributable to & & & 12 & 6 7 JE 1 I A 25 B 15
non-controlling interests of Assets Efh 2 EUA
Management Group 417 640
Other comprehensive income for the year A € H fb 2 M@ U A 852 1,306
Total comprehensive income attributable to &K R &% AB A EL 2 E KA B 58
owners of the Company 232 133
Total comprehensive income attributable to & = & I £ B 2 £ 45 % 12 25 FE G
non-controlling interests of Assets FHE B AR
Management Group 223 128
Total comprehensive income for the year A% E 2 HE W A 258 455 261
Net cash outflow from operating activities €& & 8) 3 € 7 1 /F 58 (134) (1,839)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & & 8118 & i 1 F 58 (271) =
Net cash inflow from financing activities @& /& 88 & 7 A F 58 399 1,333
Net cash outflow WemHFHE (6) (506)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 40. FERER(E)
(b)  ZiJun Media (b) #FEEE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Current assets B A E 22,103 31,543
Non-current assets FRBEE 15 20
Current liabilities mBAaE (32,803) (39,616)
Equity attributable to owners ARG B ANELER
of the Company (8,725) (7,146)
Non-controlling interests of ZiJun Media ~ §F % & 2 JEITAR % (1,960) (907)
Revenue A 5,994 10,252
Expenses X (8.179) (29,717)
Loss for the year AEFEEIE (2,185) (19,465)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company & X & # & A fE 15 518 (1.311) (15,029)
Loss attributable to non-controlling HHRERZIETEREREEER
interests of ZiJun Media (874) (4,436)
Loss for the year REFEE (2,185) (19,465)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to ~ ARG A A B E b2 HEEE
owners of the Company (268) (407)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to &7 B4 {8 i 2 3 20 j% 1 25 e (5 Eo fth
non-controlling interests of ZiJun Media 2HEEE (179) (271)
Other comprehensive loss for the year AEEHEMEEEE (447) (678)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to ~ AR BB AEEEEE B AL
owners of the Company (1,579) (15,436)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to  $fSEEHE 2 FIEREREE 2 E
non-controlling interests of ZiJun Media B 1B 4258 (1,053) (4,707)
Total comprehensive loss for the year RFEEEHEBEESE (2,632) (20,143)
Net cash outflow from operating activities #% 4 /& 8)15 & i H /F 58 (973) (19,669)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & /& 838 & 7t 1 JF 58 (21) (21)
Net cash inflow from financing activities gt & /& 8IE & % A F 58 - 1,540
Net cash outflow W& m i F (994) (18,150)

Gt
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RE BB RME (E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

41.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES ARARZHBERRRRFEE
OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
=k —EBE-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Non-current assets IEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment WM BEREZE 18 27
Derivative financial instruments PTESHBITA 17 -
Interest in subsidiaries NN I 2 1 1
36 28
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables JE W E th BR TH 462 1,022
Due from subsidiaries FE UL B BB A R FIE 102,727 107,805
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRREES 34 267
103,223 109,094
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables JE - H fh BR 18 93,512 89,814
Due to subsidiaries FE - BT B8 R B 3R IE 63,649 55,867
Financial guarantees B EIR 9,624 15,292
Borrowings ER=t 194,106 194,106
360,891 355,079
Net current liabilities RBAEEHE (257,668) (245,985)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABERE (257,632) (245,957)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Liability component of convertible bonds ARREFNAEE S 32,248 10,427
32,248 10,427
Net liabilities 8EEE (289,880) (256,384)
Capital and reserves B R #EE
Share capital [N 840 7,260
Reserves i (290,720) (263,644)
Total deficit B4 (289,880) (256,384)
The Company's statement of financial position was approved and RARZHMBRARR-_ZT_WNEFE LA

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024 and

are signed on its behalf by:

TN \BEEESRAERKETE AN

TALREZE

Chu Wei Ning
REE
Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e B RMEE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZE_WNF=ZA=+—HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 41. XRRZHBRRERREHEGE)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Movement of the Company’s reserves AAREEERD
Share held
Convertible under share
Capital Share bonds  Contingent award
Share  redemption option equity  consideration scheme  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve surplus losses Total
RERS
&% TRRES 38 RBHE
RBEE  RERE BRERE RERE AERE FERHEE  HABR  ZHER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAL T TEL T TEL T TET TEL
At 1 April 2022 RIZEZZEWMA-8 203505 13,878 5,500 - 25,800 (16) 1,276,194 (3,889,679) (344,818)
Profit and total comprehensive A& EEF|R 2 AN E
income for the year it - - - - - - - 50,105 50,105
Issue of shares in respectof SR FRETRA
share subscription 5,759 - - - - - - - 5,759
Issue of consideration shares %17 B} {3 25,633 - - - 25,800) - - - (167)
Issue of convertible bonds %77 Ak % - - - 25477 - - - - 25477
At 31 March 2023 V22
ZF=1-H 2,254,897 13,878 5,500 25477 - (16) 1,276,194 (3,839,574) (263,644)
Loss and total comprehensive ZFEBER2AEE
loss for the year ok - - - - - - - (33,49) (33,496)
Capital reduction el - - - - - - 6,534 - 6,534
Issue of shares on conversion B TR R EHELT
of convertible bonds Tf3 23,507 - - (23,621) - - - - (114)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-@%
=ZR=t+-H 2,278 404 13,878 5,500 1,856 - (16) 1,282,728  (3873,070) (290,720)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE=E—_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILFE

42.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 11 April 2024, the Group entered into a settlement
agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with a creditor
(the “Creditor”) pursuant to which the Group and the
Creditor agreed to a settled amount in sum of
RMB131,577,000 (equivalent to HK$142,485,000) (the
"Agreed Amount”) which comprises of principal, interests
and legal and other expenses of RMB100,000,000
(equivalent to HK$108,290,000), RMB29,170,000
(equivalent to HK$31,588,000) and RMB2,407,000
(equivalent to HK$2,607,000) respectively. Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, RMB3,207,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,473,000) of the Agreed Amount would be settled by
cash while the remaining of RMB128,370,000 (equivalent to
HK$139,012,000) would be settled by the issuance of
convertible bonds of the Company. The execution of the
Settlement Agreement is subject to the approval from the
relevant regulatory agencies. At the end of the reporting
period, the total amount due to the Creditor amounted to
RMB138,022,000 (equivalent to HK$147,744,000) was
included in unsecured other borrowings from third parties.

On 7 May 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent
(the "Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to offer placing shares up to 16,803,334 at the
placing price of HK$1.03 per placing share to not less than
six placees (the “Placing”). On 28 May 2024, the Company
and the Placing Agent entered into a supplemental
agreement to the Placing Agreement and agreed to extend
the completion date to within four business days after 11
June 2024 and the placing price is adjusted from HK$1.03 to
HK$1.07. On 11 June 2024, the Company and the Placing
Agent entered into a second supplemental agreement to the
Placing Agreement and agreed to extend the completion
date to within four business days after 2 July 2024. For
details of the Placing, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 7 May 2024, 28 May 2024 and 12
June 2024.
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42.

]E

(a)

HKRER

RZZ-_MEMA+—HB KNEHEA
fEHE A (&AL ET A fE R (TR
Bzl Bt AEBREEAR
BEMEEEEET AR 131,577,000
(18 & 7 142,485,000%8 70) ([ 1% & &
B ERRELAS - A BEMURERE
M E A A5 5 A R 100,000,000 7T
(8 % 7108,290,0008 7T) - A R ¥
29,170,000 7T (48 & 74 31,588,000 % 7T.)
K AR #2,407,0007C (B E 2,607,000
B MEMBEHZE HESEFA
R 3,207,000 7T (48 & 743,473,000
TIBUNRESEE HHBHEARE
128,370,000 7T (18 & 7 139,012,000/%
T ERBEITAARAIRRESLEE -
MEBHEONITELSHABEEEREL
HEBEE RBMEEBER BHEREA
5 B AR #138,022,0007T (M E R
147,744,000 L) Bt A B = A M &
BEREMEER-

RZZFE-_WMFARAEH AAFHERE
ERE(RERBDI VR E B
EWmEl) Bt AAAERBIRE
EBETREERGBI1.03BLANDR
NEBARBABERERD RS
16,803,334 (R E FH ) - N =
—HERAZ+NB AQBREE
REFTIEEHHAFE R HHR TRAE
BrEKBHPERE T -_WE A
+—HREEEXR BEBREEHR
1038 T HEBEE107B L R =T
“MFEANAT—B  ARAHEER
Bl VEREMENE _OHHBTHE
TRAEHZKBPERE T _MOF
tAZHEMBEEXR AN - EEEE
FEMNFE B2HEAARRB®MAC
T-NERALH - T -WMEHRA
“H+NBE-ZZE-_NENAT+ B

N

A



Five-Year Financial Summary

TFEPBREE

RESULTS E4
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—ET-FEF T —ZE-— —E-=HFE ZZE-_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAEL FAEL FiHT FAT FTEx
Revenue LON 49,302 54,941 74,552 53,598 55,294
Profit (loss) attributable to RRDREE AEMLEF
owners of the Company (B8 (114,089) (111,404) 96,614 (24,273) (30,775)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-8F T ZZE-Z —E-= —EC-OE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FAEL FAEL FEL FTHER
Total assets BELE 172,758 138,122 142,191 63,619 68,290
Total liabilities BERE (603,249) (678,286) (506,098) (404,720) (443,020)
Net liabilities BEFE (430,491) (540,164) (363,907) (341,101) (374,730)
Non-controlling interests FEPE MR (11,786) (751) (8,446) (11,452) (14,351)
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Glossary
A 5 3R

Audit Committee
BEZEEE

Board
£Fg

Board Diversity Policy
EFEZUIEBR

Bye-laws
#m Al

Capital Reorganisation

AREA

CG Code

i

%l

Companies Ordinance
NCIRES]

Company

B
™
el

connected person(s)

BiEAL

Director(s)
£F
Group
REH

HK$
BT

the audit committee of the Company
KRREREZESR

the board of Directors

BExg

the board diversity policy of the Company, as amended from time to time

ARATEET 2 EF RS TIRE

the bye-laws of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRBAEEET 2 488

the capital reorganisation of the share capital of the Company, involving the share
consolidation, the capital reduction, the share subdivision and the transfer of the
credit arising from the capital reduction to the contributed surplus account of the
Company, which became effective on 20 June 2023; details of which can be referred
to the Company'’s circular dated 23 May 2023 and announcement dated 16 June
2023

RRABREAZRAEHE  BERGE O RAHEE - RGO HF A K& MR HEI R E 4+
ZHEFREBREZARBZHAABKBE RZZE_=F XA+ BEW: FBUT2H
RARARBMA_Z _=FRA-+T=ZHZzRBHRBHR-_T_=F<A+TAH

ZRE

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
FTARAMECOMECEERTREEE ARSE

the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong
HEEGIE 622 F 1 EHEA

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

PREBEHHBEERERAF  —HRERETMRLIZER QA - ERHEHRR
PR EMR BT

as defined under the Listing Rules

EER LETRA

the director(s) of the Company
ZN/NETE =3

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRABREME R A

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BBEEE

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24



Hong Kong
BB

Internal Control Advisor

P AP 12 ) R

Listing Rules
AR A

Mazars

8RR

Model Code

1R %57 A

Nomination Committee

RAZRE

Nomination Policy

RBRER

Old Shares

ERHD

Remuneration Committee
FWEE"

RMB
AR®

Scheme Rules

aHEl R Al

SFO
&7 LB R

Glossary (continued)
AEE(E)

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEFEFNITERR

an independent professional advisor, to carry out the internal audit functions of the
Company

BYEXER  UBITARAZNEEBEL

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 P 2 % T AR Bl

Mazars CPA Limited, the external auditor of the Company
TERR(BE)SAMEBABRAA - AR EZIMNE R BAD

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FTHRBIMECGRELTETAERFETERRZINEETH

the nomination committee of the Company

ARREEEZRE

the nomination policy of the Company, as amended from time to time

RRABTNRER 2B B

ordinary shares with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company before the capital reorganisation becoming effective from 20 June 2023
(for the details of the capital reorganisation, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 23 May 2023)

BT =G RNA-tTHARBRAEAER AR BRAFTTREEOIE T
TEk ARARAEANFTS  F2HARABHAZ_=FAA-_+=RAZ
K

the remuneration committee of the Company
ARARFMEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARM - B EATE

the rules relating to the Share Award Scheme, as amended from time to time

BB LR 82 RE SRR

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
EREPESTEE S AT G

FEEOREERERLE 2023/24 FERE
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Glossary (continued)

ARK (&)

Share(s)

Share Award Scheme
B 1) B2 B &t 81
Share Option Scheme
B R HE AT 3

Shareholder(s)
B& &

Shareholders Communication Policy
P& R E A

Stock Exchange
Bt 52 P

USA or United States
EH

usD
e

**  For identification purpose only

ordinary shares with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company after the Capital Reorganisation becoming effective on 20 June 2023 (or of
such other nominal amount as will result from a sub-division, consolidation,
reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital of the Company from time to
time)

BRAEER T _=FAA-THEREARARARAPFREEO0.01E (A
KRABIRATKAF &0 EFHRXAEHEHELECERAMEBE) 2 ETBR

the share award scheme approved and adopted by the Board in accordance with the
Scheme Rules on 15 January 2018

EEeR T \F-ATHARE SR AERRAZ IO EE S

the share option scheme adopted by the Company at its annual general meeting held
on 30 September 2021
RARBRZZBZ-—FAAZ+HETZRRAFRE FERHBZ B REE

holders of the Shares
SGESE=DN

the shareholders communication policy of the Company, as amended from time to

time

KRB TREET 2 R BB E

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMAERSMAR DA

United States of America
EF G REH

United States dollar, the lawful currency of the USA
EL EBEEER

= {EHER
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